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To Our Stockholders

Throughout 2003 and during the first part of 2004, our business
continued to perform well: we grew revenues, strengthened
our balance sheet and launched 12 new products representing
approximately $138 million in market size. We also made
excellent progress advancing Abraxane, a proprietary oncology
product candidate for which we have manufacturing and
North American marketing rights, and we twok steps
toward expanding our geographic footprint with new
product launches in Canada and an acquisition marking
our initial entry into the European and South American markets.

CoNTINUED STrRoONG FiNnaNnciAL
PERFORMANCE

In fiscal 2003, revenues rose 27% to $351 million compared
with $277 million in 2002. Even after investing $9.3
million, equal to $0.08 per diluted share, in pre-launch
activities related to Abraxane, net income grew 59%
to $71.7 million, or $0.99 per share, from $45.2 million,
or $0.60 per share, in 2002. We generated significant
cash flow in 2003 raising the total to nearly $60 million
in cash and cash equivalents at year-end with no debt.

PropucT ArrrovaLrs SurPoRrT A
GRrROWING Base BUSINESss

Our success reflects the fundamental health of the base
injectable business. For several years we have ranked among the
top in our industry in terms of product approvals. In 2003
we received six product approvals and our track record
continued during the first seven months of 2004 with an
additional ten product approvals, including our first
505(b)(2) NDA approval and two tentative approvals.

Our robust pipeline comprises several products that are
approved but not yet launched, 14 product applications
pending at the FDA and approximately 50 products in various
stages of development. We continue to focus our product
development efforts to address unmet market needs and
enhance the safety of patient and hospital administration staff.
To this end, we brought back to market certain needed
products after the original manufacturer ceased producing
them, were the first to initiate bar coding to help reduce
medication errors and launched Steri-Tamp”, which is
designed to enhance patient safety.

ABRAXANE — A ProrrieETary Druc
OPPORTUNITY

We continued to make strides in our efforts to bring
Abraxane to market. In December 2003, we announced
positive results of a Phase III clinical trial in patients with
metastatic breast cancer comparing Abraxane to Taxol®

The study results showed, among other things, a
significantly higher overall tumor response rate and anti-
tumor activity in patients receiving Abraxane versus Taxol.
The results of this and other studies are the basis of the
Abraxane New Drug Application (NDA) for the treatment
of metastatic breast cancer. The final portion of this NDA
was submitted to the FDA in March 2004.

In anticipation of possible FDA approval of Abraxane, we

formed Abraxis Oncology, our proprietary drug sales and

marketing division in late 2003. We hired seasoned senior

executives to lead our efforts in the taxane marketplace and

established a sales team, now 100 strong, with deep industry
experience.

Abraxane continues to be studied as a treatment for
a range of cancers, such as lung, melanoma and ovarian
cancer, as well as in relation to other taxane
therapies. A recent Phase I study completed in 2004

W demonstrated positive clinical data with weekly
~ administration of Abraxane in breast cancer patients who
had failed other taxane therapies. Further, a pharmacoeconomic
study of Abraxane found it to be both more efficacious and
less expensive, in terms of treatment costs, than Taxol. The
body of data supporting the use of Abraxane is increasing
and thought leaders are beginning to take note.

A FocuseED STRATEGY FOR THE FUTURE

We are certainly pleased with our accomplishments and are
excited for what lies ahead. In the next several years, our
plan is to leverage the Abraxane opportunity as well
as continue the momentum generated in our base
injectable business, including our initatives in low molecular
weight heparin and generic biologics. Our plan also includes
evaluating opportunities that expand our geographic footprint
outside the US. to complement our recent foray into
Europe and South America.

On behalf of the entire management team and board of
directors, T wish to thank our employees for their hard
work and dedication and our shareholders and customers
for their continued loyalty and support.

Sincerely,

Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D., FACS
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
September 15, 2004



Excellence 1n Injectable
Pharmaceuticals

American Pharmaceutical Paytners, Inc. (NASDAQ: APPX) The company has established an industry-leading
supplies hospitals, pharmacists and healthcare providers  track record of new product approvals having
with a broad portfolio of more than 150 oncology, critical  received 27 between 2001 and 2003. In the first seven

care and anti-infective injectable pharmaceutical products — months of 2004 the company continued this momentum
in 316 dosage forms. Our products are needed for critically — with nine new ANDA approvals and its first NDA
1l patients in virtually every area of hospital care. approval from the FDA.

ToucHiING EvErRY ASPECT
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{000’s)
Caleitriol Calcijex® Critical Care 01/01/03 3 9,000
Fluconazole Diflucan® Anti-infective 04/15/03 $ 214,000
Dexamethasone Decadron® Critical Care 05/22/03 % 19,000
Valproate Sodium Depacon® Critical Care 06/26/03 $ 9,000
Vincristine Oncovin® Oncology 10/28/03 $ 3,000
Piperacillin (1g, 4g) Pipracil® Anti-infective 11/14/03 $ 16,000
Cytarabine Cytosar-U® Oncology 01/15/04 $ 1,000
Ciprofloxacin (Tentative Approval) Cipro® Anti-infective 02/19/04 $ 84,000
Cladribine Leustatin® Oncology 04/22/04 ¢ 9,000
Terbutaline sulfate Brethine® Critical Care 05726/04 $ 44,000
Dimenhydrinate Dramamine® Critical Care 06/23/04 $ 1,000
Piperacillin (40g) Pipracil® Anti-infective 07/12/04 $ 7,000
Esmolol (Tentative Approval) Brevibloc® Critical Care 07/20/04 $ 16,000
Methylprednisolone Sodium Succinate Solu-Medrol®, A-Methapred® Critical Care 07/30/04 $ 34,000
Tobramycin Powder * NA Anti-infective 07/14/04 $ 16,000

! Market size based on 2003 IMS data for the innovator product except for Piperacillin, Dimenhydrinate and Tobramycin Powder for which the most recent IMS data available is used
* NDA approval




Moving Beyond

(Generics

American Pharmaceutical Partners has North American In preparation for the potential launch of Abraxane, we
manufacturing and marketing rights to Abraxane™, a proprictary formed Abraxis Oncology, our proprietary drug sales and
pharmaceutical product that utilizes nanoparticle technology marketing division. Abraxis Oncology is led by a team of
and a biologically-interactive mechanism of action to deliver veteran oncology sales and marketing executives that have
more active drug to the tumor site. The science behind Abraxane extensive experience with large pharmaceutical companies.
represents a novel approach to cancer therapy by feeding the tumor

achemotherapeutic nanoparticle posing as a nutrient, rather than In addition to metastatic breast cancer, Abraxane is being
starving the tumor. Phase III human clinical studies were studied and may ultimately prove beneficial in the treatment
completed in late 2003. The New Drug Application (NDA) for of a number of cancers, including head and neck, lung,
Abraxane for the treatment of metastatic breast cancer was prostate, ovarian and melanoma.

filed with the FDA in March 2004 and is undergoing review.
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-PART1

Item 1. Business .
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which are not historical facts, are forward-
looking statements, as the term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-
looking statements, whether expressed or implied, are subject to risks and uncertainties which can cause actual
results to differ materially from those currently anticipated, due to a number of factors, which include, but are not
limited to:

 the timing of and costs associated with the expected launch of ABRAXANE™,

* the timing of any approvals of any ongoing or future NDA applications for ABRAXANE™,;

* the acceptance of and demand for our existing and new pharmaceutical products;

+ the impact of competitive products and pricing; '

¢ the ability to successfully manufacture products in an efficient, time-sensitive and cost effective manner;

» the impact on our products and revenues of patents and other proprietary rights licensed or owned by us,
our competitors and other third parties;

» our ability, and that of our suppliers, to comply with laws, regulations, and standards, and the
application and interpretation of those laws, regulations, and standards, that govern or affect the
pharmaceutical industry, the non-compliance with which may delay or prevent the sale of our products;

+ the difficulty in predicting the timing or outcome of product development efforts and regulatory
approvals; ‘

+ the actual results achieved in, and the timing of completion of, ongoing and future clinical trials for
ABRAXANE™,

Forward-looking statements also include the assumptions 'underlying or relating to any of the foregoing or
other such statements. When used in this report, the words “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “continue,” and similar expressions are generally intended to
identify forward-looking statements. - '

LLIT3 [ LT3

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect
management’s opinions only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the
results of any revision to these forward-looking statements. Readers should carefully review the factors described
in Business: Factors that May Affect Future Results of Operations and other documents we file from time to time
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed by us in
fiscal year 2004.

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company that ' develops, manufactures and markets injectable
pharmaceutical products. We believe that we are the only independent U.S. public company with a primary focus
on the injectable oncology, anti-infective and critical care markets, and we further believe that we offer one of
the most comprehensive injectable product portfolios in the pharmaceutical industry. We manufacture products
in each of the three basic forms in which injectable products are sold: liquid, powder and lyophilized, or freeze-
dried. ' ‘ o

Our products are generally used in hospitals, long-term care facilities, alternate care sites and clinics within
North America. Unlike the retail pharmacy market for oral products, the injectable pharmaceuticals marketplace
is largely made up of end users who have relationships with group purchasing organizations, or GPOs, or

3




specialty distributors who distribute products within a particular end-user market, such as oncology clinics. GPOs
and specialty distributors enter into collective purchasing agreements with pharmaceutical suppliers for products
in an effort to secure favorable drug pricing on behalf of their members.

In November 2001, we obtained the exclusive North American rights to manufacture and sell
ABRAXANE"™, formerly known as ABI-007, a proprietary nanoparticle injectable oncology product that is a
patented formulation of paclitaxel. Paclitaxel is the active ingredient in Taxol®, one of the world’s top selling
cancer drugs. A multi-center Phase IIT clinical trial of ABRAXANE™ in the treatment of metastatic breast
cancer, or breast cancer that has spread to other parts of the body, was completed in 2003 and American
BioScience completed the submission of the New Drug Application (“NDA”) filing, under Fast Track
designation, in March 2004 with a request for priority review.

In June 1998, we acquired Fujisawa USA, Inc.’s generic injectable pharmaceutical business, including
manufacturing facilities in Melrose Park, Illinois and Grand Island, New York and our research and development
facility in Melrose Park, Illinois. We also acquired additional assets in this transaction, including inventories,
plant and equipment and abbreviated new drug applications that were approved or pending with the FDA.

We are a Delaware corporation that was formed in 2001 as successor to a California corporation formed in
1996. We are a majority owned subsidiary of American BioScience, Inc. (“ABI”), a California corporation, At
December 31, 2003, American BioScience, Inc. owned 47,984,160 shares, or 68.7%, of our outstanding common
stock.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to expand upon our position as an industry leader in the development, manufacture, sale and
distribution of injectable pharmaceutical products. The key elements of our strategy include:

»  Continue to focus on product development and higher-margin opportunities. We believe that
significant opportunities for growth will continue to exist due to an increasing number of patent
expirations for proprietary injectable pharmaceutical products. We will continue to target products
where additional generic competition is likely to be limited because of complexities in product
development, the need for specialized manufacturing capabilities and the need for raw materials that are
difficult to obtain. Specific areas of interest include ABRAXANE® and the potential for biologic
generic products and low molecular weight heparin. We will continue to focus on product opportunities
in the oncology, anti-infective and critical care markets, where we can utilize our manufacturing,
development and regulatory skills. ‘

* Continue to focus on customer relationships. We will continue to focus on growing our strong
relationships with the leading GPOs and specialty distributors in the United States. Much of our growth
to date has resulted from increased penetration of our existing products into hospitals that are members
of the largest GPOs and our ability to develop and receive approval of new products in response to
customer needs. Our products touch on virtually every aspect of acute patient care, including:
emergency rooms, intensive care, cardiac care, oncology, pediatric, obstetric/gynecology, psychiatric,
orthopedic and dialysis units and operating rooms. We are also aggressively targeting alternate care sites
and  pharmaceutical wholesale companies specializing in a particular therapeutic category. These
relationships are key to ensuring a market for the products we develop and thus enable us to invest
aggressively in new product development.

*  Pursue proprietary pharmaceutical product opportunities in our focus therapeutic areas. We intend to
acquire or license rights to proprietary injectable pharmaceutical products in our focus therapeutic areas,
allowing us to enhance our market presence and visibility, as well as our revenue growth and
profitability. We intend to take advantage of our manufacturing and marketing resources in oncology,
anti-infectives and critical care by entering into development and marketing collaborations with
companies that are developing proprietary products.

4




o Complement internal growth with strategic acquisitions. We believe opportunities exist for us to
enhance our competitive position by acquiring companies with complementary products and
technologies. We also intend to invest in or acquire additional manufacturing capacity to meet projected
increased demand for our current and future products.

Our Products
Generic Injectable Pharmaceuticals Under Development

Since our acquisition of the Fujisawa generic business in 1998, which included seven abbreviated new drug
applications, or ANDAs, that were pending with the FDA, we have filed a total of 62 ANDAs for injectable
product candidates with the FDA and received a total of 42 new generic product approvals. We received six
ANDA approvals in 2003, 13 ANDA approvals in 2002 and had an additional 21 ANDAs pending with the FDA
on December 31, 2003. We have over 50 product candidates under development across our oncology, anti-
infective and critical care product categories. The following table highlights recent ANDA approvals:

Summary of 2003-04 Approvals and Approved ANDAs

Product Brand Name Indication Approval Date Launch Date

Ciprofloxacin (t) Cipro ® Anti-Infective 2/19/2004 2006 (e)
Cytarabine Cytosar-U® Oncology ‘ 1/15/2004 2004 (e)
Piperacillin Pipracil® Anti-Infective 11/14/2003 Jan-04
Fluconazole (t) Diflucan® Critical Care . 4/15/2003 2004 (e)
Vincristine Oncovin® Oncology 12/20/2002 TBD
Dexamethasone Decadron® Critical Care 5/22/2003 2003
Valproate Sodium Depacon® Critical Care 6/30/2003 2003
Calcitriol Calcijex® Critical Care 5/6/2003 2003
Carboplatin (t) Paraplatin® Oncology 5/22/2002 2004 (e)
Bacitracin . Bacitracin ® Anti-Infective 1/3/2002 2004 (e)

(t) - tentative FDA approval pending only patent expify and any subsequent exclusivity periods.
(e) - expected, actual launch could be delayed or cancelled.

Injectable Onéology Products

We presently manufacture and market 13 injectable oncology products in 30 dosages and formulations.
According to IMS Health, Inc. (“IMS”), a market research firm, during 2003 we were the market leader for six of
these products in terms of units sold in the United States, selling more units than the innovator and all generic
competitors. Our injectable oncology products generated nét sales of $81.0 million in 2003, representing 23% of
total our net sales for that year. '

Our oncology products include:

Pamidronate. Pamidronate disodivm is a bone-resorption inhibitor used to treat hypercalcemia associated
with a malignancy, with or without bone metastates, and Paget’s disease. Pamidronate disodium is the generic
equivalent of Novartis Pharmaceuticals’ Aredia® We launched the liquid formulation of this product in May
2002 and offer the product in a unique plastic vial. IMS data indicates that we were the liquid Pamidronate
market leader in 2003.

Mesna. Mesna is a cytoprotectant used to treat the side effects associated with certain chemotherapy
drugs. Bristol-Myers originally marketed mesna under the brand name Mesnex®. We were the first to market a
generic version of mesna and currently are one of only two generic companies currently marketing Mesna. We
launched this product in May 2001.




Cisplatin. Cisplatin is a chemotherapy agent used alone or in combination with other agents to treat
metastatic testicular or ovarian cancer, Hodgkin’s disease, non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma, brain tumors, cancer of the
nervous system and head, neck, bone, cervical, lung and bladder cancer. Bristol-Myers originally marketed
cisplatin under the brand name Platinol®. Together with several other companies, we prevailed in a lawsuit
invalidating Bristol-Myers Squibb patent covering this product in October 1999 and the FDA granted us 180
days of market exclusivity when we launched cisplatin in November 1999. We are currently one of five
producers of cisplatin competing for market share. According to IMS, we were the market leader for cisplatin in
terms of units sold in 2003.

Ifosfamide. Iosfamide is a chemotherapy drug used to treat germ cell testicular cancer and is often given
in combination with Mesna. Bristol-Myers originally marketed ifosfamide under the brand name Ifex®. In
response to customer requests, we were the first to offer individually packaged generic ifosfamide; others made
the product available only in prepackaged Kits containing mesna and ifosfamide and have only recently begun to
offer the products individually. Additionally, our Iyophilized form eliminates the need for the refrigerated storage
required by the generic ifosfamide/mesna kit packaging. After receiving May 2002 FDA approval and 180-day
exclusivity, we launched ifosfamide in July 2002. IMS data indicates that we attained a 50% share of the
ifosfamide market in 2003.

Injectable Anti-Infective Products

We manufacture and market 15 injectable anti-infective products. According to IMS, we were the United
States market leader for six injectable anti-infective products in terms of units sold during 2003, Our injectable
anti-infective products generated net sales of $95.6 million in 2003, representing 27% of our total net sales for
that year.

We believe we offer one of the most comprehensive portfolios of injectable anti-infective products,
including eight different classes of antimicrobials. We believe we are the only generic pharmaceutical company
that owns and operates a dedicated manufacturing facility in the United States for cephalosporins. We currently
are the only generic competitor offering first-generation, second-generation and third generation generic
cephalosporins. The FDA requires dedicated facilities for the manufacture of cephalosporins. According to IMS,
the markets for second and third generation cephalosporins were approximately $110 million and $920 million,
respectively, in 2003.

Qur anti-infective products include:

Cefoxitin.  Cefoxitin is a second-generation cephalosporin with a broad range of anti-microbial activity:
Cefoxitin is often used for gynecological infections, especially in peri-operative prophylaxis. Many infections
caused by gram-negative bacteria resistant to some cephalosporins and penicillins respond to cefoxitin. Merck
marketed the innovator product under the brand name Mefoxin®. According to IMS data, we captured a majority
of the unit and dollar share of this market in North America in 2003.

Vancomycin. Vancomycin is an antibiotic used to treat some types of Staph, Strep or other infections,
particularly in patients who are allergic to penicillins or cephalosporins. Eli Lilly originally marketed
vancomycin under the brand name Vancocin®. IMS data indicates that we currently are one of two competitors
for injectable vancomycin. We are the only generic competitor to offer a 10-gram formulation of this antibiotic.

Doxycycline. Doxycycline is an antibiotic used to treat anthrax, Rocky Mountain Spotted Fever, typhus
and mycoplasma pneumonia. Pfizer, Inc. originally marketed doxycycline under the brand name Vibramycin®.

IMS indicates that we were the 2003 North American market leader in both units and dollars value sold.

Cefotaxime. Cefotaxime is a broad spectrum antibiotic in the third-generation cephalosporin class of
antibiotics. It is used to treat intra-abdominal infections such as peritonitis, central nervous system infections
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including meningitis, lower respiratory tract, genitourinary, and gynecological infections, bacteremia and
septicemia, and infections of the skin, bone and joints. Abbott Laboratories licensed the marketing rights from
the innovator under the brand name Claforan®. We initially introduced cefotaxime on a limited basis in
September 2001, and conducted a full-scale launch of the product in February 2002. We are the only
manufacturer and marketer of generic cefotaxime in the United States.

Gentamicin. Gentamicin is an antibiotic used to treat endocarditis, septicemia and bacterial, bone,
respiratory tract, soft tissue, urinary tract and other infections. Schering-Plough originally marketed this product
under the brand name Garamycin®. We currently are one of three competitors for gentamicin. According to IMS,
we sold the second largest number of units of injectable gentamicin during 2003.

Injectable Critical Care Products

We manufacture and market more than 50 injectable critical care products. According to IMS, we were the
United States market leader for nine injectable critical care products in terms of units sold in 2003. Our injectable
critical care products generated net sales of $169.8 million in 2003, representing 48% of our total net sales for
that year.

Our critical care products include:

Heparin. Injectable heparin is a blood thinner used to prevent and treat blood clotting, especiaily in
patients during and after surgery. We manufacture one of the most comprehensive lines of injectable therapeutic
heparin. We currently are one of four competitors for injecfable heparin. According to IMS, we were the North
American market leader, in both number of units and dollar value, of therapeutic injectable heparin in 2003.

Oxytocin. Oxytocin 1s used to induce labor at term and control postpartum bleeding. Wyeth-Ayerst
originally marketed oxytocin under the brand name Pitocin®. We are currently the only manufacturer of generic
oxytocin, and according to IMS we were the market leader for oxytocin in terms of units sold in 2003, with over
93% share of the combined branded and generic markets.

Haloperidol Lactate. Haloperidol is an antipsychotic agent used to treat psychoses, Tourette’s Syndrome
and severe behavioral problems in children. Ortho-McNeil Pharmaceuticals originally marketed haloperidol
lactate under the brand name Haldol®. We were the first to market a generic haloperidol lactate product.

Proprietary Injectable Product
ABRAXANE™, a proprietary injectable oncology product candidate

We have licensed ABRAXANE™, formerly ABI-007, a patented formulation of paclitaxel, from American
BioScience, Inc. Paclitaxel is the active ingredient in Taxol®, one of the world’s largest selling cancer drugs
marketed by Bristol-Myers. American BioScience completed a multi-center Phase III clinical trial for
ABRAXANE™ in the treatment of metastatic breast cancer in 2003. American BioScience filed the NDA for
ABRAXANE™ with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in March 2004 under the Fast-Track
designation with a request for priority review.

Many oncology drugs, including paclitaxel, are water insoluble and thus have historically required toxic
solvents to formulate the drugs for injection. Taxol® and its generic equivalents contain the toxic solvent
Cremophor. The toxicity of Cremophor limits the dose of Taxol® that can be administered, potentially limiting
the efficacy of the drug. Furthermore, patients receiving Taxol® require pre-medication with steroids to prevent
the toxic side effects associated with Cremophor and, in some cases, require a growth factor such as G-CSF to
overcome low white blood cell levels resulting from chemotherapy. The FDA-approved dose of Taxol® is
135-175 mg/m?, administered over three to 24 hours using specialized intravenous tubing. Despite the difficulties
associated with administration and serious dose-limiting toxicities, IMS data indicates that the U.S. market for
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paclitaxel based drugs exceeded $1.0 billion in size in 2003. ABRAXANE™ utilizes a proprietary, patented
nanoparticle drug delivery technology to encapsulate paclitaxel in albumin, a human protein found in blood and
is not formulated with Cremophor. We believe the nanoparticle more easily permeates the tumor, rapidly
carrying more paclitaxel to the cancer cells and at the same time allowing less drug indiscriminately into normal,
healthy cells. Additionally, ABRAXANE™ provides several advantages over Taxol® and its generic equivalents,
including: avoiding the need for steroid premedication, reducing or eliminating the need for G-CSF support, and
allowing for more rapid infusion without the need for specialized intravenous tubing.

Phase III Clinical Trial Results

In December 2003, ABRAXIS Oncology, our newly formed proprietary drug division, released the results
of the randomized, controlled Phase III clinical trial in patients with metastatic breast cancer comparing the
investigational product ABRAXANE™ to the Cremophor® solvent-based TAXOL®. A detailed analysis of the
study was presented at the San Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium held in San Antonio, Texas on Friday,
December 5, 2003. This randomized controlled Phase III clinical trial was designed to compare the safety and
efficacy of 260 mg/m? of ABRAXANE™ to 175 mg/m? of Taxol® administered every three weeks in patients
with metastatic breast cancer. In this trial, ABRAXANE™ was infused over 30 minutes without steroid
pretreatment at a higher dose than Taxol®, which requires steroid therapy and infusion over three’hours.

In this Phase IIl trial, patients with metastatic breast cancer receiving the solvent-free nanoparticle
paclitaxel, ABRAXANE™ (n=229 patients) achieved almost a doubling of the tumor response rate when
compared to those patients receiving Bristol-Myers Squibb’s Taxol® (n=225). The significance of the data was
underscored by the fact that statistically superior response rates with ABRAXANE™ compared to Taxol® were
noted regardless of whether the data was assessed by the blinded, independent radiology review or- the
investigator assessment.

Although the ABRAXANE™ data and labeling remain subject to FDA review, the Phase III study
demonstrated potentially important advantages of ABRAXANETM over Taxol® as a treatment for metastatic
breast cancer patients, based on:

* higher response rates;

¢ longer time to tumor progression;

« absence of severe hypersensitivity reactions without the need for premedication;

» less neutropenia despite a higher dose infused over a shorter period of 30 minutes; and,

e a rapid recovery from sensory neuropathy compared with Taxol®, albeit with a somewhat higher
incidence consistent with the higher dosage of paclitaxel administered.

Specifically, the results reported were as follows:

* A significantly higher Overall Tumor Response Rate was noted in patients receiving ABRAXANE™
(33%) versus Taxol® (19%), (p=0.001). Similarly, analysis of the Target Lesion Response Rate showed
significantly higher anti-tumor activity (p<0.001) with ABRAXANE™;

* In patients receiving chemotherapy for metastatic breast cancer for the first time (first-line patients), a
significantly higher tumor response was also noted, with 42% of ABRAXANE™ patients (n=97)
responding to the therapy compared with a 27% response rate in patients (n=89) receiving Taxol®
(p=0.029);

» Similarly, the response rates with ABRAXANE™ were higher, and statistically significant, when
analyzed in those patients who had failed prior chemotherapy, and in patients with poor prognostic
indicators such as in those with liver metastases (26%, n=92 vs. 13%, n=97) and lung metastases (43%,
n=74 vs. 25%, n=79);




‘A longer time to tumor progression was noted in patients receiving ABRAXANE™, with a median of

21.9 weeks versus a median progression time of 16.1 weeks after Taxol®, (p=0.030);

98% of cycles of ABRAXANE™ were administered without steroid premedication and no evidence of
severe hypersensitivity reactions were noted in any of these patients thus confirming the ability to safely
administer this solvent-free paclitaxel without the need for premedication. In contrast, 95% of the doses
of Taxol® were administered with steroids and antihistamines, and still these patients showed a
significantly higher incidence of flushing than those patients receiving ABRAXANE™ without
pre-medication;

Both treatments were well tolerated with 98% of patients receiving the planned dose on both arms; the
mean total paclitaxel dose delivered with ABRAXANE™ was 14359mg per patient per m2 and 909mg
per patient per m2 with Taxol®;

Consistent with this higher dose of paclitaxel delivered with ABRAXANE™, the incidence of Grade 3
sensory neuropathy was 10% versus 2% in the patients receiving Taxol® (p<0.001). The Grade 3
sensory neuropathy resolved rapidly in the ABRAXANE™ patients within a median of 22 days and was
thus easily managed. In contrast, and consistent with current clinical experience, recovery of the
neuropathy after Taxol® administration was significantly prolonged with a median of 79 days (p=0.028).
This finding suggests that it is possible, consistent with preclinical studies in the literature, that the
Cremophor component of Taxol® may be responsible for structural damage (demyelination) to the nerve
fibers resulting in prolonged neuropathy, while neuropathy due to paclitaxel alone is transient with rapid
resolution. There were no reports of Grade 4 sensory neuropathy or severe motor neuropathy in either
arm;

Despite the higher dose of paclitaxel delivered, there was significantly less Grade 4 neutropenia with
ABRAXANE™ (9%) compared to Taxol®(22%), providing the first clinical ev1dence that Cremophor
may contribute to bone marrow damage and loss of white blood cells;

Fluid retention was infrequent in both arms and there were no septic deaths in the study.

Ongoing Clinical Studies

In addition to the aforementioned Phase III clinical trial, the following clinical studies of ABRAXANE™ by
American BioScience are underway:

A Phase II trial to explore a weekly dosing regimen of ABRAXANETM in patients with metastatic breast
cancer in which taxane therapy has failed,

a U.S. single-center, dose escalation Phase I/II clinical trial to evaluate the safety and anti-tumor activity
of ABRAXANE™ in advanced, non-small cell lung cancer, and

a multi-center Phase 1I trial to evaluate the safety, tolerability and anti-tumor effect of ABRAXANE™ in
first and second-line patients with metastatic melanoma

License Agreement

We have secured the North American marketing and manufacturing rights. for ABRAXANE™ from
American BioScience, Inc., which is responsible for conducting the clinical studies of ABRAXANE™.

In November 2001, we signed a perpetual license agreement with American BioScience, Inc. under which
we acquired the exclusive rights to market and sell ABRAXANE™ in North America for indications relating to
breast, lung, ovarian, prostate and other cancers. Under the agreement, we made an initial payment to American
BioScience of $60.0 million and committed to future milestone payments contingent upon achievement of
specified regulatory and sales objectives for licensed indications. American BioScience is responsible for
conducting clinical studies in support of ABRAXANE™ and for substantially all costs associated with the
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development and obtaining regulatory approval for ABRAXANE"™, except that we provided $2.0 million of
ABRAXANE™ for use in clinical trials, the cost of which we charged to research and development expense in
2001. We may receive revenue resulting from this agreement only after our launch of ABRAXANE™ in North
America, which will not occur until after FDA approval is obtained. Even though American BioScience
completed its filing of the NDA for ABRAXANE™ for metastatic breast cancer in March 2004 with a request for
priority review, we cannot predict when the FDA will complete its review of the filing, or when or if the NDA
may be approved. Any resulting profit would be shared equally between American BioScience and us.

The terms of the license agreement were negotiated to reflect the value of the licensed product rights
acquired, then in late-stage development, American BioScience’s remaining obligation to complete the NDA
filing and the potential sales of the product under other licensed clinical indications. The license agreement was a
product of several months of extensive negotiation with American BioScience involving outside counsel,
investment banks and a nationally recognized valuation firm. Based upon the analysis and recommendations of
our advisors, we believe that the overall terms of the agreement were fair to us, including in comparison to
similar licenses between unrélated parties. The agreement was unanimously approved by the disinterested
members of our Board of Directors with those directors who also have an affiliation with American BioScience
recusing themselves from the vote. There are no restrictions on how American BioScience would use payments
made under the license agreement and we understand such payments have been and will be used both to fund the
development of ABRAXANE™ in relation to our licensed product rights and for other purposes.

~ In December 2001, upon completion of our initial public offering, we recorded an initial payment to
American BioScience of $60.0 million. In our financial statements, the license agreement was accounted for as
an asset contributed by a principal shareholder using the shareholder’s historical cost basis which was zero, and
the $60.0 million payment was accounted for as a distribution of stockholders’ equity. For income tax purposes,
the payment was recorded as an asset and is being amortized over a 15-year period. Because there was no
corresponding charge to income, the income tax benefit of this payment is being credited to stockholders’ equity
as realized. ’ ' ’

Future milestone payments which will be earned upon achievement of regulatory events prior to FDA approval
for each licensed indication will be expensed as achieved, while regulatory milestone payments earned upon FDA
approval of those indications will be capitalized and amortized over the expected life of the product. Any future
sales-based milestone payments will be expensed in the period in which the sales milestone is achieved.

With respect to the first potentiall ABRAXANE™ indication being studied, metastatic breast cancer, we will
be required to pay American BioScience $10.0 million within 30 days of FDA acceptance for filing of an NDA
for this indication, meaning that the FDA has found the NDA complete on'its face in all respects. Upon FDA
approval of the NDA for metastatic breast cancer, we will be required to pay American BioScience an additional
$15.0 million. The $10.0 million payment upon FDA acceptance of filing will be expensed in the period of FDA
acceptance while the $15.0 million payment related to FDA approval will be capitalized and amortized over the
expected life of the product, subject to periodic review for impairment. Regulatory achievements related to other
licensed indications under study, including lung, ovarian and prostate cancers, will trigger further milestone
payments to American BioScience, but only after ABRAXANE™ has received NDA approval related to the
breast cancer indication. Such payments generally total $17.5 million per agreed indication. As with the
indication of breast cancer, those payments earned prior to FDA approval for each indication will be expensed,
while amounts earned upon FDA approval of those indications will be capitalized and amortized over the
expected life of the product. We have the option not to make one or more of the milestone payments tied to
indications under study if, following breast cancer approval, sales of the product do not meet specified levels.

. Subsequent to FDA approval of ABRAXANE™ and upon achievement of major annual ABRAXANE™
sales milestones, we would be required to make additional payments which, in the aggregate, could total $110.0
million should annual ABRAXANE™ sales exceed $1.0 billion. The first sales milestone payment of $10.0
million would be triggered upon achievement of annual calendar year ABRAXANE sales in excess of $200.0
million. Sales milestone payments will be expensed in the period in which the sales milestone is achieved.
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Under the license agreement, any profit on ABRAXANE™ sales in North America would be shared equally
between American BioScience and us. The license agreement defines profit as ABRAXANE™ net sales less cost
of goods sold, selling expenses (including pre-launch production and other expenses which we will continue to
expense as incurred, but which will be accumulated and charged against first profit under the agreement) and an
allocation of related general and administrative expenses. We will expense American BioScience’s share of any
profit earned in our statements of income. Any costs and expenses related to product recalls and product liability
claims generally will be split equally between American BioScience and us and expensed as incurred.

Manufacturing Agreement

In November 2001, along™ with the license agreement for ABRAXANE™, we also -entered into a
manufacturing agreement with American BioScience under which we agreed-to manufacture ABRAXANE™ for
American BioScience and its licensees for sales outside North America. Under this agreement, we have the
exclusive right to manufacture ABRAXANE™ for sales in North America for a period of three years and the non-
exclusive right to manufacture ABRAXANE™ for sales (a) outside North America and (b) in North America
after expiration of the three year exclusivity period. We will charge American BioScience and its licensees a
customary margin on our manufacturing costs based on whether the product will be used for clinical trials or
commercial sale.”The initial term of this agreement is ten years and may be extended for successive two-year
terms by American BioScience.

v

Research and Development

We have approximately 70 employees dedicated to product development, including more than 30 employees
with Ph.D.s, who have expertise in areas such as pharmaceutical formulation, analytical chemistry and drug
delivery. We own and operate a 140,000 square foot research and development facility in Melrose Park, Illinois.
The Melrose Park facility is currently undergoing a major renovation, reconfiguration and expansion to enhance
our development capabilities. We have made, and will continue to make, substantial investment in research and
development. Research and development costs for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 totaled $22.5
million, including $4.9 million related to the development of ABRAXANE™ manufacturing capabilities.

When developing new products, we consider a variety of factors, including:
* high barriers to entry

» potential pricing and gross margins

* existing and potential market size.

» * patent expiration date

« our manufacturing capabilities and access to raw materials

+ potential development and competitive challenges |

*  whether these products complement our existing pfoducts and the opportunity to leverage these products
with the development of additional products ‘ '

Sales and Marketing

Our core generic products are primarily marketed by a dedicated sales force to hospitals, long-term care
facilities, alternate care sites, clinics and doctors who administer injectable products in their offices. Many
purchases by these buyers are made through arrangements with GPOs, which negotiate collective purchasing
agreements on behalf of their members, or through specialty distributors, which specialize in particular
therapeutic categories such as oncology. We have long-term relationships with all of the major GPOs in the
United States, which we believe collectively account for over 95% .of all hospital-based pharmaceutical
purchases in the United States. We also have relationships- with the leading specialty distributors and are
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pursuing relationships with other specialty distributors and GPOs to facilitate product distribution to target
markets, To this end, we entered into a primary vendor contract with a major oncology GPO in the first quarter of
2004. Through these relationships we believe we have access to nearly 100% of the buyers of injectable products
in the United States. Our core generic sales force is comprised of approximately 45 field sales and national
accounts professionals, supported by our customer service and sales support groups. Our representatives typically
have substantial injectable pharmaceutical sales experience in the geographic region in which they operate.

During 2003, we formed the Abraxis Oncology division to market and sell our proprietary oncology product
candidate ABRAXANE™ upon its projected 2004 launch. The dedicated Abraxis sales and marking group will
target the oncology market: specifically, oncologists and the oncology distribution channel. Presently, the
Abraxis division is comprised of approximately 60 sales, marketing and medical sales and support staff members
and we anticipate the division will eventually include approximately 100 individuals.. \

We currently derive, and expect to continue to derive, a large percentage of our revenue from customers that
have relationships with a small number of GPOs. Currently, less than ten GPOs control a large majority of sales
to hospital customers. We have purchasing arrangements with the major GPOs in the United States, including
AmeriNet, Inc., Broadlane Healthcare Corporation, Consorta, Inc., MedAssets Inc., Novat1on LLC, Owen
Healthcare, Inc., PACT, LLC and Premier Purchasing Partners, LP. In order to maintain these relat10nsh1ps we
believe we need to be a reliable supplier, offer a broad product line, remain price competitive, comply with FDA
regulations and prov1de high- quahty products. Our GPO agreements are typically multi-year in duration and may
be terminated on 60 to 90 days’ notice.

Our international sales, outside the U.S. and Canada, are approximately 1% of our total net sales.

Competition

We face competition in our core generic business from major, brand name pharmaceutical companies as
well as generic manufacturers such as Abbott Laboratories, Bedford Laboratories, Baxter Laboratories (including
Elkin-Sinn), Sicor Inc. (recently acquired by Teva), and Mayne Pharma (Faulding Pharmaceuticals). We have
experienced additional competition from brand name competitors that have entered the generic pharmaceutical
industry by creating generic subsidiaries, purchasing generic companies or licensing their products prior to or as
their patents expire.

Revenue and gross profit derived from sales of generic pharmaceutical products tend to follow a pattern
based on regulatory and competitive factors. As patents for brand name products and related exclusivity periods
expire, the first generic pharmaceuticals manufacturer to receive regulatory approval for generic versions of these
products is generally able to achieve significant market penetration and higher margins. As competing generic
manufacturers receive regulatory approvals on similar products, market share, revenue and gross profit typically
decline. The level of market share, revenue and gross profit attributable to a parsticular generic pharmaceutical
product is pormally related to the number of competitors in that product’s market and the timing of that product’s
regulatory approval and launch in relation to competing approvals and launches. We continue to develop and
introduce new products in a timely and cost-effective manner and identify niche products with significant
barriers to entry in order to maintain our revenue and gross margins.

We anticipate that ABRAXANE™ will compete, directly or indirectly, with the primary taxanes in the
market place, including Bristol Myers” Taxol® and its generic equivalents, and Aventis’ Taxotere® as well as
other cancer therapies. Many pharmaceutical companies have developed and are marketing, or are developing,
alternative formulations of paclitaxel and other cancer therapies that may compete directly or indirectly with
ABRAXANE™.

Regulatory Considerations

Proprietary and generic prescription pharmaceutical products are subject to extensive pre- and post-market
regulation by the FDA, including regulations that govern the testing, manufacturing, safety, efficacy, labeling,
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storage, record keeping, advertising, and promotion of the products under the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic
Act and the Public Health Services Act, and by comparable agencies in foreign. countries. FDA approval is
required before any dosage form of any drug, including a generic equivalent of a previously approved drug, can
be marketed in the United States. All applications for FDA approval must contain information relating to
pharmaceutical formulation, stability, manufacturing, processing, packaging, labeling and quality control.

Generic Drug Approval

The Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Act,
established abbreviated FDA approval procedures for those proprietary drugs that are no longer protected by
patents and which are shown to be equivalent to previously. approved proprietary drugs. Approval to manufacture
these drugs is obtained by filing an abbreviated new drug application, or an ANDA. An ANDA is a
comprehensive submission that must contain data and information pertaining to the active pharmaceutical
ingredient, drug product formulation, specifications and stability of the generic drug, as well as analytical
methods, manufacturing process validation data and quality control procedures. As a substitute for clinical
studies, the FDA may require data indicating that the ANDA drug formulation is equivalent to a previously
approved proprietary drug. In order to obtain an ANDA approval of strength or dosage form that differs from the
referenced brand name drug, .an applicant must file and have granted an ANDA Suitability Petition. A product is
not eligible for ANDA: approval if it is not determined by the FDA to be equivalent to the referenced brand name
drug or if it is intended for a different use. However, such a product might be approved under a New Drug
Application, or an NDA, with supportive data from clinical trials.

One advantage of the ANDA approval process is that an ANDA applicant generally can rely upon
equivalence data in lieu of: conducting pre-clinical testing and clinical trials to demonstrate that a product is safe
and effective for its intended use. We generally file ANDAs to obtain approval to manufacture and market our
generic products. No assurance can be given that ANDAs submitted for our products will receive FDA approval
on a timely basis, if at all.

New Drug Approval

The process requxred by the FDA before a new drug may be marketed in the United States generally
involves: '

» completion of pre-clinical laboratory and animal testing

e submission of an investigational new drug application, or IND, which must become effective before
trials may begm

« performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of
the proposed drug product’s intended use

+  submission to and approval by the FDA of an NDA
Clinical trials are typically conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap. These phases generally
include:

* »  Phase I during which the drug is introduced into healthy human subjects or, on occasion, patients, and
generally is tested for safety, stability, dose tolerance and metabolism

* Phase II during which the drug is introduced into a limited patient population to determine the efficacy
of the product in specific targeted diseases, to determine dosage tolerance and optimal dosage and to
identify possible adverse effects and safety risks

« Phase III during which the clinical trial is expanded to a more diverse patient group in geographically
dispersed trial sites to further evaluate clinical efficacy, optimal dosage and safety
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The drug sponsor, the FDA or the Institutional Review Board at each institution at which a clinical trial is
being performed may suspend a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a behef that the subjects
are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk.

The results of product development, preclinical animal studies and human. studies are submitted to the FDA
as part of the NDA. The NDA also must contain extensive manufacturing information. The FDA may approve or
disapprove the NDA if applicable FDA regulatory criteria are not satisfied or it may require additional clinical
data. Under certain circumstances, drug sponsors may obtain approval pursuant to Section 505(b)(2) of the
Federal Food, Drug & Cosmetic Act based in part upon literature or an-FDA finding and/or effectiveness for
another approved product, even where the products are not duplicates in terms of chemistry and bioequivalance.
Once approved, the FDA may withdraw the product approval if-compliance with pre- and post-market regulatory
standards are not maintained or if problems. occur after the product reaches the marketplace. In addition, the FDA
may require post-marketing studies to monitor the effect of approved products and may limit further marketing of
the product based on the results of these post-marketing studies. The FDA has broad post-market regulatory and
enforcement powers, including the ability to levy fines and civil penalties, suspend or, delay issuance, of
approvals, seize or recall products, and withdraw approvals. .

In instances where a product or claim address an unmet medical need, the FDA can grariif the product Fast
Track status. Fast Track designation is intended to expedite product development by providing for scheduled
meetings to seek FDA input into the development plans, the option of submitting a New Drug Application in.
sections rather than all components simultaneously, and the option of requesting evaluation. of studies using
surrogate endpoints.

Satisfaction of FDA pre-market approval requirements typically takes several years and the actual time
required may vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty -of the product. or disease.
Government regulation may delay or prevent marketing of potential products for a considerable period of time
and impose costly procedures upon a manufacturer’s activities. Success in early stage. clinical trials does not
assure success in later stage clinical trials. Data obtained from clinical activities is not always conclusive and
may be susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Even if a
product receives regulatory approval, later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may Tesult
in restrictions on the product or even complete withdrawal of the product from the market.

Manufacturing .

Our manufacturing facilities are located in Melrose Park, Illinois and Grand Island, New. York. These
facilities, which include dedicated cephalosporin powder filling, liquid filling line and oncolytic manufacturing
suites, have in the aggregate approx1mately 402 OOO square feet of manufacturmg, packagmg, laboratory, office
and warehouse space. : ‘

We can produce a broad range of dosage formulations, including lyophilized products, liquids, both
aseptically filled and terminally sterilized, and powders. Additionally, we believe that we have established the
only commercial scale protein-engineered nanoparticle manufacturing capacity in the United States We
currently produce approximately 200 million vials of product per year.

In addition to manufacturing, we have fully integrated manufacturing support systems, including quality
assurance, quality control, regulatory affairs and inventory control. These-support systems enable us to maintain
high standards of quality for our products and 51multaneously deliver rehable services and goods to our
customers ona timely basis. ‘

We are required to comply with the applicable FDA manufacturing requirements contained in the FDA’s
current Good Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, regulations. cGMP regulations require quality control and
quality assurance as well as the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation. Qur manufacturing
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facilities must meet cGMP requirements to permit us to manufacture our products. We are subject to the periodic
inspection of our facilities, procedures and operations and/or the testing of our products by the FDA, the Drug
Enforcement Administration and other authorities to assess our compliance with applicable regulations.

Failure to comply with the statutory and regulatory requirements subjects the manufacturer to possible legal
or regulatory action, inctuding the seizure or recall of products, injunctions, consent decrees placing significant
restrictions on or suspending manufacturing operations, and civil and criminal penalties. Adverse experiences
with the product must be reported to the FDA and could result.in the imposition of market restriction through
labeling changes or in product removal. Product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory
requirements is not maintained or if problems concerning safety or efficacy of the product occur following
approval.

Raw Materials

The manufacture of our products requires raw materials and other components that must meet stringent FDA
requirements. -Some of these raw materials and other components are currently available only from a limited
number of sources. Additionally, our regulatory approvals for each particular product denote the raw materials
and components, and the suppliers for such materials, we may use. for that product. Even when more than one
supplier exists, we may elect to list, and in some cases have only listed, one supplier in our applications with the
FDA. Any change in or addition of a supplier not previously approved must then be submitted through a formal
approval process with the FDA. From time to time, it is necessary (o maintain increased levels of certain raw
materials due to the anticipation of raw material shortages or in response to market opportunities.

Intellectual Property

t

Our success depends on our ability to operate without infringing the patents and proprietary rights of third
parties. We cannot determine with certainty whether patents or patent applications of other parties will materially
affect our ability to make, use or sell any products. A number of pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology
companies, universities and research institutions may have filed patent applications or may have been granted
patents that cover aspects of our or our licensors’ products, product candidates or other technologies.

We rely on trade secrets, unpatented proprietary know-how, continuing technological innovation and, in
some cases, patent protection to preserve our competitive position. As of December 31, 2003, we owned several
patents issued by the U.S. Patent and. Trademark Office, and have additional patent applications pending, relating
to our products including certain manufacturing methods. In addition, ABRAXANE™, and the technology
surrounding ABRAXANE™, is covered by a number of issued patents owned by American BioScience relating
to composition of matter, method of use and method of preparation.

Intellectual property protection is highly uncertain and involves complex Jegal and factual questions. Our
patents and those for which we have or will license rights may be challenged, invalidated, infringed or
circumvented, and the rights granted in those patents may not provide proprietary protection or competitive
advantages to us. We and our licensors may not be able to develop patentable products. Even if patent claims are
allowed, the claims may not issue, or in the event of-issuance, may not be sufficient to protect the technology
owned by or licensed to us. : :

Third-party patent applications and patents could reduce the coverage of the patents licensed, or that may be
licensed to or owned by us. If patents containing competitive or conflicting claims are issued to third parties, we
may be enjoined from commercialization of products or be required to obtain licenses to these patents or to
develop or obtain alternative technology. In addition, other parties may duplicate, design around or
independently develop similar or alternative technologies to ours or our licensors.

Litigation may be necessary to enforce patents issued or licensed to us or to determine the scope. or validity
of another party’s proprietary rights. U.S. Patent Office interference proceedings may be necessary if we and
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another party both claim to have invented the same subject matter. We could incur substantial costs and our
management’s attention would be diverted if:

+  patent litigation is brought by third parties
* we participate in patent suits brought against or initiated by our licensors
*  we initiate similar suits

* we participate in an interference proceeding

In addition, we may not prevail in any of these actions or proceedings.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we had a total of 1,212 full-time employees, of which 70 were engaged in
research and development, 268 were in quality assurance and quality control, 603 were in manufacturing, 83
were in sales and marketing and 188 were in administration and finance. None of our employees are represented
by a labor union or subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We have not experienced any work stoppage
and consider our relations with our employees to be good.

Environment

We believe that our operations comply in all material respects with applicable laws and regulations
concerning the environment. While it is impossible to predict accurately the- future costs associated with
environmental compliance and potential remediation activities, compliance with environmental laws is not
expected to require significant capital expenditures and has not had, and is not expected to have, a material
adverse effect on our earnings or competitive position.

Available Information

" Our internet address is www.appdrugs.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K; quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports, are available free of charge on our website
as soon as reasonably practical after they are electronically filed or furnished to the SEC. The information found
on our website shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement into any filing under the
Securities Act of 1933 or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the extent we specifically
incorporate the information found on our website by reference, and shall not be deemed filed under such Acts.

Factors That May Affect Future Results of Operations

If ABRAXANE™ is not developed into a successful commercial product, our future profitability could be
adversely affected and we would be unable to recoup the investments made to license and commercialize
this product candidate. '

In connection with our agreement to' license ABRAXANE™ from ‘American BioScience, we paid a
substantial upfront licensing fee and have committed to make milestone payments and to split any profit on
ABRAXANE™. Also, in anticipation of the potential launch of ABRAXANE™ we have begun to significantly
invest in and expand our marketing, sales and manufacturing staff and to invest in paclitaxel raw material. The
inability to successfully-develop and commercialize ABRAXANE™ could cause us to lose some or all of the
investment we have made to license and commercialize this product candidate.

American BioScience is responsible for conducting clinical trials and obtaining necessary regulatory
approvals prior to commercialization of ABRAXANE™. The amount and timing of resources American
BioScience devotes to develop ABRAXANE™ is not within our control. Additionally, any breach or termination
of the ABRAXANE™ license agreement could delay or stop the commercialization of ABRAXANE™,
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The results from clinical, pre-clinical studies -and early clinical trials conducted to date may not be
predictive of results to be obtained in later clinical trials. Further, the commencement and completion of clinical
trials may be delayed by many factors that are beyond our control, including:

» scheduling or other conflicts with participating clinicians and clinical institutions
* slower than anticipated patient enrollment
+ difficulty in finding and retaining patients fitting the trial profile

« adverse events occurring during the clinical trials

Although we believe that the recently completed Phase III clinical trial conducted for ABRAXANE™ in
indications of metastatic breast cancer demonstrated sufficient safety and efficacy to obtain the necessary
regulatory approvals, we cannot predict whether or not the FDA will approve the New Drug Application for
ABRAXANE™ recently filed for such indication by American BioScience. Additionally, the potential success, or
failure, of ABRAXANE™ in trials for metastatic breast cancer may not be representative of the future viability of
ABRAXANE™ with respect to other clinical indications. If the FDA believes that the results of Phase III clinical
trials do not provide a satisfactory basis for approval of the NDA, American BioScience may need to conduct
additional clinical trials or cease developing ABRAXANE™. Even if regulatory approvals are obtained and we
commercialize ABRAXANE™, we may not generate sales sufficient to recoup the investments made to license
and commercialize ABRAXANE™. Further, a number of pharmaceutical companies are working to develop
alternative formulations of paclitaxel, generic versions of Taxol® and other cancer drugs and therapies, any of
which may compete directly or indirectly with ABRAXANE™ and which might adversely affect the commercial
success of ABRAXANE™. '

If we are unable to develop and commercialize new products, our financial condition will deteriorate.

Profit margins for a pharmaceutical product generally decline as new competitors enter the market. As a
result, our future success will depend on our ability to commercialize the product candidates we are currently
developing, as well as develop new products in a timely and cost-effective manner. We have over 50 new
product candidates under development. Successful development and commercialization of our product candidates
will require significant investment in many areas, including research and development and sales and marketing,
and we may not realize a return on those investments. In addition, development and commercialization of new
products are subj_ect to inherent risks, including:

+ failure to receive necessary regulatory approvals
« difficulty or impossibility of manufacture on a large scale
» prohibitive or uneconomical costs of marketing products

+ failure to be developed or commercialized prior to the successful marketihg of similar or superior
products by third parties

» lack of acceptance by customers
+ infringement on the proprietary rights of third parties

+ grant of new patents for existing products may be granted, which could prevent the introduction of
newly-developed products for additional periods of time

» grant to another manufacturer by the FDA of a 180-day period of marketing exclusivity under the Drug
" Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, or the Hatch-Waxman Act, as patents or
other exclusivity periods for brand name products expire

The timely and continuous introduction of new. products is critical to our business. Our financial condition
will deteriorate if we are unable to successfuily develop and commercialize new products.
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If sales of our key products decline, our business may be adversely affected.

Our topr ten products comprised approximateiy 55% of our 2003 net sales. Qur key products could lose
market share or revenue due to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including: '

* lower prices offered on similar products by other manufacturers

* substitute or alternative products or therapies B

* development by others of new pharmaceutical product's or treatments that are more effective than our
products ' '

¢ introduction of other generic equivalents or products which may be therapeutically interchanged with
our products

*  interruptions in manufacturing or supply
« changes in the prescribing practices of physicians
' changes in third-party reimbursement practices

* migration of key customers to other manufacturers or sellers

Any factor adversely affecting the sale of our key products may cause our revenues to decline.

If we or our suppliers are unable to comply with ongoing and changing regulatory standards, sales of our
products could be delayed or prevented.

Virtually all aspects of our business, including the development, testing, manufacturing, processing, quality,
safety, efficacy, packaging, labeling, record-keeping, distribution, 'storage and advertising of our products and
disposal of waste products arising from these activities, are subject.to extensive regulation by federal, state and
local governmental authorities in the United States, including the FDA. Our business is also subject to regulation
in foreign countries. Compliance with these regulations is costly and time-consuming. :

Our manufacturing facilities and procedures and those of our suppliers are subject to ongoing regulation,
including: periodic inspection by the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies. For example, manufacturers of
pharmaceutical products must comply with detailed regulations governing current good manufacturing practices,
including requirements relating to quality control and quality assurance. We must spend-funds, time and effort in
the areas of production, safety, quality control and quality assurance to ensure compliance with these regulations.
We cannot assure that our manufacturing facilities or those of our suppliers will not be subject to regulatory
action in the future.

Our products generally must receive appropriate regulatory clearance before they can be sold in a particular
country, including the United States. We may encounter delays in the introduction of a product as a result of,
among other things, insufficient or incomplete submissions to the FDA for approval of a product, objections by
another company with respect to our submissions for approval, new patents by other companies, patent
challenges by other companies which result in a 180-day exclusivity period, and changes in regulatory policy
during the period of product development or during the regulatory approval process. The FDA has the authority
to revoke drug approvals previously granted and remove from the market previously approved products for
various reasons, including issues related to current good manufacturing practices for that particular product or in
general. We may be subject from time to time to product recalls initiated by us or by the FDA. Delays in
obtaining regulatory approvals, the revocation -of a prior approval, or product recalls ¢ould impose significant
costs on us and adversely affect our ability to generate revenue.

Our inability or the inability. of our suppliers to comply  with applicable FDA and other regulatory
requirements can result in, among other things, warning letters, fines, consent decrees restricting or suspending
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our manufacturing operations, delay of approvals for new products, injunctions, civil penalties, recall or seizure
of products, fotal or partial suspension of sales and eriminal prosecution. Any of these or other regulatory actions
could materially adversely affect our business and financial condition.

The manufacture of our products is highly exacting and complex, and if we or our suppliers encounter
production problems, our business may suffer.

All of the products we make are sterile, injectable drugs. We also purchase some such products from other
companies. The manufacture of these products is highly exacting and complex, due in part to strict regulatory
requirements and standards which govern both the manufacture of a particular product and the manufacture of
these types of products in general. Problems may arise during their manufacture due to a variety of reasons
including equipment malfunction, failure to follow specific protocols and procedures, and environmental factors.
If problems arise during the production of a batch of product, that batch of product may have to be discarded.
This could, among other things, lead to loss of the cost of raw materials and components used, lost revenue, time
and expense spent in investigating the cause, and, depending on the cause, similar losses with respect to other
batches or products. If such problems are not discovered before the product is released to the market, recall costs
may also be incurred. To the extent we experience problems in the production of our pharmaceutical products,
this may be detrimental to our business, operating results and reputation.

Our markets are highly competitis;e,and, if we are unable to compete successfully, our revenue will decline
and our business will be harmed. :

The markets for injectable pharmaceutical products are highly competitive, rapidly changing and
undergoing consolidation. Most of our products are generic injectable.versions of brand name products that are
still being marketed by proprietary pharmaceutical companies. The first company to market a generic product is
often initially able to achieve high sales, profitability and market share with respect to that product. Prices,
revenue and market size for a product typically decline, however, as additional generic manufacturers enter the
market. :

We face competition from major, brand name pharmaceutical companies as well as generic manufacturers
such as Bedford Laboratories, Baxter Laboratories (including: Elkin-Sinn), Sicor Inc. (recently acquired by Teva)
and Mayne Pharma (Faulding Pharmaceuticals). Smaller companies may also prove to be significant competitors,
particularly through collaboration arrangements with large and established companies. Many of these entities
have significantly greater research and development, financial, sales and marketing, manufacturing, regulatory
and other resources than us. As a result, they may be able to devote greater resources to the development,
manufacture, marketing or sale of their products, receive greater resources and support for their products, initiate
or withstand substantial price competition, more readily take advantage of acquisition or other opportunities, or
otherwise more successfully market their products.

Any reduction in demand for our products could lead to'a decrease in prices, fewer customer orders, reduced
revenues, reduced margins, reduced levels of profitability, or loss of market share. These competitive pressures
could adversely affect our business and operating results.

If we are unable to maintain our key customer arrangements, sales of our products and revenue would
decline, .

Almost all injectable pharmaceutical products are sold to customers through arrangements with group
purchasing organizations, or GPOs, and distributors. The majority of hospitals contract with the GPO of their
choice for their purchasing needs. We currently derive, and expect to continue to derive, a large percentage of our
revenue from customers that have relationships with a small number of GPOs. Currently, less than ten GPOs
control a large majority of sales to hospital customers. We have purchasing arrangements with the major GPOs in
the United States, including AmeriNet, Inc., Broadlane Healthcare Corporation, Consorta, Inc., MedAssets Inc.,
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Novation, LLC, Owen Healthcare, Inc., PACT, LLC and Premier Purchasing Partners, LP. In order to maintain
these relationships, we believe we need to be a reliable supplier, offer a broad product line, remain price
competitive, comply with FDA regulations and provide high-quality products. The GPOs with whom we have
relationships also have relationships with other manufacturers that sell competing products and may decide to
contract for or otherwise prefer products other than ours for one or more of these or other reasons. Most of our
GPO agreements may be terminated on 60 or 90 days notice. If we are unable to maintain our arrangements with
GPOs and key customers, sales of our products and revenue would decline.

Our strategy to license rights to or acquire and commercialize proprietary, biological injectable or other
specialty injectable products may not be successful, and we may never receive any return on our
investment in these product candidates.

Because our research and development activities are not focused on the development of proprietary
products, we intend to license rights to or acquire proprietary products from third parties. Additionally, we are in
the process of establishing our capabilities in biologic generic products so that we are able to offer such products
when regulatory approvals and patents allow for such products. Other companies, including those with
substantially greater financial and sales and marketing resources, will compete with us to license rights to or
acquire these products. We may not be able to license rights to or acquire these proprietary products on
acceptable terms, if at all. Even if we obtain rights to a pharmaceutical product and commit to payment terms,
including, in some cases, significant up-front license payments, we may not be able to generate product sales
sufficient to create a profit or otherwise avoid a loss, ABRAXANE™ is the only proprietary pharmaceutical
product we have licensed to date.

A product candidate may fail to result in a commercially successful drug for other reasons, including the
possibility that the product candidate may:

* be found during clinical trials to be unsafe or ineffective

+ fail to receive necessary regulatory approvals

« be difficult or uneconomical to produce in commercial quantities

* be precluded from commercialization by proprietary rights of third parties

« fail to achieve market acceptance

Ouf marketing strategy, distribution channels and levels of competition with respect to any licensed or

acquired proprietary product may be different than those of our current products, and we may not be able to
compeéte favorably in any new proprietary product category.

We and some of our officers and directors, including our President and CEQ, have potential conflicts of
interest with respect to our past and ongoing relationships with American BioScience that we may not be
able to resolve on terms favorable to us.

Conflicts of interest may arise between American BioScience and us in a number of areas relating to our
past and ongoing relationships, including:

+ intellectual property matters, as well as licensing arrangements we have entered, or may enter, into with
American BioScience

~+ employee retention and recruiting
*» loans
* payment of dividends

* issuances of capital stock
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¢ election of directors

* business opportunities that may be attractive to both American BioScience and us

Some of our officers and directors may experience conflicts of interest with respect to decisions involving
business opportunities and similar matters that may arise in the ordinary course of our business or the business of
American BioScience. Our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors, Patrick
Soon-Shiong, M.D., is also the president, chief financial officer and a director of American BioScience.
Dr. Soon-Shiong also beneficially owns over 80% of the outstanding capital stock of American BioScience.
Derek I. Brown, our Co-Chief Operating Officer and a member of our Board of Directors, is also a director of
American BioScience.

We expect to resolve potential conflicts of interest on a case-by-case basis, in the manner required by
applicable law and customary business practices. We entered into an agreement with American BioScience in
July 2001 under which we acknowledged and agreed that Dr. Soon-Shiong and Mr. Brown may devote time to
the business of, receive remuneration from and present business opportunities to American BjoScience and that
American BioScience’s business and operations may compete with us. This agreement also requires that certain
corporate opportunities that may become known to either Dr. Soon-Shiong or Mr. Brown be presented to either
us or American BioScience depending upon the clinical status of the corporate opportunity. Generally, any
corporate opportunity in late stage clinical development would be first available to APP. This agreement does not
ensure the continued services of either Dr. Soon-Shiong or Mr. Brown. Resolutions of some potential conflicts of
interest are subject to review and approval by our Board of Directors, and require, in some instances, approval by
a majority of the independent and disinterested non-executive directors. We still may be unable, however, to
resolve some potential conflicts of interest with American BioScience and Dr. Soon-Shiong and, even if we do,
the resolution may be less favorable than if we were dealing with an unaffiliated party because of their
controlling interest in our company. Nothing restricts American BioScience from competing with us, and
American BioScience is not obligated to engage in any future business transactions with us or license any
products it may develop in the future to us.

We depend heavily on the principal members of our management and research and development teams,
the loss of whom could harm our business.

We depend heavily on the principal members of our management and research and development teams,
including Dr. Patrick Soon-Shiong, our President and Chief Executive Officer, Derek Brown and Jeffrey Yordon,
our Co-Chief Operating Officers and Nicole Williams, our Chief Financial Officer. We do not have employment
agreements with any of these individuals, and the loss of the services of any one of them may significantly delay
or prevent the achievement of our product development or business objectives. Competition among
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for qualified employees is intense, and the ability to attract and
retain qualified individuals is critical to our success. We may not be able to attract and retain these individuals on
acceptable terms or at all, and our inability to do so would significantly harm our business and reputation.

We depend on third parties to supply raw materials and other components and may not be able to obtain
sufficient quantities of these materials, which will limit our ability to manufacture our products on a
timely basis and harm our operating results.

The manufacture of our products requires raw materials and other components that must meet stringent FDA
requirements. Some of these raw materials and other components are available only from a limited number of
sources. Additionally, our regulatory approvals for each particular product denote the raw materials and
components, and the suppliers for such materials, we may use for that product. Obtaining approval to change,
substitute or add a raw material or component, or the supplier of a raw material or component, can be time
consuming and expensive, as testing and regulatory approval is necessary. In the past, we have experienced
shortages in some of the raw materials and components we purchase. If our suppliers are unable to deliver
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sufficient quantities of these materials on a timely basis or we encounter difficulties in our relationships with
these suppliers, the manufacture and sale of our products may be disrupted, and our business, operating results
and reputation could be adversely affected.

Other companies may claim that we infringe their intellectual property or proprietary rights, which could
cause us to incur significant expenses or prevent us from selling our products.

Our success depends in part on our ability to operate without infringing the patents and proprietary rights of
third parties. The manufacture, use and sale of new products with conflicting patent rights have been subject to
substantial litigation in the pharmaceutical industry. These lawsuits relate to the validity and infringement of
patents or proprietary rights of third parties. Infringement litigation is prevalent with respect to generic versions
of products for which the patent covering the brand name product is expiring, particularly since many companies
which market generic products focus their development efforts on products with expiring patents. A number of
pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies, universities and research institutions may have filed patent
applications or may have been granted patents that cover aspects of our products or our licensors’ products,
product candidates or other technologies. '

Future or existing patents issued to third parties may contain claims that conflict with our products. We are
subject to infringement claims from time to time in the ordinary course of our business, and third parties could
assert infringement claims against us in the future with respect to our current products, products we may develop
or products we may license. Litigation or interference proceedings.could force us to:

» stop or delay selling, manufacturing or using products that incorporate or are made using the challenged
intellectual property

+ pay damages

« .enter into licensing or royalty agreements that may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all

Any litigation or interference proceedings, regardless of their outcome, would likely delay the regulatory
approval process, be costly and require significant time and attention of key management and technical
personnel. ‘

Our inability to protect our intellectual property rights in the United States and foreign countries could
limit our ability to manufacture or sell our products.

We rely on trade secrets, unpatented proprietary know-how, continuing technological innovation and, in
some cases, patent protection to preserve our competitive position. Our patents and those for which we have or
will license rights, including for ABRAXANE™, may be challenged, invalidated, infringed or circumvented, and
the rights granted in those patents may not provide proprietary protection or competitive advantages to us. We
and our licensors may not be able to develop patentable products. Even if patent claims are allowed, the claims
may not issue, or in the event of issuance, may not be sufficient to protect the technology owned by or licensed to
us. Third party patents could reduce the coverage of the patents license, or that may be license to or owned by us.
If patents containing competitive or conflicting claims are issued to third parties, we may be prevented from
commercializing the products covered by such patents, or may be required to obtain or develop alternate
technology. In addition, other parties may duplicate, design around or independently develop similar or
alternative technologies.

We may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing or using our intellectual property. We generally
control and limit access to, and the distribution of, our product documentation and other proprietary information.
Despite our efforts to protect this proprietary information, however, unauthorized parties may obtain and use
information that we regard as proprietary. Other parties may independently develop similar know-how or may
even obtain access to our technologies.
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The laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary information to the same extent as the laws of
the United States, and many companies have encountered significant problems and costs in protecting their
proprietary information in these foreign countries.

The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and the courts have not established a consistent policy regarding the
breadth of claims allowed in pharmaceutical patents. The allowance of broader claims may increase the incidence
and cost of patent interference proceedings and the risk of infringement litigation. On the other hand, the
allowance of narrower claims may limit the value of our proprietary rights.

We face uncertainty related to pricing and reimbursement and health care reform.

In both domestic and foreign markets, sales of our products will depend in part on the availability of
reimbursement from third-party payers such as government health administration authorities, private health
insurers, health maintenance organizations and other health care-related organizations.

Medicare, Medicaid and other reimbursement legislation or programs govern drug coverage and
reimbursement levels in the United States. Federal law requires all pharmaceutical manufacturers to rebate a
percentage of their revenue arising from Medicaid-reimbursed drug sales to individual states. Generic drug
manufacturers’ agreements with federal and state governments provide that the manufacturer will remit to each
state Medicaid agency, on a quarterly basis, 11% of the average manufacturer price for generic products
marketed under abbreviated new drug applications covered by the state’s Medicaid program. For proprietary
products, which are marketed under new drug applications, manufacturers are required to rebate the greater of (a)
15.1% of the average manufacturer price-or (b) the difference between the average manufacturer price and the
lowest manufacturer price during a specified period.

Both the federal and state governments in the United States and foreign governments continue to propose
and pass new legislation, rules and regulations designed to contain or reduce the cost of health care. Existing
regulations that affect the price of pharmaceutical and other medical products may also change before any of our
products are approved for marketing. Cost control initiatives could decrease the price that we receive for any
product we develop in the future. In addition, third-party payers are increasingly challenging the price and cost-
effectiveness of medical products and services and litigation has been filed against a number of pharmaceutical
companies in relation to these issues. Additionally, significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status
of newly approved pharmaceutical products, including injectable products. Our products may not be considered
cost effective or adequate third-party reimbursement may not be available to enable us to maintain price levels
sufficient to realize an adequate return on our investments.

We may need to change our business practices to comply with changes to, or may be subject to charges
under, the fraud and abuse laws.

We are subject to various federal and state laws pertaining to health care fraud and abuse, including anti-
kickback, marketing and pricing laws. Violations of these laws are punishable by criminal and/or civil sanctions,
including, in some instances, imprisonment and exclusion from participation in federal and state health care
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. We may have to change our business practices, or our existing
business practices could be challenged as unlawful due to changes in laws, regulations or rules or due to
administrative or judicial findings, which could materially adversely affect our business.

We may become subjecf to federal false claims or other similar litigation brought by private individuals
and the government. ‘ ‘

The Federal False Claims Act allows persons meeting specified requirements to bring suit alleging false or
fraudulent Medicare or Medicaid claims and to share in any amounts paid to the government in fines or
settlement. These suits, known as qui tam actions, have increased significantly in recent years and have increased
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the risk that a health care company will have to defend a false claim action, pay fines and/or be excluded from
Medicare and Medicaid programs. Federal false claims litigation can lead to civil monetary penalties, criminal
fines and imprisonment and/or exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federally funded
health programs. Other alternate theories of liability may also be available to private parties seeking redress for
such claims. A number of parties have brought claims against numerous pharmaceutical manufacturers, and we
cannot be certain that such claims will not be brought against us, or if they are brought, that such claims might
not be successful.

Our stock price has been volatile in response to market and other factors.

The market price for our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile and subject to price and
volume fluctuations in response to market and other factors, including the following, some of which are beyond
our control:

* variations in our quarterly operating results from the expectations of securities analysts or investors;
* revisions in securities analysts’ estimates;
» announcements of technological innovation or new products or services by us or our competitors;

* announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisition, strategic partnerships, joint ventures
or capital commitments;

* general technological, market or economic trends;

* investor perception of our industry or our prospects;
» insider selling or buying;

+ investors entering into short sale contracts;

» regulatory developments affecting our industry; and

» additions or departures of key personnel.

Item 2. Properties

We operate various facilities in thé United States and Canada, which have an aggregate size of
approximately 683,000 square feet.

Our principal executive offices are located in Schaumburg, Illinois and occupy a total of 29,000 square feet
of space under a lease that expires in June 2005 and subleases that expire in June 2004. In February 2004, we
entered into a new lease for 45,407 square feet of space for future use as our principal executive offices in
Schaumburg, Illinois. This lease expires in May 2016. We also lease a sales and administrative office in Los
Angeles, California that occupies 5,300 square feet under a lease that expires in March 2007. Our business office
in Ontario, Canada consists of 6,500 square feet of office space under a lease that expires in June 2004 and a
sublease that expires in May 2004. In Bensenville, Illinois, we operate a distribution facility of approximately
100,000 square feet under a lease that expires in September 2004.

We own and operate manufacturing facilities of approximately 122,000 square feet and 160,000 square feet
of manufacturing, packaging, laboratory, office and warehouse space in Melrose Park, Iilinois and Grand Island,
New York, respectively. We own and operate a research and development facility of approximately 140,000
square feet in Melrose Park, Iilinois. In 2003, we acquired another facility in Grand Island, New York for
approximately $2.2 million. The new facility encompasses approximately 120,000 square feet, on over 20 acres,
and will be used to expand certain of our warehousing and manufacturing operations, ‘including the planned
manufacture of biologic products. ‘
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In October and November of 2003, several purported federal securities class action lawsuits were filed
against us, four of our officers, and American BioScience, Inc. in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Illinois. The complaints allege violations of Section 10(b) and Section 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and rule 10b-5, principally relating to purportedly false and misleading statements made
by us regarding ABRAXANE™. Management believes that these claims are without merit and intends to
vigorously defend against these claims. ‘

Additionally, in December 2003 a purported shareholder derivative class action was filed in the Circuit
Court of Cook County, IHlinois, Chancery Division against each member of our Board of Directors and one
non-director executive officer. The Company is a nominal defendant in this lawsuit, which alleges claims relating
to essentially the same purported misleading statements that are at issue in the pending securities class action
lawsnits. In the securities class action lawsuits, the Company denies making any misleading statements. The
derivative complaint also alleges claims relating to stock transactions by certain of the director and officer
defendants. The Company believes that there are many defects in this complaint and intends to vigorously defend
this action.

We are from time to time subject to other claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business.
These other claims have included assertions that our products infringe existing patents and also claims that the
use of our products has caused personal injuries. We intend to defend vigorously any such other litigation that
may arise under all defenses that would be available to us. In the opinion of management, the ultimate outcome
of claims and litigation of which management is aware will not have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position or results of operation.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None in the quarter ended December 31, 2003.
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PART I

Item 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Market for Common Stock

Our common stock is listed and traded on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “APPX.” The
following table sets forth the high and low split-adjusted prices for our common stock as reported by NASDAQ
for fiscal year 2003 and for 2002:

2003 2002
Price Per Share Price Per Share

High Low ' High Low

For the quarter ended: : :

March 31, ........... S e $18.50 $11.48 $14.67 $ 8.65
June30, ... ... oL e e $26.42 $10.55 $11.03 $ 6.70
September 30, ... e $44.15 $22.33 $11.77 §$ 517
December 31, ..................... e e e $39.30 $22.65 $16.48 3$10.05

As of March 9, 2004, the closing price for our common stock, as reported on NASDAQ was: $38 53 per
share. On March 4, 2004, we had approximately 88 holders of record of our common stock

Dividend Policy

No cash dividends were declared or paid in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 or fiscal 2001. Qur credit facility
currently restricts our ability to pay cash dividends and we have no current intention of paying cash dividends.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
) (in thousands, except per share data)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
OPERATIONS DATA: ' : ;
Netsales ....... P [ $351,315 $277,474 $192,029 $165495 $136,523
Costofsales ................ P 159,938 140,512 121,619 105,587 91,062
Gross profit . .......cou i 191,377 136,962 70,410 59,908 45,461
Operiting expenses: ‘ ' ‘
Research and development (exclusive of stock-
based compensanon) .................... 22,507 14,474 13,790 13,016 9,865
Selling, general and administrative (excluswe of . ‘
stock-based compensauon) e 52,719 44,285 © 300911 30,048 23,450
Stock-based compensation (1) ............... 1,215 2,347 2,491 615 88
(Gain) loss on litigation settlements, net . . . ... . — — C(750) 28,353 —
Equity in net (income) loss of Drug Source Co.,
LLC v (1,837) (1,666) 14149 122 —
Total operating.expenses ............... . 74,604 59,440 45,028 72,154 33,403
Operating income (1088) .. ..o .ot 116,773 77,522 25,382  (12,246) 12,058
Interest income ... ......... e i 1,758 2,135 1,204 200 275
Interest and other expense ...................... 537 (1,358) 4,419) . (1,75D) (2,104)
Income (loss) before incometaxes . ............... 119,068 78,299 22,167 (13,797) 10,229
Provision (benefit) for income taxes_.............. 47.375 33,100 9,539 (5,038) 4,147
Netincome (108S) ..o 71,693 45,199 12,628 (8,759) 6,082
Less imputed preferred stock dividends . ........... — — (951) (1,000) (1,000)
Incomie (loss). applicable to common stock .. ....... $ 71,693 $ 45,199 $ 11,677 $ (9,759) $ 5,082
Income (loss) per common share (2): .
Basic .......... e e $ 103 $ 062 § 031 § (©29) $ 015
Diluted ........ e e $§ 099 $ 060 $ 020 % (©29 $ 010
Weighted-average common shares outstanding: ,
Basic ... .. 69,673 72,711 37,077 33,792 32,966
Diluted ............ e © 72,745 75,479 58,422 33,792 52,586
OTHER DATA: ' ‘ ‘
EBITDA (B) it e $126,318 $ 87,471 $ 34,734 §$ (4,485) $ 18,962
Adjusted EBITDA (3) .o\ iiie i 127,533 ~ 89,818 38,229 29,265 21,132
Cash flow ptovided by operating activities ......... 57,525 37,863 11,605 18,580 8,186
Cash flow used in investing activities ............. (24,432)  (19,166) (9,146) (11,851) (6,762)
Cash flow provided by (used in) financing activities . . (14,390y 75,610 93,722 (11,661) (2,489)
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Working capital ......... .. ... o $160,019 $107,825 $ 76,421 $ 25,249 $ 31,130
Total @SSETS .\ vttt e 303,785 220,976 239,787 122,823 103,015
Long-term debt, including current portion . .. ..... . — — — 18,939 23,501
Series A redeemable convertible preferred stock . . . .. —_ — — 12,583 11,583
50,175

Total stockholders’ equity ...................... 246,061 180,708 130,070 38,699
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)

We recorded stock-based compensation related to certain stock option grants. Stock-based compensation
relates to the following:
' Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)

Research and development . ....... ..., $ 70 $ 195 $ 182 $ 73 $—
Selling, general and administrative .............. .. ... ..., 1,145 2,152 2,309 542 88

2
3)

$1,215 $2,347 $2,491 $615 $ 88

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for an explanation of the number of shares used to
compute basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share. ‘
EBITDA consists of net income (loss) before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA adjusted to exclude shares issued to Premier Purchasing Partners,
L.P., stock-based compensation and litigation settlements, net. Items excluded from EBITDA and adjusted
EBITDA are significant components in understanding and assessing our financial performance, and
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as measures of financial performance under
generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. We present adjusted EBITDA to enhance the
understanding of our operating results. EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation
or as alternatives to net income, cash flows generated by (used in) our operations, investing or financing
activities. or other financial information presented in the consolidated financial statements as indicators of
our financial performance or liquidity. Because EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are not measurements
determined in accordance with GAAP and are therefore susceptible to varying calculations, EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA as presented may not be comparable to other similarly tested measures of other
companies.

The following table reconciles net income (loss) to EBITDA and EBITDA to adjusted EBITDA:

Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

(in thousands)

Net income (J0SS) .+ .ot vet e it $ 71,693 $45,199 $12,628 $(8,759) $ 6,082

Depreciation and amortization ........... A 9,002 9,980 9,352 7,761 6,904
Provision (benefit) for income taxes .............. 47375 33,100 9,539 '(5,038) 4,147
Interest (income) expense, net ................... (1,752) (808) 3,215 1,551 1,829

EBITDA ... 126,318 87,471 34,734  (4,485) 18,962

Common shares issued to Premier ................ — —_ 1,754 4,782 2,082
Stock-based compensation .. ... .......... ... 1,215 2,347 2,491 615 88
Litigation settlements, net ...................... — — (750) 28,353 —

Adjusted EBITDA ...................... e $127,533 $89,818 $38,229 $29265 $21,132
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item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

You shiould read this discussion together with our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which are not historical facts, are forward-
looking statements, as the term is defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-
looking statements, whether expressed or implied, are subject to risks and uncertainties which can cause actual
results to differ materially from those currently anticipated, due to a number of factors, which include, but are not
limited to: .

« the timing of and costs associated with the expected launch of ABRAXANE™:;

+ the timing of any approvals of any ongoing or future NDA applications for ABRAXANE™

» the acceptance of and demand for our existing and new pharmaceutical products;

+ the impact of competitive products and pricing;

+ the ability to successfully manufacture products in an efficient, time-sensitive and cost effective manner;

. the impact on our products and revenues of patents and other proprietary rights licensed or owned by us,
our competitors and other third parties;

* our ability, and that of our suppliers, to comply with laws, regulations, and standards, and the
" application and interpretation of those laws, regulations, and standards, that govern or affect the
pharmaceutxcal industry, the non-compliance with which may delay or prevent the sale of our products;

o the difficulty in predicting the timing or outcome of product development efforts and regulatory
approvals;

» the actual results achieved in, and the timing of completion of, ongoing and future clinical trials for
ABRAXANE™,

Forward-looking statements also include the assumptions underlying or relating to any of the foregoing or
other such statements. When used in this report, the words “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “continue,” and similar expressions are generally intended to
identify forward-looking statements. : :

LA LR 1]

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect
management’s opinions only as of the date hereof. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the
results of any revision to these forward-looking statements. Readers should carefully review the factors described
in Business: Factors that May Affect Future Results of Operations and other documents we file from time to time
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10- Q to be filed by us in
fiscal year 2004.

Overview

The overview section of Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of
Operations (“MD&A”) is designed to provide the reader with summary level information on: our history,
strategy, highlights of our 2003 results and our outlook for 2004. Following this overview the MD&A is
organized as follows:

* adiscussion of our operating results,
» areview of factors impacting our liquidity and cash flow,

* a discussion of accounting policies and estimates critical to an understanding of the assumptions and
judgments incorporated in our financial results,
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+ information on the license and manufacturing agreements underlying our proprietary oncology product
candidate, ABRAXANE™,

* asummary of our contractual obligations, and

+ our assessment of the potential impact of recent accounting pronouncements on the Company:

The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the other sections of this Anmial Report on Form 10-K,
including “Irem 1: Business”; “Item 6: Selected Financial Data”; and “Item ‘8: Financial Statements and
Supplemental Data.” ‘ ‘ o

Background

We were incorporated in Delaware in 2001 and are a majority owned subsidiary of Américan BioScience,
Inc., a California corporation. At December 31, 2003, American BioScience owned 47,984,160 shares, or 68.7%,
of our outstanding common stock.

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company that develops, manufactures and markets injectable
pharmaceutical products. We believe that we are the only independent U.S. public company with a primary focus
on the injectable oncology, anti-infective and critical care markets, and we further believe that we offer one of
the most comprehensive injectable product portfolios in the pharmaceutical industry. We manufacture products
in each of the three basic forms in which injectable products are sold: liquid, powder and lyophilized, or freeze-
dried. Although we intend to manufacture and market proprictary injectable pharmaceutical products,
substantially all of our net sales have been derived from generic injectable pharmaceutical products.

We began in 1996 with an initial focus on U.S. marketing and distribution of generic pharmaceutical
products manufactured by others. In June 1998, we acquired Fujisawa USA, Inc.’s generic injectable
pharmaceutical business including manufacturing facilities in Melrose Park, Illinois and Grand Island, New York
and our research and development facility in Melrose Park, Illinois. We.also acquired additional assets in this
transaction, including inventories, plant and equipment and abbreviated new drug applications that were
approved by and pending with the FDA. We have derived substantially all of our revenue since the acquisition
from the sale of products manufactured in the facilities acquired from Fujisawa.

In November 2001, we obtained the exclusive North American rights to manufacture and sell
ABRAXANE™, formerly known as ABI-007, a proprietary nanoparticle injectable oncology product that is a
patented formulation of paclitaxel. Paclitaxel is the active ingredient in Taxol®, one of the world’s top selling
cancer drugs. A multi-center Phase III -clinical trial of ABRAXANE™ in the treatment of metastatic breast
cancer, or breast cancer that has spread to other parts of the body, was completed in-2003 and -American
BioScience completed the submission of the New Drug Application (“NDA”) fihng, under Fast Track
designation, in March 2004, with a request for priority review. : .

On December 14, 2001, we completed our initial public offering of 13,500,000 shares of common stock at a
public offering price of $10.67 per share and realized net proceeds of $131.0 million. On January 10, 2002, the
underwriters from our initial public offering exercised in full their option to purchase an additional 2,025,000
shares of our common stock at the initial public offering price of $10.67 per share providing addmonal proceeds
of $20.1 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions of $1.5 mllhon

RN

Strategy

Our goal is to expand upon our position as an industry leader in the development, manufacture, sale and
distribution of injectable pharmaceutical products, with an intent of offering a broad portfolio of injectable
products affecting every aspect of hospital care. Key elements of our strategy include:.

« Continue to focus on new, higher-margin injectable product opportunities, including: our proprietary
oncology product candidate, ABRAXANE™; generic opportunities as products approach patent expiry;
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low molecular weight heparins; and, as the FDA regulatory environment evolves, biologic generic
products. :

*  Maintain and improve our current Good Manufacturing Practice (“cGMP") product development and
manufacturing capabilities and capacity to meet future market needs and evolving regulatory
requirements. '

+ Enhance our customer relationships with group purchasing organizations (“GPOs™), specialty
distributors and end-user organizations by providing the service level, quality and relationships expected
by our customers, further enhanced by our breadth of product offering and sole supplier position for

- needed products. '

* Advance our strategic sourcing capabilities to obtain raw materials, intellectual property, technology
and processes necessary to develop and manufacture both future and existing products.

2003 Highlights

-« - Financially, 2003 was another year of strong growth. Our 2003 revenue growth of 27% exceeded our
expectations for the year and operating profit increased 51%, or $39 million, after incurring $9.3 million
in ABRAXANE™ prelaunch costs. Operating cash flow increased 52% to $57.5 million, after our $34
million investment in ABRAXANE™ prelaunch build-up of raw material inventory and other prelaunch
costs. Additionally, our equity base increased by over a third, or $65 million, despite the repurchase of
$20 million of our common stock during 2003.

*  We received six Abbreviated New Drug Application (‘“ANDA”) approvals from the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (“FDA”) in 2003, including two tentative approvals for products which we plan to
launch in 2004. We have received two more approvals, one tentative, to date in 2004, We currently have
19 ANDA’s pending at the FDA. The following table highlights our recent approvals:

Summary of 2003-04 Approvals and Approved ANDAs‘

Product Brand Name Indication Approval Date Launch Date
Ciprofloxacin (t) Cipro © Anti-Infective 2/19/2004 2006 (e)
Cytarabine Cytosar-U® Oncology . /1512004 2004 (e)
Piperacillin Pipracil® Anti-Infective 11/14/2003 Jan-04
Fluconazole (1) . Diflucan® ‘ Critical Care 4/15/2003 2004 (e)
Vincristine Oncovin® Oncology 12/20/2002 TBD
Dexamethasone Decadron® Critical Care 5/22/2003 2003
Valproate Sodium  Depacon® Critical Care 6/30/2003 2003
Calcitriol Calcijex® Critical Care 5/6/2003 2003
Carboplatin (t) Paraplatin® Oncology - 5/22/2002 2004 (e)
Bacitracin ~ Bacitracin ® Anti-Infective ‘ o 1/3/2002 2004 (e)

(t) - tentative FDA approval pending only patent expiry and any subsequent exclusivity periods.
(e) - expected, actual Jaunch could be delayed or cancelled.

* In December 2003, our newly formed proprietary. drug division, ABRAXIS Oncology, announced
positive results of a randomized, controlled Phase III clinical trial in patients with metastatic breast
cancer comparing our investigational product ABRAXANE™ (formerly ABI-007) to the Cremophor®

- solvent-based Taxol®. Patients with metastatic breast cancer receiving ABRAXANE™ achieved almost
a doubling of the tumor response rate when compared to those patients receiving Bristol-Myers’ Taxol®.
Although the ABRAXANE™ data and labeling remain subject to FDA review, the Phase III study
demonstrated potentially important advantages of ABRAXANE™ over Taxol® as a treatment for
metastatic breast cancer patients, based on: higher response rates; longer time to tumor progression;
absence of severe hypersensitivity reactions without the need for premedication; less neutropenia
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despite a higher dose infused over a shorter period of 30 minutes; and, a rapid recovery from sensory
neuropathy compared with Taxol®, although with a slightly higher incidence of sensory neuropathy
consistent with the higher dosage of the active ingredient, paclitaxel, administered.

Key elements of the reported results include the following:

*

A significantly higher Overall Tumor Response Rate was noted in patients receiving ABRAXANE™
(33%) versus Taxol® (19%), (p=0.001). Similarly, analysis‘of the Target Lesion Response Rate showed
significantly higher anti-tumor activity (p<0.001) with ABRAXANE™;

In patients receiving chemotherapy for metastatic breast cancer for the first time (first-line patients), a
significantly higher tumor response was also noted, with 42% of ABRAXANE™ patients (n=97)
responding to the therapy compared with a 27% response rate in patients (n=89) receiving Taxol®
(p=0.029);

Similarly, the response rates with ABRAXANE™ were higher, and statistically significant, when
analyzed in those patients who had failed prior chemotherapy, and in patients with poor prognostic
indicators such as in those with liver metastases (26%, n=92 vs. 13%, n=97) and lung metastases (43%,
n=74 vs. 25%, n=79); '

A longer time to tumor progression was noted in patients recei‘ving ABRAXANE™, with a median of
21.9 weeks versus a median progression time of 16.1 weeks after Taxol, (p=0.030).

2004 Outlook

American Pharmaceutical Partners’ 2004 outlook is as folloWs:

- quarter product launch. As such, we anticipate incurring ABRAXAN.
" and marketing expenses of approximately $40 million ratably over 2004. In addition, we expect to pay

We currently expect that in 2004, core generic product sales will grow in excess of 20% over 2003, with
the growth substantially driven by anticipated product launches in the third and fourth quarters,
including the launch of two products, Fluconazole and Carboplatin, for which we have obtained
tentative approvals pending only expiration of the innovator patents, and any exclusivity periods;

Gross margins for the base business are expected to be in the low to mid 50% range;

We are preparing for potential approval of the ABRAXANE™ NDA and an assumed eaily. fourth-
™ related development, selling

and expense the $10.0 million milestone payment upon FDA accéptance of the ABRAXANE™ NDA
filing in the second quarter of 2004. We also expect to pay a $15.0 million milestone payment upon
FDA approval of the NDA which would be capitalized and amortized over the estimated life of the
product. '

While American BioScience completed filing of the ABRAXANE™ NDA for metastatic breast cancer
in March 2004 and requested priority review, we cannot predict when the FDA will complete its review
of the filing or when or if the NDA will be approved. ‘Any resulting profit on North American sales of
ABRAXANE™ for licensed indications would be shared equally between American BioSc'ience'and us.

If regulatory approval of ABRAXANE™ for metastatic breast cancer in the United States is not obtained
or is substantially delayed, we do not believe there will be any material accumulated adverse impact on
earnings or cash flow as marketing and pre-launch costs (excluding inventory) are being expensed as
incurred and we would not be required to make any future payments for the achievement of regulatory
milestones for any other indication. In addition, we anticipate that we would be able to recover a
substantial portion of our investment in paclitaxel raw material inventory; however, we expect that we
would have to write-off any commercial ABRAXANE™ finished goods inventory, of which we
currently have none. On March 11, 2004 we entered into an agreement with American BioScience under
which the parties agreed to share certain costs of any unsaleable ramp-up inventory of ABRAXANE™
that is manufactured in preparation for its projected launch.
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* We intend to pursue distribution arrangements with specialty GPOs and specialty distributors to
facilitate product distribution to target markets. To this end, we entered into-a primary vendor contract
with a major oncology GPO in March 2004

+  We anticipate that 2004 research and development expense will approximate 2003 levels and that
selling, general and administrative expense in our core generic business will increase in line with core
business sales growth. We further expect our 2004 effective tax rate to range around 38%-40% of pretax
income. '

Results of Operations
Overview

The following table sets forth the results of our operations for the three years ended December 31, and forms
the basis for the following discussion of our operating activities:

Change Favorable (Unfavorabie)

Year Ended December 31, 2003 vs. 2002 2002 vs. 2001
2003 2002 2001 $ % $ %

) (in thousands, except per share data and p;:entages)
Consolidated statement of income data: )

Netsales...........oooiiiiiiini i,
Criticalcare ........... ...t $169,849  $135,370  $100,397 $34479 25% $34973 35%
Anti-infective . ......... ... ... 95,581 74,082 54,721 21,499  29% 19,361 35%
Oncology ... 81,049 61,204 31,179 19,845 32% 30,025 96%
Contract manufacturing and other ... . ... 4,836 6,818 5,732 (1,982) (29% 1,086  19%
Totalnetsales .................. 351,315 277,474 192,029 73,841 27% 85,445  44%
Costofsales .......oovvvninnnnvenninen.. 159,938 140,512 121,619 (19,426) (14)% (18,893) (16)%
Grossprofit ............... . L 191,377 136,962 70,410 54415  40% 66,552 95%
Percent to net sales ... ... 54.5% 49.4% 36.7%
Operating expenses: . '
Research and development costs .. ...... 22,507 14,474 13,790 (8,033) (55)% 684y (5%
Percent to net sales ... ... 6.4% 5.2% 7.2%
Selling, general and administrative ' _
EXPENSES . . vt v vt 52,719 44,285 30911 (8.434) (199% (13,374) (43)%
Percent to net sales . . .. .. 15.0% 16.0% 16.1% .
Stock-based compensation ............ 1,215 2,347 2,491 1,132 48% 144 6%
Gain on litigation settlements, net .. .. ... — — (750) - - (750) (100)%
Equity in net income of Drug Source Co., .
LLC oo i (1,837) (1,666) (1,414) 171 10% 252 18%
Total operating expenses . .. ... 74,604 59,440 45,028 (15,164) (26)% (14412) (32)%
Percent to net sales ... . .. 21.2% 21.4% 23.4%
- Operating inCome . ...........o.ovenunn.n. 116,773 77,522 25,382 39,251 51% 52,140 205%
Percent to net sales . . . ... 33.2% 27.9% 13.2%
Interestincome ................... . ..... 1,758 2,135 1,204 G777 (18)% 931 7%
Interest expense andother ................. 537 (1,358) (4,419) 1,895 140% 3,061 69%
Income before income taxes ............... 119,068 78,299 22,167 40,769  52% 56,132 253%
Provision for income taxes ................ 47,375 33,100 9,539 (14,275) (43)% (23.561) (2471)%
Netincome ............ F 71,693 45,199 12,628 26494  59% 32,571 258%
Less imputed preferred stock dividends . ... .. — — (CRRY] —_ — 951 100%
Income applicable to common stock & ........ $ 71,693  $ 45199 § 11,677 $26494 59% $33,522 287%
Percent to net sales . .. ... 20.4% 16.3% 6.1%
Income per common share: .
Basic ... $ 103 $ 062 §$ 031
Diluted .............. ... ..., $ 099 $ 060 § 020
Weighted-average common shares outstanding: ‘
Basic ........c.c i 69,673 72,711 37,077
Diluted ............ccooviin. P 72,745 75,479 58,422
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Operating Results
Net Sales

Net sales increased $73 8 million, or 27%, in 2003 due pr1mar11y to products launched dunng 2002,
favorable pricing and strong demand for more mature products and increased market penetration for certain key
products.

In 2002, net sales increased $85.4 million, or 44%, due primarily to eight new product launches in 2002 and
a full year of sales and increased market penetration for the 10 products launched in 2001. The 2002 launches of
pamidronate, amiodarone, cefotaxime, ketorolac and ifosfamide contributed significantly to 2002 net sales as did
strong demand and market opportunities for anti-infectives. The new, higher margin products increasingly
impacted sales growth as the year progressed, contributing substantially to the year-over-year sales gains in the
fiscal 2002 third and fourth quarters. '

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased $54.4 million, or 40%, in 2003 on a 27% sales increase, representing 54.5% of sales
in 2003 as compared to 49:4% of sales in 2002. The increase in 2003 gross profit as a percentage of net sales was
primarily due to thé contribution of products launched in 2002, favorable market conditions for. generic
injectables, higher margin market opportunities for certain existing products and first-half efficiencies resulting
from higher unit productlon volumes. Gross profit margins declined slightly as the year progressed due primarily
to anticipated, albeit later than expected, price declines on certain more recently launched products. Typically,
newly approved and marketed generic 1njectable products yield significantly higher gross margins relative to
sales than do mature products, with gross margin on such products generally cxpected to decline over time due to
competitive factors in the market place.

During 2002, gross profit increased $66.6 million, or 95%, on a 44% sales gain. The stronger gross profit
was primarily due to the introduction of new, higher margin products during 2002 and to higher margin market
opportunities for certain existing products. The 2002 gross profit margin also benefited from higher unit
production volumes and the resulting cost efficiencies.

Research and development (“R&D”)

R&D expense increased by $8.0 million, or 55%, in 2003 due to pre-production work on products in late-
stage development, including $4.9 million of ABRAXANE™ production development costs, and to the increased
cost of raw materials used in other development activities.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”)

SG&A expense increased $8.4 million, or 19%, in 2003 due to $4.4 million in sales and marketing start-up
costs in anticipation of approval and launch of ABRAXANE™, increased staffing requirements resulting from
rapid sales growth, increased technology infrastructure and higher risk management costs. Excluding the
investment in ABRAXANE™ pre-launch costs, SG&A for the core injectable business was 13.8% of sales in
2003 as compared to 16.0% of sales in 2002 and 16.1% in 2001.

~ The $13.4 million increase in SG&A expense in 2002 was primarily due to increased staffing requirements
resulting from rapid sales growth and to increased costs associated with being a public company for the first full
year.

Other Operating Expenses

Stock-based compensation expense fell $1.1 million in 2003 as compared to the prior year due to the
accelerated amortization schedule used to expense such costs. Stock-based compensation expense results
primarily from the issuance, prior to our initial public offering, of stock based compensation for which the
exercise price was less than the estimated fair value of common stock on the grant date.
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Drug Source Company, LLC, is a 50% owned company, which acts as a selling. agent of raw material to the
pharmaceutical industry, including APP. Our investment in Drug Source Company is intended to both generate a
return on our investment and to strengthen our strategic sourcing capabilities over time. Because our 50%
ownership interest in Drug Source Company does not provide financial or operational control of Drug Source
Company, we account for our interest in Drug Source Company under the equity method. Research and
development expense includes purchases from Drug Source Company of $1.8 million and $1.5 million in 2003
and 2002, respectively. Ending inventory included purchases from Drug Source Company of $0.8 million and
$1.8 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Interest income consists primarily of interest earned on the intercompany note from American BioScience
and interest earned on invested cash, with the 2003 decline primarily attributable to lower interest rates and a
lower invested cash position in 2003.

Interest -expense and other consisted of a credit of $0.5 million in 2003 as compared to $1.4 million in
~expense in 2002. The 2003 credit resulted primarily from foreign exchange gains on our intercompany trading
account with Pharmaceutical Partners of Canada, our wholly owned subsidiary, as a result of the weaker U.S.
dollar. Prior year interest expense resulted primarily from imputed non-cash interest on a litigation settlement
paid in December 2002.

Provision for income taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 39.8%, 42.3% and 43.0% in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, with the
decline in the effective rate due primarily to both favorable experience as a stand-alone tax entity and a shift in
the geographic mix of income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview '

The following table summarizes key elements of our financial position and sources and (uses) of cash and
cash equivalents for the three years ended December 31, 2003:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

Summary Financial Position:

Cash and cash equivalents ...............ooviiiiireinieean.n., $ 58,625 $:39,771 $ 96,688
Working capital .......... ... .. . 160,019 107,825 76,421
Total @SSELS & o o v e et e ettt 303,785 220,976 239,787
Long-term debt, including current portion . .. ...................... — — —
Total stockholders’ equity .......... ... 246,061 180,708 130,070
Summary of Sources and (Uses) of Cash and Cash Equivalents: '

Operating aCtivities ... ........ouiiiitt it .$ 57,525 $ 37,863 $ 11,605
INVESHNZ ACHVILIES . .. o\ vvt e et e e et e (24,432) (19,166)  (9,146)
Financing activities ............ .. 0 . .. . (14,390) (75,610) 93,722

We believe that our current cash and short-term investments, cash generated from operations, funds
available from our revolving line of credit and the ability to issue debt or equity securities under our shelf
registration will be sufficient to finance our operations, including prelaunch activity relating to ABRAXANE™,
product development and capital expenditures, including the possible reacquisition of our own common stock,
for at least the next 12 months. In the event we engage in future acquisitions we may have to raise additional
capital through additional borrowings or the issuance of debt or equity securities pursuant to our shelf registration
or otherwise.
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Capital Requirements
Our capital requirements depend on numerous factors, including:

 increasingly in late 2003 and 2004, working capital requirements and pre-launch costs required to fund
the ABRAXANE™ commercialization effort;

+  the need for manufacturing expansion and improvement and information technology requirements;
* the requirements of any potential acquisition;
* the amount of cash generated by operations;

+ and the potential repurchase of our common stock from time to time, at the discretion of our Board of
Directors.

We presently anticipate that our 2004 capital expenditure requirements will range from $35-$40 million.

Adequate funds for these purposes may not be available when needed or on terms acceptable to us, and we
may need to raise capital that may not be available on terms favorable or acceptable to us, if at all. Any
additional equity financing may be dilutive to stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may include
restrictive covenants, If we cannot raise money when needed, we may have to reduce or slow ABRAXANE™
prelaunch activities, reduce capital expenditures or scale back development of new products.

Credit Facility

Our credit facility consists of a $50.0 million fevolving line of credit which can be increased to $75.0
million at our request and expires on December 14, 2006. Borrowings under the credit facility are secured by
substantially all of our assets and the credit facility prohibits us from paying cash dividends and includes other
covenants and restrictions. There were no balances outstanding under our credit facility at December 31, 2003 or
December 31, 2002 and we were in compliance with all covenants at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Universal Shelf Registration

On September .5, 2003, we filed a universal shelf registration statement on Form S$-3, which was declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 22, 2003. Under the shelf registration
statement, we may from time to time, offer and sell up to $150 million of our common stock (which may include
treasury shares), debt securities, common stock warrants and/or debt warrants at prices and on terms to be
determined at the time of the offering of such securities. If and when we offer and sell these securities, we
anticipate using the resulting proceeds for general corporate purposes including efforts related to the
commercialization of ABRAXANE™. Additionally, American BioScience may, from time to time, sell up to
3,000,000 shares of our common stock under the shelf registration. We would not receive any pfoceeds from the
sale of shares of our common stock by American BioScience. As of the date of this filing, no securities have been
offered under the shelf registration and we currently do not have any plans to offer securities pursuant to this self
registration. :

Sources and Uses of Cash
Operating Activities

Cash flow from operating activities is our primary source of liquidity. Net cash provided by operating
activities increased $19.7 million in 2003 due primarily to a $26.5 million increase in net income, and after $34.0
million in spending for ABRAXANE™ prelaunch raw material inventory and marketing expenses.

Operating cash flow increased $26.3 million in 2002, primarily the result of increasing . profitability,
partially offset by increased inventory and receivables working capital requirements resulting from increased
sales.

36




Investing Activities

Our investing activities consist principally of capital expenditures necessary to expand and maintain our
manufacturing capabilities and infrastructure and, to a lesser extent, outlays necessary to acquire various product
or intellectual. property rights. Net cash used in investing activities was $24.4 million in 2003, $19.2 million in
2002 and $9.1 million in 2001. In all periods presented, investing activities primarily consist of capital
expenditures supporting additional or improved manufacturing capacity and information technology initiatives
and infrastructure. :

Financing Activities

Financing activities generally include cash flows from the issuance or repurchase of our common stock,
proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and transactions with American BioScience, our parent
company. Net cash used in financing activities during 2003 was $14.4 million, resulting primarily from the first
quarter repurchase of 1,596,081 shares of our common stock on the open market for $20.0 million pursuant to the
stock repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors on December 10, 2002. Cash used for share
repurchases was partially offset by $4.2 million in cash proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options
and sale of stock to the employee stock purchase program during 2003.

The $75.6 million net use of cash for financing in 2002 resulted from the initial $60.0 million payment to
American BioScience for ABRAXANE™ product license rights and the repurchase of $36.3 million of common
shares, partially offset by $20.1 million in proceeds from the January 2002 over-allotment exercise. Due (o its
related party nature, the $60.0 million license payment to our majority stockholder in 2002 has been presented as
a financing activity on the cash flow statement, cons1stent with its treatment as a direct reduction in stockholders
equity on our balance sheet. :

Our financing activities in 2001 included net proceeds from our initial public offering of $131.0 million,
partially offset by an $18.9 million reduction in long-term debt and $13.9 million in loans made to American
BioScience.

Stock Repurchase Program

Additionally, on April 24, 2003, our Board of Directors amended our stock repurchase program to authorize
the repurchase, from time to time, of up to an additional $20.0 million of our common stock through open market
purchases and/or privately negotiated transactions. No repurchases have been made under the April 24, 2003
authorization. Prior to any repurchases under this authorization, we will need to obtain the consent of our lenders
under the terms of our credit facility, as a previously granted consent has expired without any repurchases having
taken place under that consent.

Pursuant to a December 10; 2002 authorization by our Board of Directors, we repurchased 1,596,081 of our
shares in the 2003 first quarter for $20.0 million. Additionally, in 2002, we repurchased all 4,371,891 shares of
our common stock held by Premier Purchasing Partners LP, for $30.3 million in cash, including transaction costs
and repurchased 678,426 shares of our common stock owned by Biotechnology Development Fund, L.P. for $6.0
million in cash, both pursuant to a stock repurchase program adopted by our Board of Directors on July 26, 2002.
These repurchases were funded using our internal cash resources and are being held as treasury shares to be used
for general corporate purposes. In aggregate, the 6,646,398 common shares held as treasury stock at December
31, 2003 have a cost basis of $8.47 per share.
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Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The following information summarizes our contractual obligations and other commitments, con31st1ng
solely of operating leases, as of December 31, 2003:

Total Payments by Period

2-3 4.5 After
lyear  years years 5 years

(in thousands)

Operating Ieases . . ... oot e $2,645 $1,554 $993 $92 $6

Additionally, on February 13, 2004 we signed an operating lease for office space in Schaumburg, Ilinois
with rental payments totaling $11.5 million over a period of 12 years.

As of December 31, 2003, we did not have any off-balance sheet financing arrangements as defined in Item
303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K.

Abraxane™ License and Manufacturing Agreement

We have secured the North American marketing and manufacturing rights for ABRAXANE™ from
American BioScience, Inc., which is responsible for conducting the clinical studies of ABRAXANE™,

In November 2001, we signed a perpetual license agreement with American BioScience, Inc. under which
we acquired the exclusive rights to market and sell ABRAXANE™ in North America for indications relating to
breast, lung, ovarian, prostate and other cancers. Under the agreement, we made an initial payment to American
BioScience of $60.0 million and committed to future milestone payments contingent upon achievement of
specified regulatory and sales objectives for licensed indications. American BioScience is responsible for
conducting clinical studies in support of ABRAXANE™ and for substantially all costs associated with the
development and obtaining regulatory approval for ABRAXANE™, except that we provided $2.0 million of
ABRAXANE™ for use in clinical trials, the cost of which we charged to research and development expense in
2001. We may receive revenue resulting from this agreement only after our launch of ABRAXANE™ in North
America, which will not occur until after FDA approval is obtained. Even though American BioScience
completed its filing of the NDA for ABRAXANE™ for metastatic breast cancer in March 2004 with a request for
priority review, we cannot predict when the FDA will complete its review of the filing, or when or if the NDA
may be approved. Any resulting profit would be shared equally between American BioScience and us.

The terms of the license agreement were negotiated to reflect the value of the licensed product rights
acquired, then in late-stage development, American BioScience’s remaining obligation to complete the NDA
filing and the potential sales of the product under other licensed clinical indications. The license agreement was a
product of several months of extensive negotiation with American BioScience involving outside counsel,
investment banks and a nationally recognized valuation firm. Based upon the analysis and recommendations of
our advisors, we believe that the overall terms of the agreement were fair to us, including in comparison to
similar licenses between unrelated parties. The agreement was unanimously approved by the disinterested
members of our Board of Directors with those directors who also have an affiliation with American BioScience
recusing themselves from the vote. There are no restrictions on how American BioScience would use payments
made under the license agreement and we understand such payments have been and will be used both to fund the
development of ABRAXANE™ in relation to our licensed product rights and for other purposes.

In December 2001, upon completion of our initial public offcring, we recorded an initial payment to
American BioScience of $60.0 million. In our financial statements, the license agreement was accounted for as
an asset contributed by a principal shareholder using the shareholder’s: historical cost basis which was zero, and
the $60.0 million payment was accounted for as a distribution of stockholders’ equity. For income tax purposes,
the payment was recorded as an asset and is being amortized over a 15-year period. Because there was no
corresponding charge to income, the income tax benefit of this payment is being credited to stockholders’ equity
as realized.

38




Future milestone payments which will be earned upon achievement of regulatory- events prior to.FDA
approval for each licensed indication will be expensed as achieved, while regulatory milestone payments earned
upon FDA approval of those indications will be capitalized and amortized over the expected life of the product.
Any future sales-based milestone payments will be expensed in the period in which the sales milestone is
achieved. :

With respect to the first potential ABRAXANE™ indication being studied, metastatic breast cancer, we will
be required to pay American BioScience $10.0 million within 30 days of FDA acceptance for filing of an NDA
for this indication, meaning that the FDA has found the NDA complete on its face in all respects. Upon FDA
approval of the NDA for metastatic breast cancer, we will be required to pay American BioScience an additional
$15.0 million. The $10.0 million payment upon FDA acceptance of filing will be expensed in the period of FDA
acceptance while the $15.0 million payment related to FDA approval will be capitalized and amortized over the
expected life of the product, subject to periodic review for impairment. Regulatory achievements related to other
licensed indications under study, including lung, ovarian and prostate cancers, will trigger further milestone
payments to American BioScience, but only after ABRAXANE™ has received NDA approval related to the
breast cancer indication. Such payments generally total $17.5 million per agreed indication. As with the
indication of breast cancer, those payments earned prior to FDA approval for each indication will be expensed,
while amounts earned upon FDA approval of those indications will be capitalized and ammortized over the
expected life of the product. We have the option not to make one or more of the milestone payments tied to
indications under study if, following breast cancer approval, sales of the product do not meet specified levels.

Subsequent to FDA approval of ABRAXANE™ and upon achievement of major annual ABRAXANE™
sales milestones, we would be required to make additional payments which, in the aggregate, could total $110.0
million should annual ABRAXANE™ sales exceed $1.0 billion. The first sales milestone payment of $10.0
million would be triggered upon achievement. of annual calendar year ABRAXANE sales in.excess of $200.0
million. Sales milestone payments will be expensed in the period in which'the sales milestone is achieved.

Under the license agreement, any profit on ABRAXANE™ sales in North America would be shared equally
between American BioScience and us. The license agreement defines profit as ABRAXANE™ net sales less cost
of goods sold, selling expenses (including pre-launch production and other expenses which we will continue to
expense as incurred, but which will be accumulated and charged against first profit under the agreement) and an
allocation of related general and administrative expenses. We will expense American BioScience’s share of any
profit earned in our statements of income. Any costs and expenses related to product recalls and product liability
claims generally will be split equally between American BioScience and us and expensed as incurred.

Manufacturing Agreement

In November 2001, along with the license agreement for ABRAXANE™, we also entered into a
manufacturing agreement with American BioScience under which we agreed to manufacture ABRAXANE™ for
American BioScience and its licensees for sales outside North America. Under this agreement, we have the
exclusive right to manufacture ABRAXANE™ for sales in North America for a period of three years and the
non-exclusive right to manufacture ABRAXANE™ for sales (a) cutside North America and (b) in North America
after expiration of the three year exclusivity period. We will charge American BioScience and its licensees a
customary margin on our manufacturing costs based -on whether the product will be used for clinical trials or
commercial sale. The initial term of this agreement is ten years and may be extended for successive two-year
terms by American BioScience. ‘ ‘

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates -

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions. that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
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reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates in our
consolidated financial statements are discussed below. Actual results could vary from those estimates.

Revenue recognition

We recognize revenue from the sale of a product when that product is shipped to a customer, acceptance
terms are fulfilled and no significant contractual obligations remain. We sell a majority of our products to
wholesalers, who generally sell our products to hospitals or alternative heaithcare facilities at contractual prices
previously agreed upon between us and group purchasing organizations, or GPOs, on behalf of end users such as
hospitals. GPOs enter into collective purchasing contracts with pharmaceutical suppliers for products in an effort
to secure favorable drug pricing on behalf of their members. We invoice wholesalers at our wholesale list price.
Net sales represent our wholesale list price offset by wholesaler chargebacks, further adjusted for estimated
discounts and contractual allowances,. including GPO fees. Wholesaler chargebacks represent the difference
between the wholesale list price and the estimated contractual sales price, based upon our historical experience
ratings. :

The most significant estimates that affect net sales are wholesaler chargebacks, sales credits and cash
discounts. The wholesaler chargeback calculation is computed as described in the following paragraph. The
allowances for doubtful accounts, cash discounts and sales credits are estimated monthly by applying historical
percentages (based on credits issued for each category), which are reassessed periodically, to the product sales
for the month.

Chargebacks

The majority of our products are distributed through independent pharmaceutical wholesalers. In accordance
with industry practice, sales to wholesalers are initially transacted at wholesale list price. The wholesalers then
generally sell to an end user, normally a hospital, alternative healthcare facility, or an independent pharmacy, at a
lower price previously contractually established between the end user and us.

When we initially record a sale to a wholesaler, the sale and resulting receivable are recorded at our list
price. However, experience indicates that most of these selling prices will eventually be reduced to a lower,
end-user contract price. Therefore, at the time of the sale, a contra asset is recorded for, and revenue is reduced
by, the difference between the list price and the estimated average end-user contract price. This is calculated by
product code, taking the expected number of outstanding wholesale units sold that will ultimately be sold under
end-user contracts multiplied by the anticipated, weighted-average contract price. Thus, a contra asset is
established, reducing the initial wholesaler receivable by the difference between the initial list price and the
estimated, ultimate end-user selling price. In addition, cash advance credits are also periodically issued to
wholesalers as a standard trade practice and an estimated reserve for such discounts is established at the time of
sale. When the wholesaler ultimately sells the product to the end user at the end-user contract price, the
wholesaler charges us (“chargeback™) for the difference between the list price and the end-user contract price and
such chargeback is offset against our initial estimated contra asset.

Expense recognition

Cost of sales represents the costs of the products which we have sold and consists of labor, raw materials,
components, packaging, quality assurance and quality control, shipping and manufacturing overhead costs and
the cost of finished products .purchased from third parties. Our inventories are valued at the lower of cost or
market as determined under the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method.

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred or consumed and consist primarily of salaries and
other personnel-related expenses, as well as depreciation of equipment, allocable facility, raw material and
production expenses and contract and consulting fees. We have invested and will continue to invest in research
and development to expand our new product offerings and grow our business.

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions and other personnel-
related expenses, as well as costs for travel, trade shows and conventions, promotional material and catalogs,
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advertising and promotion, facilities, risk management and professional fees. We believe that our selling, general
and administrative expenses will continue to increase in-line with the growth of our core generic and proprietary
business. :

Stock-based compensation

Stock-based compensation related to research and development costs and selling, general and administrative
expenses are presented separately in our consolidated statements of operations. Stock-based compensation
represents the difference between the exercise price of options granted and the deemed fair value of our common
stock on the grant date in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees and its related interpretations. We recognize stock-based compensation over the option
vesting period, typically four years, primarily on an accelerated basis using the graded vesting method in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 28 Accounting for Stock Appreciation
Rights and Other Variable Stock Option Plans. '

We have recorded deferred stock-based compensation related to unvested options granted to employees and
outside directors. Based upon the number of unvested options outstanding as of December 31, 2003, we expect to
amortize approximately $1.3 million of deferred stock-based compensation in future periods as follows: $0.8
million in 2004; $0.4 million in 2005; and $0.1 million in 2006. We anticipate that future stock option grants will
be issued at the reported market price of our common stock on the date of grant and that no deferred stock-based
compensation expense will result from future option. grants.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 (“FIN 46”). FIN 46 requires
consolidation, beginning for fiscal periods ending after December 15, 2003, of entities in which we absorb a
majority of the entity’s expected losses, receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both, as a
result of ownership, contractual or other financial interests in the entity. Currently, entities are consolidated when
the company has a controlling financial interest through ownership of a controlling voting interest in an entity.

We hold a 50% ownership interest in Drug Source Company, a joint venture with three other partners to
purchase raw materials for resale to pharmaceutical companies, including ourselves. We have continued. to
account for our investment in Drug Source Company under the equity method. Accordingly, FIN 46 will not
have a material impact on our financial statements or results of operations.

In addition, the FASB has recently issued the following standards which did not have, and are not
anticipated to have, a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, was issued in April 2003. This Statement amends and clarifies financial
accounting and reporting for hedging activities and for derivative instruments (including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts.) These changes are intended to improve.financial reporting by
requiring contracts with comparable characteristics to be accounted for similarly. This Statement is effective for
contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, was issued in May 2003. This Statement establishes standards for
clarifying and measuring certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It
requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability. Many of those
instruments could previously be classified as equity. This Statement is effective for financial instruments entered
into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at.the beginning of the first interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

"The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time
maximizing the income we receive from our activities without increasing risk. Some of the securities that we
invest in may have interest rate risk. This means that a change in prevailing interest rates may cause the fair value
of the principal amount of the investment to fluctuate. For example, if we hold a security that was issued with a
fixed interest rate at the prevailing rate and the prevailing rate later rises, the fair value of the principal amount of
our investment will probably decline.

To minimize this risk, we intend to maintain an investment 'p'ortfolio of cash equivalents and short-term
investments consisting of high credit quality securities, including commercial paper, government and
non-government debt securities and money market funds. We do not use derivative financial instruments. The
average maturity of the debt securities in which we invest has been less than 90 days and the maximum maturity
has been three months. Because our investments are diversified and are of a short-term nature, a hypothetical one
or two percentage point change in interest rates would not have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements. :

We have operated primarily in the United States and the majority of our activities with our collaborators
outside the United States to date have been conducted in U.S. dollars. Our only other significant transactions. are
in Canadian doliars, and we do not believe we have a material exposure to foreign currency risk because of the
relative stability of the Canadian dollar in relation to the U.S. dollar. A 10% adverse change in currency
exchange rates of the Canadian versus the U.S. dollar would not have a material effect on our consolidated
results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. Accordingly, we have not had any material exposure to
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule are included in Part III, Item 15
(a) (1) and (2) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors

Board of Directors
American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc.
(“Company”) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. Our
audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15. These financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc. at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
and the consolidated results of their operations -and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/  Ermnst & Young LLP

Chicago, [llinois
F_ebruary 13, 2004




AMERICAN PHARMACEUTICAL PARTNERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands except share data)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .. ........ ...ttt
Accounts receivable, less allowances for doubtful accounts of $510 in 2003 and

$801 in 2002 and net chargebacks of $57,989 in 2003 and $50,2121in 2002 ... ...

IV ONIOTIES . . oottt e e
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ..................................
Deferred inCOmMe taXes . .. .. oo vttt it e e e e e

Total CUITENE @SSELS . . v v ittt ettt ettt et ettt n e,
Deferred InCome taXes . . ...ttt it e e e e e
Property, plant and equipment, DEE ... ... ... ittt e
Investment in Drug Source Co., LLC .. ... .. .. ... .
Product license rights and other non-current assets, net of accumulated amortization of
$202in 2003 and $90in 2002 . .. oot e
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization of $1,702 in 2003 and $851 in
2002 e e e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accountspayable ......... ... e
ACCIUBA BXPEIMSES . oo vttt i ittt e e e e

Total current liabilities ........... ... .. ...
Deferred INCOmMeE tAXES . . ..t vttt e e e e

Total liabilities . ..... ... i e e
Stockholders’ equity: :
Common stock—$.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 76,514,964 and
75,365,298 shares issued in 2003 and 2002, respectively .. ...................
Additional paid-in capital ................. ... .. ... e
Amounts due from American BioScience,Inc. ....... ... ... .. .. . ..
Deferred stock-based compensauon .......................................
Retained €arnings . ... ...... ..t iiiit e
Accumulated other comprehensive income (I0ss) . ..............cii it
Less treasury stock, at cost and inclusive of fees, 6,646,398 and 5,050,317 common
shares in 2003 and 2002, respectively ... ... ... o .

Total stockholders’ equity . ...........co i
Total habilities and stockholders’ equity ........... ... ... .. ...

See accompanying notes.
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December 31,
2003 2002

$ 58,625 $ 39,771

31,402 21,278
110,384 77,736
7,340 3,610
7,948 5,698

215,699 148,093
— 2,204
77,340 62,637
5,166 3,178

-3,027 1,460

2,553 3,404

$303,785 $220,976

$ 26,560 $ 13,670
29120 26,598

55,680 40,268
2,044 R

57,724 40,268

77 75
201,009 189,605
(21,132)  (22,567)

(1,309)  (1,976)
123,550 51,857
- 140 (11

(56,274)  (36,275)
246,061 180,708
$303,785 $220,976




AMERICAN PHARMACEUTICAL PARTNERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands, except per share data)

Netsales ...t e e e $351,315 $277,474 $192,029
Costofsales ... .. i e 159,938 140,512 121,619
Gross PrOfit . ..ot 191,377 136,962 - 70,410
Operating expenses: ,

Researchand development .. ......... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... 22,507 14,474 13,790

Selling, general, and administrative ........... ... ... .. . ..., ... 52,719 44,285 30,911

Stock-based compensation .. ....... ... ... o i 1,215 2,347 2,491

Gain on litigation seftlements, net ........... .. ... ..., — — (750)

Equity in net income of Drug Source Company, LLC ................ (1,837) (1,666) (1,414)

Total Operating eXpPenses . .. ... ...vverneeerineeennnernnn. 74,604 59,440 45,028

Income from operations ........ I . 116,773 77,522 25,382
Interest income (includes $1,221, $1,244 and $1,104 from American ‘

BioScience, Inc. in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively) ................ 1,758 2,135 1,204
Interest and other EXPense .. .. ... ... vttt 537 (1,358) (4,419)
Income before INCome taxes . .. ... .ottt 119,068 78,299 22,167
Provision forincome taxes . .........c i RERTRRUI 47,375 33,100 9,539
Nl IO vttt ettt e e e e e e 71,693 45,199 12,628
Imputed preferred stock dividends .. ........... ... ..o o — — (951)
Income applicable to common stock ......... ...l $ 71693 $ 45,199 § 11,677
Income per common share:

BaSiC oot $ 103 § 062 § 031
Diluted . ... .o e $ 09 $ 060 $ 020
The fair value of common shares earned by Premier Purchasing Partners, L.P.

has been deducted from net sales as follows: .. ......... ... ... ...... $ — 5 — § 1,754
Research and development costs include purchases from Drug Source .

Company, LLCasfollows: ........ .. ... .. i i $ 1,842 $ 1,542 $ 1,066
The composition of stock-based compensation is as follows: ]

Research and development .. ..., $ 7008 195§ 182
Selling, general and administrative ..................... e 1,145 2,152 2,309

$ 1215 § 2347 § 2491

-See accompanying notes.
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AMERICAN PHARMACEUTICAL PARTNERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Series B Series C Series D
Common Stock Common Stock Convertible Convertible Convertible
$0.001 Par Value No Par Value Preferred Stock Preferred Stock Preferred Stock

Shares  Amount. Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount

‘ (In thousands, except share data)
Balance at January 1, 2001 —_— — 22,836,548, 9,268 4,231,585 15,000 1,410,530 5,000 6,347,325 22,500

Issuance of common stock earned by

Premier .......o.iiiii it — — 161,955 1,906 — —_ — — — —
Exercise of stock options ........ ... ' 10,950 — 1,274,025 139 — — — — — —_
Grants of stock options, net of ] ,

forfeitures . ..............oooiin, — — —_ 6,260 — —_ - — — —
Amortization of deferred stock-based

ComPensation . .. ..., ..o —_ — —_ — — — — — — —
Net advances to American BioScience, '

e — — — — — —_ — — — —

Payment by American BioScience, Inc.
of share of liability to VivoRx, Inc.,
net of related deferred income taxes . . —

Issuance of warrants ................ —

Exercise of warrants ............. ... 273,487 — — — — — — - — —

Recapitalization of company in
Delaware ............cooovionnt. 36,408,792 36 (24,272,528) (21,992) — — — — — —

Conversion of preferred stock into
common stock ..., ... 22,215,713 22 — —  (4,231,585) (15,000) (1,410,530) (5,000) (6,347,325) (22,500)

Net proceeds from sale of common stock i
in initial public offeéring ........... 13,500,000 14 — — — — — — —

Accrual of distribution to American
BioScience, Inc. for product license
rights .......... e —

Comprehensive income:

Netincome ...................
Foreign currency translation loss . .
Comprehensive income .............

Imputed preferred stock dividends . .. ..

Balance at December 31,2001 .. ..., .. 72,408,942
Exercise of over-allotment option, net of
" underwriting discount .. ........... 2,025,000 2 — — — —
Exercise of stock options ............ 874,796 1 — — — —
Issuance of stock for employee
retirement and stock purchase plans . . 56,560 — — — — — — — — —
Grants of stock options, net of
forfeitures ............... ... ... — — — — — — — —_ — _
Amortization of deferred stock-based
compensation ... ..... .. — — — — — — — — — —
Net advances to American BioScience,
Inc. .o — — —_— — — —_ — — — —
Payment by American BioScience, Inc.
of share of liability to VivoRx, Inc.,
net of related deferred income taxes . . —
Tax benefit of stock option exercises and
license amortization .............. —
Comprehensive income:
Netincome ................... —
Foreign currency translation loss .. —
Comprehensive income ............. —
Purchase of common stock ........... —

Balance at December 31,2002 ........ 75,365,298
Exercise of stock options ............ 968,435
Issuance of stock for employee

retirement and stock purchase plans . . 145,231 — —_ .- — —_
Grants of stock options, net of

forfeitures ...................... — — — — — — — — — —
Grants of restricted stock, net of

forfeitures ................... ... 36,000 — — — — — — — -— —_ )
Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensation ................... —
Net advances to American BioScience,

— 4,026 — - — — — —

— — 393 — — — — — —
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See accompanying notes
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AMERICAN PHARMACEUTICAL PARTNERS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Amounts Due
Additional From Deferred Retained Other Treasury Stock
Paid-in American Stock-based Earnings Comprehensive —————————
Capital  BioScience, Inc. Compensation (Deficit) Income (Loss) Shares Amount  Total

(In thousands, except share data)

Balance at Janvary 1,2001 ... .......... ... — - (7,109) (944) (5.019) (1 — — 38,699
Issuance of common stock earned by Premier . — — — — -, — —_ 1.906
Exercise of stock options . ........... ... .. 23 — — — — — — 162
Grants of stock options, net of forfeitures .. .. — — (6,260) —_ — — — _—
Amortization of deferred stock-based

COMPENSAtION . ..o vuniii e —_ — 2,491 — — — —_ 2.491
Net advances to American BioScience, Inc. . . . — (13,852) — — — — — (13,852)

Payment by American BioScience, Inc. of
share of liability to VivoRx, Inc., net of

" related deferred income taxes . ... ........ — — — — — — - 4,026
Issuance of warrants . ........... .. ....... — — — — — — — 393
Exercise of warrants ..................... — — — —_ — —_ — —_
Recapitalization of company in Delaware .. .. 21,956 — — — — —_ —_ _
Conversion of preferred stock into common . .
stock L. 56,012 —_ — - - — — 13,534
Net proceeds from sale of common stock in '
initial public offering .................: 131,026 - — — — — — 131,040
Accrual of distribution to American
BioScience, Inc. for product license rights . . (60,000) — — - — — — (60,000)
Comprehensive income:
NEtIICOME ..o\ veeet e ainneens — — — 12,628 - — — 12,628
Foreign currency translation loss ....... — — — — 6) — — (6)
Comprehensive income .. ...........o.on — — — — -~ — — 12,622
Imputed preferred stock dividends . ......... — — — 951 — — — (951)
Balance at December 31,2001 ............. 149,017 (20,957) 4,713) 6,658 [©)] — — 130,070
Exercise of over-allotment option, net of '
underwriting discount .. ....... ... 20,086 — — — — — — 20,088
Exercise of stock options .. ............... 1,911 — — — — —_ — 1,912
Issuance of stock for employee retirement and
stock purchase plans . ........... ... ..., 385 — — — —_ — — 385
Grants of stock options, net of forfeitures .. .. (389) — 447 — — — — 58
Amortization of deferred stock-based
COMPENSAtON .. ... ..o.ovvveiiienn.nn. — — 2,290 — —_ —_ — 2,290
Net advances to American BioScience, Inc. . .. — (1,610) —_ — — — — (1,610)
Payment by American BioScience, Inc. of :
share of liability to VivoRx, Inc., net of
related deferred income taxes ............ 14,640 —_ — —_ — — — 14,640
Tax benefit of stock option exercises and
license amortization . .................. 3,955 — — — — — — 3,955
Comprehensive income:
Netincome ............c..ooiivnn — — — 45,199 — — — 45,199
Foreign currency translation loss ... ..., —_ — — — 4 — — 4)
Comprehensive income .................. —_ — —_ — — — — 45.195
Purchase of common $tock ... .....ooovvnnn —_ - — — — 5,050,317 (36,275 (36,275)
Balance at December 31,2002 ... .......... 189,605 (22,567) (1,976) 51,857 (1) 5,050,317  (36,275) 180,708
Exercise of stock options ................. 3,101 — — — — —_ — - 3,103
Issuance of stock for employee retirement and . :
stock purchaseplans ................... 1,071 — — — — — — 1,071
Grants of stock options, net-of forfeitures .. .. 19 — 19 — — — — —
Grants of restricted stock, net of forfeitures . . . 529 — (529) —_ — — — —
Amortization of deferred stock-based
COMPENSALON ..\ .uvee e eane s — — 1,215 — — — — 1,215
Net advances to American BioScience, Inc. . . . — 1,435 — — — — — 1,435
Tax benefit of stock option exercises and
license amortization ................... 6,684 - — — — — — 6,684
Comprehensive income:
Netincome ........covveuvnviien., — — — 71,693 — — — 71,693
Foreign currency translation gain ... .. — — — — 151 — — 151
Comprehensive income ............... ... — — - — — — — 71.844
Purchase of common StocK ... c.vvvian . —_ —_ — — — 1,596,081  (19,999) (19,999)
Balance at December 31,2003 ............. $201,009 $(21,132) $(1,309) $123,550 $140 6,646,398 $(56.274) $246,061

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
NEEINCOME o vttt e et e et et e e e e e e e $ 71,693 $45199 $ 12,628
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
DEPIECIAtION . ...\t e e e e s 8,039 9,069 8,422
AMOTHZAON . .\ oottt ettt et e e e e e e e 963 911 930
Imputed interest on liability to VivoRx, Inc. ................... . ... ... ... — 1,314 2,332
Stock-based compensation ....... ... e 1,215 2,347 2,491
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ........................ 6 31 214
Deferred INCOME tAXES . . ...ttt et e 1,998 (3,281) (358)
Equity in net income of Drug Source Company LLC ...................... (1,988) (1,666) (1,414)
Common stock earned by Premier ............ .. .. ... ... .. ... — — 1,754
Tax benefit on stock Option eXercises . . ...t 5,125 2,355 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, Net . . ... oo 10,124) . (5,629) (80)
TIVENIOTIES oottt et e e e e e e e e (32,648) (26,483) (15,613)
Prepaid expenses and other CUITENt aSSets .. ... .. uviiin v iniinnn cveannn (3,730) (1,141) (1,618)
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses . ....... . 16,976 14,837 5,317
Liabilityto VivoRx, Inc. ... ... — — (3,400)
Net cash provided by operating activities . . ...t i 57,525 37,863 11,605
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plantand equipment .. ............ ... ..o, 22,753y (17,916) (8,846)
‘Purchase of product license rights andother ................ ... ............. (1,679) (1,250) (300)
Net cash used in investing activities . ... ....... ... ... o i i (24,432)  (19,166) (9,146)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: ’
Payments on long-termdebt ... ... — — (18,939)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options ............... .. .. e 3,103 1,912 162
Proceeds from sale of stock under employee retirement and stock purchase plans PN 1,071 385 —
Payment of license fee to American BioScience,Inc. .......................... —_ (60,000) —
(Increase) decrease in amounts due from American BioScience,Inc. .............. 1,435 (1,610) (13,852)
Payment of deferred financing costs ......... ... ... .o oL — (110) (4,689)
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net . ... . e — 20,088 131,040
Purchase of treasury stock, met ... ..o o (19,999)  (36,275) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ................... . ... . ... ... (14,390) (75,610) 93,722
Effect of foreign currency translation . . . .........vovit i 151 4) 6
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ............. ... ... ... 18,854  (56,917) 96,187
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period .............. ... ... ... ... ... 39,771 96,688 501
Cash and cash equivalents atend of peried ............ ... ... . ... ... il $ 58,625 $39,771 §$ 96,688
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for: _
=2 =] S P $ 6 $ 10 § 2423
Income taxes (including in lieu of payments to American BioScience, Inc.) ........ 36,684 32,567 7,764
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Accrual of distribution payable to American BioScience, Inc. for product license
111 S D $ — $§ — 360,000
Payment by American BloSc1ence Inc. of share of liability to VivoRx, Inc., net of
related deferred tax asset of $-, $9,360, and $2,574 in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
TESPECHVELY . .. e — 14,640 4,026
Imputed preferred stock dividends . ............ ... il — — 951
Conversion of series A,B,C and D preferred stock into common stock . .. .......... — — 56,034

See accomipanying notes
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AMERICAN PHARMACEUTICAL PARTNERS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2003

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Incorporated in Delaware in 2001, as successor to a California corporation formed in 1996, American
Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc. (“APP” or the “Company”) is a majority owned subsidiary of American
BioScience, Inc., a California corporation. At December 31, 2003, American BioScience owned 47,984,160
shares, or 68.7%, of our outstanding common stock. -

American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc. is a specialty pharmaceutical company that develops, manufactures
and markets injectable pharmaceutical products. Our primary focus is in the oncology, anti-infective and critical
care markets, and we believe that we offer one of the most comprehensive generic injectable product portfolios in
the pharmaceutical industry across these therapeutic categories. We manufacture products in all three of the basic
forms in which injectable products are sold: liquid, powder and lyophilized, or freeze-dried. In November 2001,
we obtained from American BioScience the exclusive North American rights to manufacture and sell
ABRAXANE™, a proprietary injectable oncology product candidate that is a patented formulation of paclitaxel.
Paclitaxel is the active ingredient in Taxol®, one of the world’s top selling cancer drugs.

We began operations in 1996 with an initial focus on marketing and distributing in the United States generic
pharmaceutical products manufactured by others. On June 1, 1998, our predecessor corporation acquired
Fujisawa USA, Inc.’s generic injectable pharmaceutical business, the “Fujisawa acquisition”. We have since
derived substantially all of our revenue from the sale of products manufactured in the facilities acquired from
Fujisawa.

Qur products are generally sold to pharmaceutical wholesale companies which then distribute products to
end-user hospitals, long-term care facilities, alternate care sites, and clinics. Unlike the fragmented retail
pharmacy market for oral products, the injectable pharmaceuticals marketplace is largely made up of end users
who have relationships with group purchasing organizations, (“GPOs”), or distributors which specialize in a
particular therapeutic class, such as oncology. GPOs enter into collective purchasing agreements with us and
other pharmaceutical suppliers for products in an effort to secure favorable drug pricing on behalf of their end-
user members.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of American
Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc., our wholly owned subsidiary Pharmaceutical Partners of Canada, Inc. and our
investment in Drug Source Company, LLC, which is accounted for using the equ1ty method. All material
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

A wholly owned subsidiary of American Pharmaceutical Partners holds a 50% interest in Drug Source
Company. Drug Source Company is a joint venture with three other partners established in June 2000 to purchase
raw materials for resale to pharmaceutical companies, including us. Because our 50% interest in Drug Source
Company does not provide financial or operational control of the entity, we account for our interest in Drug
Source Company under the equity method. Our equity in the net income of Drug Source Company, net of
intercompany profit on purchases of inventory, is classified in operating expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income. Research and development expense includes purchases from Drug Source
Company of $1.8 million, $1.5 million and $1.1 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Ending inventory
included purchases from Drug Source Company of $0.8 million and $1.8 million at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively.
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Fiscal Year

We use a 52-week or 53-week fiscal year that ends on the Saturday nearest to December 31. For clarity of
presentation, all periods are presented as if the year ended on December 31. Each of our fiscal years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 contained 52 weeks.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements. Estimates may also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
We routinely estimate chargeback liabilities and other sales allowances. Actual results could differ from those

estimates.

Three-for-two Stock Split

On August 8, 2003, our Board of Directors declared a three-for-two stock split effected in the form of a
stock dividend payable on September 2, 2003 to- stockholders of record on August 18, 2003. As a result, our
consolidated financial statements reflect an increase in the number of outstanding shares of our common stock
and the transfer of $0.001 per share of these additional shares from additional paid-in capital. We have adjusted
all share and per share amounts to reflect the effect of the stock split for all fiscal years presented.

Cash and Cash Equivalenfs

It is our policy to include in cash equivalents all highly liquid investments that have a maturity of three
months or less at the time of acquisition.

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk

We typically have multi-year contractual agreements with GPOs and individual hospital groups to supply
our products to end-user hospital and alternate site customers. As is traditional in the pharmaceutical industry, a
significant amount of our generic pharmaceutical products are sold to end users under GPO contracts through a
relatively small number of drug wholesalers, which comprise the primary pharmaceutical distribution chain in
the United States. Three wholesalers collectively, and approximately proportionately, represented 87%, 92% and
83% of our sales in fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and represented 89% and 88% of accounts
receivable at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. To help control our credit exposure, we. routinely
monitor the creditworthiness of our customers, review outstanding customer balances on a regular basis and
record allowances for bad debts as necessary. During 2003, we obtained insurance coverage to protect against
risk of significant credit loss in our largest customers. Historical credit loss has been insignificant.
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Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market as determined under the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”)
method, as follows: -

December 31,
2003 2002
(in thousands)
Finished g00dS .. . . .o\ttt it e e $ 30,300 $26,268
WOTK AN PrOCESS .+« oottt e e e 15,948 14,171
Raw MAaterials . ..ottt ittt e e e 64,136 37,297

$110,384 $77,736

" At December 31, 2003, raw materials included $27.6 million of paclitaxel, in anticipation of the production
of launch quantities of AB“RAXANETM beginning in 2004. In the event regulatory approval for metastatic breast
cancer or commercial launch of ABRAXANE™ is delayed or not attained, we anticipate that we would be able
recover a substantial portion of our investment in paclitaxel raw material inventory; however, we expect that we
would have to write-off any commercial ABRAXANE™ finished goods inventory, of which we currently have
none. On March 11, 2004 we entered into an agreement with American BioScience under which the parties
agreed to share certain costs of any unsaleable ramp-up inventory of ABRAXANE™ that is manufactured in
preparation for its projected launch.

- Property, Plant and Equipment

‘Property, plant and equipment is stated on the basis of cost or allocated acquisition value. Provisions for
depreciation are computed for financial reporting purposes using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of the related asset as follows: ‘

Buildings and improvements . ............. ... e 10-30 years
Machinery and equipment . ......... . ... 3-10 years
Furniture and fixtures . ........ ... . 5-7 years

Deéreciation expense was $8.0 million, $9.1 million and $8.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Depreciation expense declined $1.1 million in 2003, as compared to 2002, as
equipment assigned estimated five year useful lives in the Fujisawa acquisition became fully depreciated during
2003. : C

Property, plant, and equipment consist of the following:

Décember 31,
2003 2002
(in thousands)
Land ..t e $ 2,589 § 2,384
Building and improvements . ... .......o.uuenuteen i 37,376 34,257
Machinery and equipment ................. e e e 41,979 37,593
Furniture and fIXIUIeS . . ..o e e e 9,621 5,892
ConSruCON IN PrOZIESS .« oo ot it v ettt et e e e et e e e e e 28,844 17,587
' o 120,409 97,713
Less allowance for depreciation .. ..............oetiuiiririniineenn.. (43,069) (35,076)

$ 77,340 § 62,637
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We are implementing a new enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) business system application during 2003
and have entered into various licensing and support agreements. At December 31, 2003, we have capitalized, in
construction in progress, $13.2 million related to software license fees, hardware and other implementation costs
related to this project.

Deferred Financing Costs

Certain expenses incurred in connection with obtaining our credit facility in 2001 were deferred and are
being amortized over the life of the facility using the straight-line method. Deferred financing costs are stated net
of accumulated' amortization in the consolidated balance sheets.

Product Rights and Other Assets

In October 2003, in connection with a development and commercialization agreement for a low-molecular
weight heparin product, we acquired $1.25 million of the preferred stock of an Australian company, Alchemia
Limited, and agreed to make future equity investments equal to half Alchemia's cost of direct process
development, up to an additional $1.25 million. Additionally, we agreed to make an interest-free loan to
Alchemia of up to $1.25 million, of which no amount was outstanding at December 31, 2003, in relation to
process scale-up work, which loan is convertible at our option into equity of Alchemia Limited. As this
investment resulted in less than 20% ownership and we will not have the ability to exercise significant influence
over Alchemia, we have accounted for this investment under the cost method.

In July 2003, we acquired from Eli Lilly Canada Inc. the Canadian market and trademark rights for four
proprietary products, Tazidime® (ceftazidime), Kefurox® (cefuroxime), Kefzol® (cefazolin), Dobutrex®
(dobutamine) as well as the Canadian market rights for injectable vancomycin, for $0.3 million. In December
2003, we also obtained the Canadian market rights to tobramycin from Eli Lilly Canada. These rights will be
amortized over the estimated life of the agreements.

In October 2002, we acquired intellectual property rights for certain pharmaceutical packaging products, in
exchange for $1.25 million in cash. The agreement provides for payment of future royalties and other future
consideration which is primarily contingent upon attainment of specific cumulative net sales goals. Upon the
product’s expected 2004 launch, the initial cash payment will be amortized over five years using the straight-line
method; contingent consideration and royalties will be expensed in the period we become obligated to pay such
amounts.

Product license rights are stated net of accumulated amortization in the consolidated balance sheets.
Estimated aggregate amortization expense based on the current carrying value of amortizable product and
intellectual property rights will be approximately $0.4 million for each of the next five fiscal years.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue upon shipment of products to customers, upon fulfillment of acceptance terms, if any,
and when no significant contractual obligations remain. Net sales reflect the reduction of gross sales for
estimated wholesaler chargebacks (as more fully described below), estimated contractual allowances and
estimated early payment discounts. We provide for estimated returns at the time of sale based on historic product
return experience.

Prior to our 2002 repurchase of all the Company’s common shares held by Premier Purchasing Partners,
L.P. (“Premier”) (see Note 9), the fair value of common stock earned by Premier and administrative fees payable
to Premier were deducted from net sales. Such arrangements by which Premier could earn equity in the Company
ceased in 2001.
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Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales.

Chargebacks

The majority of our products are distributed through independent pharmaceutical wholesalers. In accordance
with industry ‘practice, sales to wholesalers are initially, transacted at wholesale list price. The wholesalers then
generally sell to an end user, normally a hospital, alternative healthcare facility, or an independent pharmacy, at a
lower price previously contractually established between the end user and us.

When we initially record a sale to a wholesaler, the sale and resulting receivable are recorded at our list
price. However, experience indicates that most of these selling prices will eventually be reduced to a lower,
end-user contract price. Therefore, at the time of the sale, a contra asset is recorded for, and revenue is reduced
by, the difference between the list price and the estimated average end-user contract price. This is calculated by
product code, taking the expected number of outstanding wholesale units sold that will ultimately be sold under
end-user contracts multiplied by the anticipated, weighted-average contract price. Thus, a contra asset is
established, reducing the initial wholesaler receivable by the difference between the initial list price and the
estimated, ultimate end-user selling price. In addition, cash advance credits are also periodically issued to
wholesalers as a standard trade practice and an estimated reserve for such discounts is established at the time of
sale. When the wholesaler ultimately sells the product to the end user at the end-user contract price, the
wholesaler charges us (“chargeback™) for the difference between the list price and the end-user contract price and
such chargeback is offset against our initial estimated contra asset.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences
between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax -bases as well as net operating loss and capital loss carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary’ differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the consolidated financial statements in the period that includes
the enactment date, ‘

Since our December 14, 2001 initial public offering, American Pharmaceutical Partners files separate,
stand-alone federal income tax returns. For state purposes, depending on applicable state laws, APP may file a
separate return or a consolidated tax return with American BioScience. Prior to the initial public offering, for
federal and applicable state income tax purposes, our taxable income was included in the consolidated income
tax returns of American BioScience. All allocated income taxes have been accounted for through the
intercompany account with American BioScience.:

Research and Development Costs

Costs relating to the research and development of new products or production capabilities are charged to
expense as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

As: permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 Accounting for Stock-based
Compensation (“SFAS No. 123”) as amended by No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure, we account for stock options granted to our employees and outside
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directors and stock purchase rights issued to employees using the intrinsic value method of accounting, as
prescribed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and
related interpretations. Under the intrinsic value method, no compensation expense is recorded if the.exercise
price of our stock options is equal to or greater than the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant.
Prior to the initial public offering, certain stock options were granted with exercise prices below the fair value of
our common stock as estimated by management for financial reporting purposes. For these stock options, we
recorded deferred stock-based compensation for the difference between the exercise price and estimated fair
value on the date of grant. The excess of fair market value over the exercise price is amortized to expense,
primarily on an accelerated basis, using the graded vesting method over the stock options’ vesting period.

Had compensation cost for grants of stock-based compensation been determined using the fair value method
of accounting as prescribed by SFAS No. 123, our net income and income per share would have been reduced to
the pro forma amounts indicated below: ‘

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
; (in thousands, except per share data)

Net income, as TEPOrted .. ...\ .\ vtenrt ettt $71,693 $45,199  $12,628
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense 1ncluded in reported net C

income, net of related tax effects .......... . i, 731 1,338 1,420
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under

the fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects ...... (3,695) - (2,247) (1,595)
Pro forma net inCOME . . . .\ v ot et e et e e e et e e e e e e $68,729 $44,290 $12,453
Net income per common share:
Basic—as reported . . . . .. PP P $ 1.03 $ 062 $ 031
Basic—pro forma ............. R P $§ 099 $ 061 $ 031
Diluted—as reported .. ...ttt e e 8099 $ 060 $ 020
Diluted—pro forma ............... e $ 094 $ 059 $ 020

This pro forma disclosure is not likely to be indicative of pro forma results that may be expected in future
years because options vest over several years, pro forma compensation expense is recognized as the options vest
and additional awards may also be granted.

For purposes of determining the pro forma effect under SFAS No. 123 of stock options granted to
employees and directors, the fair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant based on the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Risk-freerate ........ . ... i i 29% 3.6% 44%
Dividend yield .. ... ... ... = — —
Expected lifeinyears ....... ... . i S 5 5
Volatility ................. [ R . 67% 2% T0%

Assumptions in determining the pro forma effect under SFAS No. 123 of employee stock purchase rights
issued to employees under our employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) include an expected life of 1.4 and 0.7
years for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and a weighted average risk-free
interest rate of 1.7% for both 2003 and 2002. Other ESPP assumptions are consistent with those used for APP’s
stock option plan described above. The fair value of the rights was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. :
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- Fair, Value of Financial Instruments .

Our financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and our credit facility. Cash equivalents include short-term investments with maturities of three months
or less at the time of acquisition. The carrying value of substantially all our financial instruments approximates
their fair value due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. The interest rates on borrowings under
our bank credit facility are revised periodically to reflect market rate fluctuations.

~ We have not used any derivatives or other foreign currency or interest rate hedging instruments and,
accordingly, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities, has had no effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Per Share Information

Basic income per common share is computed by dividing net income applicable to common stock by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding plus, for periods prior to 2002, the number of common
shares earned by Premier (see Note 9). Dilutive income per common share is computed by dividing net income
applicable to common stock by the weighted-average number of common shares used for the basic calculations
plus potentially dilutive shares for the portion of the year that the shares were outstanding. Potentially dilutive
common shares resulted from outstanding stock options and warrants and, prior to the our December 2001 initial
public offering, Series B, Series C and Series D convertible preferred stock. Calculations of basic and diluted
incomie per common share information are based on the following:

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
(in thousands, except per share data)

Basic and dilutive numerator:

Netincome ............. AR U IR $71,693  $45199 $12,628
Less d1v1dends on senes A convertible preferred Stock ... — — (951)
Net income apphcable tocommonstock-........... . . $71,693  $45,199 $11,677
Denommator: : ' .
ngghted-average common shares outs;anding .......... e 69,673 72711 36,984
“Weighted-average common shares earned by, but not issued to, Premier . . . — — 93
Weighted common shares—Basic ................................. 69,673 72,711 37,077
Net effect of dilutive securities: . ‘
Stock options . ............. T P R 3,072 2,768 3,998
Warrant .. .............. e - - 251
Weighted-average conversion of convertible preferred stock: o
SeriesB .............. o e e P . P — — 6,034
SeriesC ..... P P — — 2,011
SeriesD .............. e . — — 9,051
Weighted common shares—Diluted ........... e 72,7145 75,479 58,422
Income per common share—Basic ............ e P $ 103 § 062 $ 0.31
Income per common share—Diluted ...................... TP $ 099 § 060 § 020
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Employee stock options for which the exercise price exceeded the average market price of our common
stock in the respective fiscal years were excluded from the computation of diluted income per common share as
follows: '

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

(in thousands, except per share data)——
Number of sharesexcluded ............ ... ... ... .. ... ... . 76 200 —
Range of exercise prices . . .............. P A $28.51 - $38.37 $16.00 - $19.30 —

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51 (“FIN 46”). FIN 46 requires
consolidation, beginning for fiscal periods ending after December 15, 2003, of entities in which we absorb a
majority of the entity’s expected losses, receive a majority of the entity’s expected residual returns, or both, as a
resuit of ownership, contractual or other financial interests in the entity. Currently, entities are consolidated when
the company has a controlling financial interest through ownership of a controlling voting interest in an entity.

We hold a 50% ownership interest in Drug Source Company, a joint venture with three other partners to
purchase raw materials for resale to pharmaceutical companies, including ourselves. We have continued to
account for our investment in Drug Source Company under the equity method. Accordingly, FIN 46 will not
have a material impact on our financial statements or results of operations.

In addition, the FASB has recently issued the following standards which did not have, and are not
anticipated to have, a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments -and Hedging Activities, was issued in April 2003. This Statement amends and clarifies financial
accounting and reporting for hedging activities and for derivative instruments (including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts.) These changes are intended to improve financial reporting by
requiring contracts with comparable characteristics to be accounted for similarly. This Statement is effective for
contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, was issued in May 2003. This Statement establishes standards for
clarifying and measuring certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It
requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability. Many of those
instruments could previously be classified as equity. This Statement is effective for financial instruments entered
into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim penod
beginning after June 15, 2003.

3. TRANSACTIONS WITH AMERICAN BIOSCIENCE, INC.
Product License and Manufacturing Agreements

We have secured the North American marketing and manufacturing rights for ABRAXANE™ from
American BioScience, Inc., which is responsible for conducting the clinical studies of ABRAXANE™.
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In November 2001, we signed a perpetual license agreement with American BioScience, Inc. under which
we acquired the exclusive rights to market and sell ABRAXANE™ in North America for indications relating to
breast, lung, ovarian, prostate and other cancers. Under the agreement, we made an initial payment to American
BioScience of $60.0 million and committed to future milestone payments contingent upon achievement of
specified regulatory 'and sales objectives for licensed indications. American BioScience is responsible for
conducting clinical studies in support of ABRAXANE™ and for substantially all costs associated with the
development and obtaining regulatory approval for ABRAXANE™, except that we provided $2.0 million of
ABRAXANE™ for use in clinical trials, the cost of which we charged to research and development expense in
2001. We may receive revenue resulting from this agreement only after our launch of ABRAXANE™ in North
America, which will not occur until after FDA approval is obtained. Even though American BioScience
completed its filing of the NDA for ABRAXANE™ for metastatic breast cancer in March 2004 with a request for
priority review, we cannot predict when the FDA will complete its review of the filing, or when or if the NDA
may be approved. Any resulting profit would be shared equally between American BioScience and us.

The terms of the license agreement were negotiated to reflect the value of the-licensed product rights
acquired, then in late-stage development, American BioScience’s remaining obligation to complete the NDA
filing and the potential sales of the product under other licensed clinical indications. The license agreement was a
product of several months of extensive negotiation with American BioScience involving outside counsel,
investment banks and a nationally recognized valuation firm. Based upon the analysis and recommendations of
our advisors, we believe that the overall terms of the agreement were fair to us, including in comparison to
similar licenses between unrelated parties. The agreement was unanimously approved by the disinterested
members of our Board of Directors with those directors who also have an affiliation with American BioScience
recusing themselves from the vote. There are no restrictions on how American BioScience would use payments
made under the license agreement and we understand such payments have been and will be used both to fund the
development of ABRAXANE™ in relation to our licensed product rights and for other purposes.

In December 2001, upon completion of our initial public offering, we recorded an initial payment to
American BioScience of $60.0 million. In our financial statements, the license agreement was accounted for as
an asset contributed by a principal shareholder using the shareholder’s historical cost basis which was zero, and
the $60.0 million payment was accounted for as a distribution of stockholders” equity. For income tax purposes,
the payment was recorded as an asset and is being amortized over a 15-year period. Because there was no
corresponding charge to income, the income tax benefit of this payment is being credited to stockholders’ equity
as realized.

Future milestone payments which will be earned upon achievement of regulatory events prior to FDA
approval for each licensed indication will be expensed as achieved, while regulatory milestone payments earned
upon FDA approval of those indications will be capitalized and amortized over the expected life of the product.
Any future sales-based milestone payments will be expensed in the period in which the sales milestone is
achieved.

With respect to the first potential ABRAXANE™ indication being studied, metastatic breast cancer, we will
be required to pay American BioScience $10.0 million within 30 days of FDA acceptance for filing of an NDA
for this indication, meaning that the FDA has found the NDA complete on its face in all respects. Upon FDA
approval of the NDA for metastatic breast cancer, we will be required to pay American BioScience an additional
$15.0 million. The $10.0 million payment upon FDA acceptance of filing will be expensed in the period of FDA
acceptance while the $15.0 million payment related to FDA approval will be capitalized and amortized over the
expected life of the product, subject to periodic review for impairment. Regulatory achievements related to other
licensed indications under study, including lung, ovarian and prostate cancers, will trigger further milestone
payments to American BioScience, but only after ABRAXANE™ has received NDA approval related to the
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breast cancer indication. Such payments -generally total $17.5 million per agreed indication. As with the
indication of breast cancer, those payments earned prior to FDA approval for each indication will be expensed,
while amounts earned upon ‘FDA approval of those indications will be capitalized and amortized over the
expected life of the product. We have the option not to make one or more of the milestone payments tied to
indications under study if, following breast cancer approval, sales of the product do hot meet specified levels.

Subsequent to FDA approval of ABRAXANE™ and upon achievement of major annual ABRAXANE™
sales milestones, we would be required to make additional payments which, in the aggregate, could total $110.0
million should annual ABRAXANE™ sales exceed $1.0 billion. The first sales milestone payment of $10.0
million would be triggered-upon achievement of annual calendar year ABRAXANE sales in excess of $200.0
million. Sales milestone payments will be expensed in the period in'which the sales milestone is achieved.

Under the license agreement, any profit on ABRAXANE™ sales in North America would be shared equally
between American BioScience and us. The license agreement defines profit as ABRAXANE™ net sales less cost
of goods sold, selling expenses (including pre-launch production and other expenses which we will continue to
expense as incurred, but which will be accumulated and charged against first profit under the agreement) and an
allocation of related general and administrative expenses. We will expense American BioScience’s share of any
profit earned in our statements of income. Any costs and expenses related to product recalls and product liability
claims generally will be split equally between American BioScience and us and expensed as incurred.

In November 2001, along with the license agreement for ABRAXANE™, we also entered into a
manufacturing agreement with American BioScience under which we agreed to manufacture ABRAXANE™ for
American BioScience and its licensees for sales outside North America. Under this agreement, we have the
exclusive right to. manufacture ABRAXANE™ for sales in North America for a period of three years and the non-
exclusive right to manufacture ABRAXANE™ for sales (a) outside North America and (b) in North America
after expiration of the three year exclusivity period. We will charge American BioScience and its licensees a
customary margin on our manufacturing costs based on whether the product will be used for clinical trials or
commercial sale. The initial term of this agreement is ten years and may be extended for successive two-year
terms by American BioScience. :

Loans to American BioScience, Inc.

Prior to our licensing of ABRAXANE™ in November 2001, we made loans to American BioScience, our
majority shareholder, to support development of ABRAXANE™. Subsequent to formalization of the license and
manufacturing agreements on December 14, 2001, we received a demand promissory note, which replaced prior
notes, from American BioScience for the outstanding loan balancé (“Demand Note”). The Demand Note is
capped at $23.0 million and bears interest at a rate equal to the rate of interest on our credit facility, 5.25% at
December 31, 2003. American BioScience is required to repay any amounts outstanding under the Demand Note
by the earlier of November 20, 2006 or the cumulative payment by APP of $75.0 million of profit on
ABRAXANE™ to American BioScience. As security for American BioScience’s obligations under the Demand
Note, American BioScience pledged and granted to us a security interest in shares of our common stock held by
American BioScience having a fair market value equal to 120% of the balance of the Demand Note.
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American Pharmaceutical Partners charges payments made on American BioScience’s behalf related to
labor and other costs directly related to new product development, income taxes, interest and an agreed allocation
of administrative costs to the American BioScience loan account. A summary of activity in the amounts due from
American BioScience, which is classified as a reduction of stockholders equity in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets, follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2003 2002
L . : : (in thousands)
Balance at beginning of year . ............ ... . $22,567 $20,957
Payments on behalf of American BioScience:

“New product development . ........ . 1,229 6,108
Interest charged to American BioScience .............. e 1,221 1,244
10771 = R 85 107

Reductions in lieu of income tax lability ........... ... . ... ... . L (2,252) (404)
Repayments by American-BioScience .......... ... ... il (1,718) (5,445

$21,132  $22,567

VivoRx, Inc. Settlement

In 2002, American BioScience paid in full the remaining $24.0 million balance owed VivoRx, Inc. as a
result of a litigation settlement, more fully described in Note 13. Under the settlement, we were jointly and
severally liable with American BioScience to pay VivoRx all amounts under the settlement agreement. The
respective boards of directors of the Company and of American BioScience, in consultation with litigation
counsel, passed resolutions allocating $3.4 million of the total $34.0 million settlement obligation to the
Company and the remaining $30.6 million to American BioScience. The settlement ailocation was primarily
based upon American BioScience obtaining clear title and ownership to its intellectual property, including the
intellectual property underlying the ABRAXANE™ product candidate, and, accordingly, being the primary
beneficiary of the settlement. As American BioScience paid VivoRx, our related liability was eliminated and a
corresponding capital contribution was recorded, net of related income tax benefit. Notwithstanding the agreed
settlement allocation between American BioScience and us, we accounted for the entire $30.3 million present
value of the VivoRx litigation settlement as an expense and accrued liability in fiscal 2000.

4. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consist of the following at:

December 31,

2003 2002
(in thousands)
Sales and marketing .. ... ...ttt e $ 8932 § 9,389
Payroll and employee benefits ....... ... ... ... ... . i 7,785 7,470
Legal and insurance . ... ...... e S S 6,383 7,137
Accrued income taxes ........ PP 4,498 1,229

o T S SO e 1,522 1373
S - $29,120 $26,598
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5. CREDIT FACILITY

Our credit facility consists of a $50.0 million revolving line of credit which can be increased to $75.0
million at our request and expires on December 14, 2006. There were no outstanding balances under the credit
facility at either December 31, 2003 or 2002. The interest rate under the revolving line equals the sum of an
adjustable margin rate (1.25% December 31, 2003) plus the greater of the prime rate or the federal funds rate
plus 0.5%. We also have the option of converting revolving line loans to the Eurocurrency rate, as defined.

Loans under the credit facility are collateralized by substantially all of our assets. The credit facility
prohibits us from paying dividends and also includes various other covenants and restrictions. At December 31,
2003, we were in compliance with all covenants.

The credit facility limits the aggregate undrawn amount of all letters of credit and assesses a 3.75% fee on
* the face amount of commercial and standby letters of credit. The letters of credit are payable on demand. There
were no outstanding letters of credit at December 31, 2003 or 2002.

No interest expense was capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

6. LEASES A‘ND COMMITMENTS

We have entered into various operating lease agreements for warehouses, office space, automobiles,
communications, information technology equipment and software, and office equipment. Rental expense
amounted to $2.0 million, $2.2 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001,

respectively.

As of December 31, 2003, future annual minimum lease payments related to non-cancelable operating
leases are as follows:

Amount
Year (in thousands)
2004 e e $1,554
2005 L e e e 640
2006 . 353
2007 e e e e e e e 65
2008 L e 27
TherEa ter . . ... e e 6

$2,645

In February 2004, we entered into a new lease for 45,407 square feet of space for future use as our principal
executive offices in Schaumburg, Illinois. This 12-year lease expires in May 2016 with future minimum lease
payments totaling $11.5 million.

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

We sponsor a 401(k) defined-contribution plan (“401(k) Plan”) covering substantially all eligible
employees. Employee contributions to the 401(k) Plan are voluntary. We contribute an amount equal to 50% of a
covered employee’s eligible contribution up to 6% of a participant’s compensation. Employer contributions vest
over a period of three years. Participants’ contributions are limited to their annual tax deferred contribution limit
as allowed by the Internal Revenue Service. Our total matching contributions to the 401(k) Plan were $1.1
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million, $1.0 million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively. We
may contribute additional amounts to the 401(k) Plan at our discretion. Discretionary employer contributions vest
over a period of six years. We have never made a discretionary contribution to the 401(k) Plan. As of December
31, 2003, 147,421 common shares are reserved for issuqnce under our 401(k) Plan.

8. EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

In December 2001, our Board of Directors adopted the 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).
Under the ESPP, eligible employees may contribute up to 10% of their base earnings toward the semi-annual
purchase of APP common stock. The employees purchase price is the lesser of 85% of the fair market value of
the stock on the first business day of the offer period or 85% of the fair market value of the stock on the last
business day of the semi-annual purchase period. Employees can purchase no more than 625 shares of APP
common stock within any given purchase period. No compensation expense is recorded in connection with the
shares issued from the ESPP. An aggregate of 5,748,966 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance
under the ESPP at December 31, 2003. The ESPP provides for annual increases in the number of shares of APP’s
common stock issuable under the ESPP equal to the lesser of: a) 3,000,000 shares, b) a number of shares equal to
2% of the total number of shares outstanding or ¢) a number of shares as determined by our Board of Directors.
In 2003, 142,815 shares were issued under the ESPP for an aggregate purchase price of $1.0 million. The
weighted average fair values of the purchase rights granted in 2003 and 2002 were $2.71 and $3.68, respectively,
and were issued at a weighted average price of $7.11 and $10.20, respectively. Of the 1,281 employees eligible to
participate, 693 were participants in the ESPP at December 31, 2003.

9. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Three-for-two Stock Split

On August 8, 2003, our Board of Directors declared a three-for-two stock split effected in the form of a
stock dividend payable on September 2, 2003 to stockholders of record on August 18, 2003. As a result, our
consolidated financial statements reflect an increase in the number of outstanding shares of our common stock
and the transfer of $0.001 per share of these additional shares from additional paid-in capital. We have adjusted
all share and per share amounts to reflect the effect of the stock split for all fiscal years presented.

Reincorporation

On December 10, 2001, American Pharmaceutical Partners reincorporated from California into Delaware,
and filed a certificate of incorporation authorizing the issuance of up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock and
up to 6,000,000 shares of preferred stock effective upon the closing of our initial public offering. Then-existing
stockholders received shares of common stock of the Delaware corporation in exchange for their shares of
common stock and preferred stock of the California corporation.

' Initial Public Offering

On December 14, 2001, we completed our initial public offering of 13,500,000 shares of common stock at a
public offering price of $10.67 per share. The offering generated total proceeds of $144.0 million and, after $13.0
million in underwriting discounts and commissions, net proceeds of $131.0 million.

On January 10, 2002, the underwriters for our initial public offering exercised in full their option to
purchase an additional 2,025,000 shares of our common stock at the initial public offering price of $10.67 per
share to cover over-allotments. As a result of this exercise, we received proceeds of $20.1 million, net of
underwriting discounts and commissions of $1.5 million.
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Warrant

Pursuant to an obligation arising from services performed related to the financing of the Fujisawa
acquisition on June 1, 1998, APP issued a common stock purchase warrant to an investment banking firm
covering the purchase of up to 351,189 shares of APP common stock at an exercise price of $2.36 per share. The
fair value of the warrant, $0.4 million based upon the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, was recorded as
deferred financing costs as of the date of the Fujisawa acquisition. The warrant was exercised on December 13,
2001, and the holder of the warrant received 273,487 common shares. Simultaneously the remaining 77,702
warrants were tendered to APP as payment for the shares issued and were retired upon receipt.

Preferred Stock

On December 14, 2001, in conjunction with our initial public offering, all the outstanding shares of our
Series A, B, C, and D preferred stock were converted into an aggregate of 22,215,713 shares of $0.001 par value
common stock. '

In June 1998, we sold 2,821,035 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock for $10.0 million to an
unrelated party. Also, during 1998, we entered into a stock purchase agreement with American BioScience
whereby we sold to American BioScience 4,231,585 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock for $15.0
million, 1,410,530 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock for $5.0 million, and 6,347,325 shares of Series
D convertible preferred stock in consideration of American BioScience’s issue of preferred stock, totaling $22.5
million, in connection with the Fujisawa acquisition. '

We are authorized to issue up to 6,000,000 shares of preferred stock that is not designated as a particular class.
Our Board of Directors may authorize and cause the issuance of the undesignated preferred stock in one or more
series, determine the powers, preferences and rights and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions granted to or
imposed upon any wholly unissued series of undesignated preferred stock and to fix the number of shares
constifuting any series and the designation of the series, without any further vote or action by our stockholders.

Voting Rights

The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record upon such matters
and in such manner as may be provided by law.

Dividends )

We have never paid a dividend on any class of stock and have no current intention of paying cash dividends
in the future. In connection with the establishment of its new credit facility in 2001, APP agreed it would not pay
dividends. In the event there is a liquidation, dissolution or wind up of APP, the holders of our common stock are
entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities and liquidation preferences of any
outstanding shares of preferred stock. Holders of our common stock have no preemptive rights or rights to
convert their common stock into any other securities.

Registration Rights

Following the closing of the initial public offering on December 14, 2001, the holders of 56,861,089 shares
of our common stock, which included shares held by American BioScience, are entitled to registration rights with
respect to their shares. Effective six months after the offering, the holders of these shares can require us to
register all or a portion of their shares. In addition, these holders may require us to include their shares in future
registration statements that we file and may require us to register their shares. Upon registration, these shares
would be freely tradable in the public market without restriction. :
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Generally, all expenses in effecting these registration statements, with the exception of underwriting
discounts and selling commissions, will be borne by us. These registration rights are subject to some conditions
and limitations, among them the right of the underwriters of an offering to limit the number of shares included in
a registration. We agreed to indemnify the holders of these registration rights, and each selling holder has agreed
to indemnify us, against liabilities under the Securities Act, the Securities Exchange Act or other applicable
federal or state law.

Common Stock

In March 1996, in connection with our formation, we sold 20,000,000 shares of no par value common stock
to American BioScience for $1,000.00. In October 1996, APP sold 1,052,640 shares of no par value common
stock to Premier Purchasing Partners, L.P. (“Premier™), a hospital group purchasing organization, for $100.00.

Pursuant to an agreement that expired March 31, 2001, Premier earned, at no cost, additional common
shares of our common stock based upon the level of our sales to Premier’s partners. We accrued for the shares, at
their estimated fair value, as Premier earned the shares. The estimated fair value of shares earned by Premier
amounted to $1.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2001, and was classified as a reduction of net sales in
the accompanying statements of operations. Through December 14, 2001 and just prior to the initial public
offering, 1,861,953 shares of no par value common stock had been earned by and issued to Premier. Premier did
not earn any shares, no shares have been issued and Premier has had no ability to earn shares after March 2001.

Treasury Stock

On April 24, 2003, our Board of Directors amended our stock repurchase program to authorize the
repurchase, from time to time, of up to an additional $20.0 million of our common stock through open market
purchases and/or privately negotiated transactions. No repurchases have been made under the April 24, 2003
authorization. Prior to any repurchases under this authorization, we will need to obtain the consent of our lenders
under the terms of our credit facility, as a previously granted consent has expired without any repurchases having
taken place under that consent.

Pursuant to a December 10, 2002 authorization by our Board of Directors, we repurchased 1,596,081 of our
shares in the 2003 first quarter for $20.0 million. Additionally, in 2002, we repurchased all 4,371,891 shares of
our common stock held by Premier Purchasing Partners LP, for $30.3 million in cash, including transaction costs
and repurchased 678,426 shares of our common stock owned by Biotechnology Development Fund, L.P. for $6.0
million in cash, both pursuant to a stock repurchase program adopted by our Board of Directors on July 26, 2002.
These repurchases were funded using our internal cash resources and are being held as treasury shares to be used
for general corporate purposes. In aggregate, the 6,646,398 common shares held as treasury stock at December
31, 2003 have a cost basis of $8.47 per share.

10. STOCK OPTIONS
1997 Stock Option Plan

During 1998, our Board of Directors authorized the 1997 Stock Option Plan (“1997 Plan™). Under the 1997
Plan, options to purchase shares of APP’s common stock may be granted to certain employees and directors with
an exercise price equal to the estimated fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. The stock
options have a term of 10 years with a vesting period of four years. In accordance with the terms of the 1997
Plan, options granted to employees on or before December 1, 1999 vested immediately upon completion of our
initial public offering on December 14, 2001. No further options will be granted under the 1997 Plan.
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2001 Stock Incentive Plan

In December 2001, our Board of Directors authorized the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (“2001 Plan”). The
2001 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options and restricted stock to employees, including officers
and employee directors, non-qualified stock options to employees, directors and consultants, and restricted stock
and other types of awards. All future option grants will be made solely under the 2001 Plan. At December 31,
2003, there are 10,083,393 options available for grant, and 14,581,898 common shares are reserved for the
exercise of stock options under the 2001 Plan. The number of shares reserved for issuance increases annually on
the first day of each fiscal year by an amount equal to the lesser of a) 6,000,000 shares, b) 5% of the total number
of shares outstanding as of that date, or ¢) a number of shares as determined by our Board of Directors.

Our Board of Directors, or a committee designated by the Board of Directors, administers the 2001 Plan and
has authority to determine the terms and conditions of awards, including the types of awards, the number of
shares subject to each award, the vesting schedule of the awards and the selection of grantees.

The exercise price of all options granted under the 2001 Plan will be determined by our Board of Directors
or a committee designated by our Board of Directors, but in no event will this price be less than the fair market
value of our common stock on the date of grant, unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors with
respect to non-qualified stock options.

2001 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program

The 2001 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Program (“2001 Program”) was adopted as part, and is
subject to the terms and conditions, of the 2001 Plan. The 2001 Program establishes an automatic option grant
program for the grant of awards to non-employee directors.

The 2001 Program is administered by our Board of Directors, or a committee designated by the Board of
Directors. Also, the Board of Directors, or a committee designated by the Board of Directors, will determine the
terms and conditions of awards, and construe and interpret the terms of the program and awards granted under
the program. Non-employee directors may also be granted additional incentive awards, subject to the discretion
of the Board of Directors, or a committee designated by the Board of Directors.

Stock Option Grants to Non-Employee Directors

On July 16, 2002, our Board of Directors approved the grant of an option to purchase 11,250 shares of our
common stock at $2.67 per share to a non-employee director. The options vested immediately. Compensation
expense of $0.1 million associated with these options was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Restricted Stock

On February 25, 2003, 42,000 restricted common shares, having a market value on that date of $14.69 per
share, were issued under the 2001 Stock Option Plan. Three-quarters of the shares vest three years from date of
grant with the remainder vesting four years from the date of grant, subject to active employment. Compensation
expense related to restricted stock grants is based upon the market price on date of grant and charged to earnings
on a straight-line basis over the vesting periods.
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Stock Option Activity

Stock option activity is as follows:

Options Qutstanding Exercisable Options
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Exercise Average Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price
Qutstanding at January 1,2001 ................. 5,508,121 $ 1.49
Granted ............ i 1,915,500 5.90
Exercised .......... ... ... .. ... ... (1,921,987) 0.09
Forfeited ..... ... ... .. . . ... - (319,976) 2.74

Outstanding at December 31,2001 .............. 5,181,658 3.53 2,629,188 $2.19

Granted . .........ooooiii 600,430 10.12 |
Exercised ..... e e (874,776) 2.19
Forfeited .............. .. ..., (317,354) 7.33

Outstanding at December 31,2002 .............. 4,589,978 443 2,395,383 $2.81
Granted ......... ... ... ... .. 1,126,150 16.17
Exercised ........ ... i, (973,746) 3.18
Forfeited ...... ... ... . i, (243.877) 10.81

Outstanding at December 31,2003 .............. 4,498,505 $ 8.05 2,136,269 $3.55

The weighted average fair value of options granted was $11.34, $6.32 and $6.47 for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, as calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The following table summarizes information about all stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2003:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Number of Contractual  Exercise Number of  Exercise
Exercise Price Ranges Shares Life Price Shares Price
$ 200—8500 ... 2,527,614 6.0 $ 293 1,831916 $ 2.66
$ 5.01—81000 ........ . .. 593,964 8.0 7.90 201,046 7.59
$1001—$ 1500 ... ... 785,677 8.8 12.06 103,307 11.39
$1501—820.00 ... ..., 170,250 9.3 15.88 — —
$20.01—825.00 ... ... 161,250 9.6 22.69 — —
$2501—8$30.00 .............. e 116,950 9.5 28.50 — —
$3001—835.00 ... .. 78,300 9.7 32.00 - - —
$35.01—8$40.00 ........ . ... .. 64,500 9.9 37.67 — —
4,498,505 z_2 $ 805 2136269 $ 3.55

Stock-Based Compensation

In connection with the granting of certain options to employees and directors before our initial public
offering, we determined the amount of related compensation recognized to be the difference between the stock
option exercise price and the fair value of our common stock at that date as estimated by our management for
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financial reporting purposes. For these stock options and certain options and restricted stock granted in 2003, the
related compensation was recorded as deferred stock-based compensation that is classified as a reduction of
stockholders’ equity and is amortized to expense primarily on an accelerated basis using the graded vesting
method over the options’ vesting periods. Such expense amounted to $1.2 million, $2.3 million and $2.5 million
for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The remaining amount of stock-based
compensation during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 relates to stock options granted to non-
employee directors. : -

11. INCOME TAXES
Deferred tax assets and liabilities cansist of the following:

December 31,
2003 2002

(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets: .
IOVEIEOTY o o\ttt e eee e e P $ 1,900 $ 1,493
DEPIECIALION ..\ .\ttt ottt et e ettt e e et e e e e e — 1,816
Amortization of non-qualified stock option discounts ................ ... .0vienn.. 1,420 479
CustomEr AiSCOUDLS . . . v\ vttt e et e et e et et et e e 914 = —
Other accruals and reserves .......... T 5,276 - 5,157
Total deferred tax @ssets . . ......oo it - 9510 8945
Deferred tax liabilities: -
Organization COSIS . ...t inenens. P (383) (342)
Depreciation ................... [ e A ... (3,080) —
Other accruals and reserves . . ...... [ (143)  (701)
Total deferred tax liabilities ................... B - (3,606) (1,043)

Net deferred tax asset .. ........oooonieiiiiii $5904 $7902

The provisions for income tax consists of the following:

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)
Current:
Federal .\ ... $36,085 $29.877 $7,764
State .................. e 8,073 6,299 2123
Foreign .. ..o e [, 1,220 205 10
Totalcurrent ........ ... ..ot [ 45,378 36,381 9,897
Deferred:
Federal ... . 1,113 2,457y (302
N 7 1 = O A O 884 (824) (56)
Total deferred .. ...t e 1,997 (3,281) (358)
Total provision for income taxes ............ ... i, $47.375 - $33,100 $9,539

The amount of our allocated current liability for income taxes is accounted for through the due from
American BioScience account and was $2.3 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
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2002, respectively. Since our December 14, 2001 initial public offering, we have not been included in American
BioScience’s consolidated federal income tax return. All allocated income taxes have been accounted for through

the intercompany account with American BioScience.”

A reconciliation of the federal statutory rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

‘ ’ . , 2003 2002 2001
Tax provision at statutory federal rate . ........ P 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal income.tax benefit . ............................. 4.8 5.2 6.1
Permanent items . .. oot ve et e e e e e w02 — —
Tax rate change in state deferred taxes ........... ... ... ... . i 01 — —
Non-includible InCOME . .. ...ttt e ©3 21 19
B e ctive taX LAl . . oottt e e e e 39.8% 423% 43.0%

12. REGULATORY MATTERS

The Company is sub}ect to regulatory oversight by the United States Food and Drug Administration and
other regulatory authorities with respect to the development and manufacturing of its products. Failure to comply
with regulatory requirements can have a significant effect on.our business and operations. Management has
designed and operates a system of controls to attempt to ensure compliance with regulatory requirements.

13. LITIGATION

In October and November of 2003, several purported federal securities’ class action lawsuits were filed
against us, four of our officers, and American BioScience, Inc. in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Illinois. The complaints allege violations of Section 10(b) and Section 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and rule 10b-5, principally relating to purportedly false and misleading statements made
by us regarding ABRAXANE™. Management believes that these claims are without merit and intends to
vigorounsly defend against these claims. '

Additionally, in December 2003 a purported shareholder derivative class action was filed in the Circuit
Court of Cook County, Illinois, Chancery Division against each member of our Board of Directors and one non-
director executive officer. The Company is a nominal defendant in this lawsuit, which alleges claims relating to
essentially the same purported misleading statements that are at issue in the pending securities class action
lawsuits. In the securities class action lawsuits, the Company denies making any misleading statements. The
derivative complaint also alleges claims relating to stock transactions by certain of the director and officer
defendants. The Company believes that there are many defects in this complaint and intends to vigorously defend
this action.

VivoRx, Inc. and VivoRx Diabetes, Inc.

During 1999, VivoRx brought an action against American BioScience, the Company and the Company’s
chairman and chief executive officer relating to the development of the businesses of American BioScience and
the Company while the Company’s chairman and chief executive officer was also serving as the chief executive
officer and chairman of VivoRx. This action was settled in February 2001 with American BioScience obtaining
clear title and ownership to its intellectual property, including the intellectual property underlying American
BioScience’s ABRAXANE™ product candidate. Under the settlement, the Company was jointly and severally
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liable with American BioScience to pay VivoRx the remaining obhganons under the settlement agreement.
American BioScience paid the then outstanding $24.0 million settlement obligation in full in 2002. The
respective boards of directors of the Company and of American BioScience, in-consultation with litigation
counsel, passed resolutions allocating $3.4 million of the total $34.0 million settlement obligation to American
Pharmaceutical Partners and the remaining $30.6 million to Ar‘nerican BioScience. The allocation of the
settlement was primarily based upon American BioScience obtaining clear title and ownership to its intellectual
property, including the intellectual property underlying Ameri}can BioScience’s ABRAXANE™ product
candidate, and, accordingly, being the primary beneficiary of the settlement. As American BioScience paid
VivoRx, our related liability was eliminated and a corresponding capital contribution was recorded, net of related
income tax benefit. Notwithstanding the agreed settlement allocation between American BioScience and us, we
accounted for the entire $30.3 million present value of the VivoRx litigation settlement as an expense and

accrued liability in fiscal 2000

Other

In 1999, a complaint was filed against us related to a manufactu;l’ing and distribution agreement. In response,
we filed a cross-complaint. The parties reached a settlement in March 2000, resulting in a gain of $0.75 million
during the year ended December 31, 2001. This gain was included in litigation settlements, net in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

We are from time to time subject to claims and litigation arising in ordinary courses of business. These
claims have included assertions that the our products infringe existing patents and also claims that the use of our
products has caused personal injuries. We intend to defend vigorousl'y any such litigation that may arise under all
defenses that would be available to the us. In the opinion of managerﬁent the ultimate outcome of proceedings of
which management is aware, will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or

results of operations.

14. NET SALES BY PRODUCT

Net sales by product line is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
o (in thousands)

CHtCal CAIE ..ottt e e et e e e e e e $169,849 $135,370 $100,397
ANt-INTECtiVe ... 95,581 74,082 54,721
OnCOlOZY oo oottt ettt 81,049 61,204 31,179
Contract manufacturing ... ........ooviiiiei e, 4,088 5,840 6,416
OUNET .+« o e e L. 48 978 1,070

! © 351,315 277474 193,783
Less fair value of common shares earned by Premier .............1...... — — (1,754)

{
{ $351,315 $277,474 $192,029

Premier’s members included in above amounts . ............... ..., $ —  $59,720 §$ 53,881
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15. UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
Selected quarterly data for 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

2003
First Second Third Fourth

. (in thousands, except per share data)

NELSAES ..ottt et $81,345 $90,416 $90,354 $89,200
Grossmargin . ............oovveuenenn... e e ... $46,160 $50,626 $48,537 $46,054
Netincome ........... AP $17,055 $19,818 $18,290 $16,530
Income per common share:

BaSIC it $ 024 $ 029 $ 026 $ 024

Diluted .. ... o $ 023 $ 027 $ 025 $ 023

) 2002
First Second Third Fourth

Netsales ................. e $53,852 $69,039 $70,599 $83,984
Gross margin . . ...... e $22,988 $33,719 $33,282 $46,973
Netincome ............... e D S $ 5,107 $11,055 $10,586 $18,451
Income per common share: : ‘

BasiC ot e $ 007 $ 015 $ 015 $ 026

DIluted . ..ot $ 007 $ 014 $§ 014 § 0.25

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

Based on their evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14(c) and
15d-14(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of a date within 90 days of the filing date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processéd, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and are operating in an effective manner.

(b) Changes in internal controls.

There were no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
these controls subsequent to the date of their most recent evaluation.
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PART I

Item 10. Directors and Executive officers of the Registrant

The following sets forth certain information with respect to executlve officers, key employees, dirgctors and
nominees for the board of directors of the Company as of March 1, 2004

Name Age o Position(s)

Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D. .......... 51 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the
. Company
DerekJ.Brown ................... 54  Co-Chief Operating Officer, Secretary and Director of the
Company l
Jeffrey M. Yordon .. ............... 55 Co-Chief Operatmg Officer and Director of the Company
Nicole S. Williams ................ 59 Executive Vice President and Chief F1nanc1al Officer of the’
Company
Jack C. Silhavy ................... 47  Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant Secretary of the
‘ Company
David S. Chen, Ph.D.()(2) . ......... 55 Chairman of Cypaq Investment Management Limited and
: _ : Director of the Company
Stephen D. Nimer, M.D:(2) ......... 49  Physician, Researcl?er and Chief of Hematology Service,
' Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center and Director of the
_ Company
Leonard Shapiro(1) ............... .75 Chief Executive Officer of Shapco, Inc. and Director of the
Company
Kirk K. Calhoun(1) ................ 59  Retired Certified Public Accountant and Director of the
Company
Shahid Ahmed . ................... 52 Vice President of Regulatory Affairs of the Company
LorinDrake ...................... 50 Vice President of Sales of the.Company
DonnaFelch ..................... 56 Vice President and {Treasurer of the Company
Mialgyarto ...................... 50  Vice President of Human Resources of the Company
Thomas Shea . .................... 65 Vice President of Corporate Marketing of the Company
DeenaReyes ..................... 38 Vice President of Marketmo of the Company
SamTrippie . ...t 63  Vice President of Manufacturmg of the Company

(1) Member of the audit committee.
(2) Member of the compensation committee.

Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D. has served as President since July 2001 and Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the board of directors of the Company since its 1nc1ept10n in' March 1996. From its inception to
August 1997, Dr. Soon-Shiong served as the Chief Financial Pfﬁcer of the Company. Since June 1994,
Dr. Soon-Shiong has also served as president, chief financial officer and a director of American BioScience, Inc.,
the Company’s parent. From June 1994 to June 1998, he served a‘s chief executive officer and chairman of the
board of directors of VivoRx, Inc., a biotechnology company. Dr. Sﬁoon—Shiong is named as a co-inventor on over
30 issued U.S. patents. Dr. Soon-Shiong is a fellow of the Americé‘n College of Surgeons and the Royal College
of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. Dr. Soon-Shiong holds a degree in Medicine from the University of the

Witwatersrand and a M.S.C. in Science from the University of British Columbia.

Derek J. Brown has served as the Co-Chief Operating Ofﬁcer since June 2000 and Secretary and a director
of the Company since August 1997. From August 1997 to August 2002, Mr. Brown also served as Chief
Financial Officer of the Company. From November 1995 to June 1998 he served as vice president of finance and

administration and as chief financial officer of VivoRx, Inc. Mr. Brown serves as a director of American
BioScience, Inc. Mr. Brown also has over eight years of public‘ accounting experience, having served as a
manager at Price Waterhouse. Mr. Brown is a Chartered Accountant and holds a Bachelor of Commerce in
Economics and an M.B.A. from the University of the Witwatersrand.
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Jeffrey M. Yordon has served as Co-Chief Operating Officer since June 2000 and a director of the
Company since August 1997. From August 1997 to July 2001, Mr. Yordon served as President of the Company.
From January 1994 to June 1996, Mr. Yordon served as president of Faulding Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Mr. Yordon
has' also held various senior management positions at several pharmaceutical companies, including Gensia, Inc.
and LyphoMed, Inc. Mr. Yordon holds a B.S. in Political Science and Business from Northern Illinois
University.

Nicole S. Williams has served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since August 2002.
From 1999 until her appointment as EVP and CFO, Ms. Williams was President of the Nicklin Capital Group, an
advisor .and investor in early-stage businesses in the information technology -and life sciences industries. From
1992 until 1999, Ms. Williams was Executive Vice President, Finance, and Corporate Secretary of R.P. Scherer
Corporation, a global drug delivery company. Ms. Williams holds degrees from the University of Geneva in
Switzerland and an M.B.A. from the University of Chicago. Ms. Williams serves as a director of Orchid
Biosciences, Inc.

Jack C. Silhavy has served as Vice President and General Counsel of the Company since September 1999,
From October 1986 to August 1999, Mr. Silhavy worked as.an attorney for Monsanto Company, a diversified
company with food ingredient, pharmaceutical, agricultural and other businesses. He served as assistant general
counsel for Monsanto from May 1992 to August 1999. Mr. Silhavy holds a B.A. in American Studies from the
Umversuy of Notre Dame and a J.D. from Loyola University of Chicago. -

David S. Chen, Ph.D. has served as a director since: June ,1998. Since June 1998, Dr. Chen has been
chairman of Cypac Investment Management Limited. He served as chief executive officer from July 1996 to
February 2000 and chief financial officer from May 1991 to February 1994 of Central Investment Holdings
Company. Dr. Chen holds a B.S. in Agricultural Economics from National Taiwan University, an M.B.A. from
California State University at Long Beach and a Ph.D. in Business Admlmstratlon from Nova University,
Florida. :

Stephen D. Nimer, M.D. has served as a director since May 2001. Dr. Nimer has been associated with
Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center since 1993 and has. been Head of the Division of Hematologic.
Oncology since 1996 and Chief of the Hematology Service since 1993. He has also taught medicine at the
Cornell University School of Medicine since 1993. Dr. Nimer holds an M.D. from the University of Chicago and
a B.S. in biology from Massachusetts Institute of Technology. .

Leonard Shapiro has over 50 years of business- experience as an entrepreneur and founder of Shapco, Inc.,
a manufacturer and distributor of pipe products, where he has been the Chief Executive Officer since 1948. As
Chief Executive Officer of Shapco, he presided over the firm’s real estate investment activities in addition to its
manufacturing and distribution operations. Shapco, Inc., together with its subsidiaries, employs over 300
employees in various locatlons throughout the Western United States.

Kirk K. Calhoun joined Ernst & Young LLP in 1965 and served as a partner of the firm from 1975 until
his retirement in June 2002 where his responsibilities included both area management and serving clients in a
variety of industries. Mr. Calhoun is a Certified Public Accountant with a background in auditing and accounting.
Mr. Calhoun serves on the Board. of Governors of the California State University Foundation, serving as
Chairman from July .2000 to June 2003, and is a director of Myogen Inc. Mr. Calhoun holds a B. S. in
Accounting from the Umversuy of Southern-California.

Shahid Ahmed has served as the Company’s Vice President of Regulatory Affairs since October 2002.
From 2001 to 2002, Mr. Ahmed served as Senior Vice President, Regulatory Affairs, QA, QC for Akorn, Inc.
From 1994 to 2001, Mr. Ahmed served in various regulatory affairs capacities with the Ben Venue Laboratories,
Division of Boéhringer-Ingelheim, most recently as Vice President, Regulatory Affairs, QC and Microbiology.
Mr. Ahmed holds a M.S. in Analytical Chemistry from Manitoba University.
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Lorin Drake was appointed Vice President of Sales on March 1, 2004. From April 2003 to February 2004
he served as the Company’s Senior Director of Sales, and was the Western Sales Manager from June 1998 to
April 2003. Prior to that he served in various sales management positions with LyphoMed, Inc. and Fujisawa
USA, Inc. Mr. Drake holds a B.S. degree 1n Busmess and Economics from Manchester College and an MBA

from Miami University.

Donna Felch has served as Vice President and Treasurer of the Company since November 2002. Since
joining the Company in 1998, Ms. Felch has held the positions of Director, Accounting and Tax and, most
recently, Senior Director, Corporate Finance. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Felch held various senior
financial positions at Fujisawa USA, Inc., including Director, Corporate Tax. Ms. Felch is a Certified Public
Accountant and holds a B.B.A. in Accounting from Lakeland College and a Masters of Science in Taxation from

DePaul University.

Mia Igyarto has served as the Company’s Vice President of Human Resources since July 2001. From
March 1995 to July 2001, she served as vice president of human relsources for McWhorter Technologies, Inc., a
specialty chemicals company that was acquired by Eastman Chenncal Company in July 2000. She holds a B.S. in
biology from Northern Illinois University and an M.B.A. from Northwestern University, Kellogg School of
Management :

Thomas Shea has served as the Company’s Vice President of Corporate Marketmg since April 2000. From
June 1998 to. April 2000, he served as the Company’s Senior Dlrector of Corporate Marketing. From October
1989 to June 1998, Mr. Shea served as senior director of corporate marketing’ at Fujisawa' Healthcare, Inc., a
pharmaceutical company. Prior to that, he held various positions at LyphoMed Inc., a pharmaceutical company,
including director of national accounts and marketmg and senior director of corporate marketing. Mr. Shea holds
aM.A. from Cathohc University.

Deena Reyes was appointed Vice President of Marketing on March 1, 2004. Ms. Reyes joined the Company
in January 2001 as Director of Marketing. Prior to that Ms. Reyes served as Senior Product Manager for
Pharmacia. Ms. Reyes holds a B.S. degree in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology from the
University of Colorado and an MBA from St. Louis University.

Sam Trippie has served as the Company’s Vice President |of Manufacturing since June 1998. From
September 1992 to June 1998, Mr. Trippie served as vice president| of manufacturing at Fujisawa USA, Inc,, a
pharmaceutical company. Prior to that, Mr. Trippie was vice presiderlxt of manufacturing at Sanofi Animal Health
Ltd. and held various positions in quality assurance and manufacturing at Baxter International. Mr. Tnpple holds
a B.S. in Microbiology from the University of Southwest Louisiana.

Relationships Among Directors or Executlve Officers

There are no family relat1onsh1ps among any of the directors or executive officers of the Company

|
Audit Committee Financial Expert ” t

Our Board of Directors has determined that Kirk K. Calhoun, ]WhO is a member of our Audit Committee,
meets the SEC definition of “Audit Committee Financial Expert.” Mr. Calhoun is not an independent director as
defined under Rule 4200(a)(15) of the Nasdaq rules as adopted in quember 2003 (and as effective with respect
to the Company at its next annual meeting of the stockholders). The Board of Directors has determined, however,
that it is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders that Mr. Calhoun serve on the audit committee,
and management has determined that Mr. Calhoun otherwise meets the other applicable requirements to serve as

an audit committee member. -- ]
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) requires the Company’s
directors, executive officers and persons who own more than 10% of common stock of the Company
(collectively, “Reporting Persons”) to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership of common stock of
the Company. Reporting Persons are required by Securities and Exchange Commission regulations to furnish the
Company with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file. Based solely on its review of the copies of such
reports received or written representations from the Reporting Persons, the Company believes that during the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 all Reporting Persons complied with these filing requirements on a timel&'ﬁ‘
basis, except that (i) a Form 4 was inadvertently filed late by each of Messrs. Chen, Shapiro, Calhoun and Nimer
in connection with options granted to them on April 24, 2003 under our non-employee director stock option
program, and (ii) a Form 4 was inadvertently filed late by each of Messrs. Soon-Shiong, Brown, Yordon and
Silhavy in connection with an option and restricted stock grants that occurred on February 25, 2003 and issued
under our 2001 stock incentive plan.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics entitled “American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc. Code of Business
Conduct” which applies to all of our employees, officers and directors, including our principal executive officer,
principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and all persons performing similar funcnons Our Code of
Business Conduct is filed as Exhibit 14.1 to this Annual Report.

Ttem 11. Executive Compensatz’on
Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth certain mformatlon concerning compensation of (i) each person that served as
Chief Executive Officer during the last fiscal year-and (ii) the four other most highly compensated executive
officers whose aggregate cash compensation exceeded .$100,000 during the last fiscal year (collectively, the
“Named Executive Officers™):

Long-Term
- Annual Compensation Compensation
Bonus and Restricted Securities All Other
. Fiscal Commission stock Underlying Options Compensation
Name Year(l) Salary ($) (£]03)] awards ($) (4) # ($)(5)
Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D. . . .. 2003 366,231 405,000 110,175 — 6,716
President and Chief - 2002 350,626 450,000 — — 6,703
Executive Officer 2001 329,029 275,000 —_— 202,500 5,550
Derek J.Brown ............. 2003 294,039 325,000 88,140 —_ . 6,700
Co-Chief Operating Officer 2002 281,692 365,000 — — 6,647
and Secretary(3) 2001 264,616 200,000 — 187,500 5,692
]éffrey M. Yordon ......... . .2003 294,039 325,000 . 88,140 —_ 7,308
Co-Chief Operating Officer 2002 281,692 365,000 —_— — 6,647
2001 - 264,616 200,000 — 337,500 -5,507
Nicole S. Williams .......... 2003 257,692 100,000 —_ — 7,115
- Executive Vice President and 2002 96,153 R — 45,000 2,088
. Chief Financial Officer 2001 . —_ - S — — —
Jack C. Silhavy ............. 2003 197,501 120,000 44,070 11,250 4,806
‘Vice President and General 2002 188,273 64,491 — —_ 5,749
Counsel 2001 179,531 50,406 — 15,000 5,334

(1) Compensation reported for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2001, December 31, 2002, and December
31, 2003.
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(2) Reflects bonus amounts paid in the fiscal year.

(3) Mr. Brown acted as Chief Financial Officer until August 19 2002 at.which date Ms. Williams was
appointed Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Ofﬁcer Mr. Brown currently holds the title of
Co-Chief Operating Officer and Secretary.

(4) The aggregate value of restricted stock holdmgs at December| 31, 2003 for the above named officers is
$756,000 based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock of $33.60 on that date.

(5) With respect to fiscal 2003, amounts reported include contnbutljons to the Company 401(k) Plan for Messrs.
Soon-Shiong, Brown, Yordon and Ms. Williams in the amount of $6,000 per individual, and for Mr. Silhavy
in the amount of $4,540. The remainder of such amounts reportéd for 2003 consist of the dollar value of life
insurance premiums paid by the Company. o ‘ f

Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year /

The following table sets forth certain information concerning| options granted during 2003 to the named
executives: '

|

|

{ _ Potential Realizable Value at
R N - Assumed Annual Rates of Stock

; ‘ Price Appreciation For Option

Individual Grants Term (1)

% of Total
Number of Options
Securities  Granted to  Excercise
Underlying Employees  or Base |

Options in Fiscal Price J Expiration
Name Granted (¥ Year ($/Share) * Date . 5% ($) 2) 10% ($) ()
Jack Silhavy ............... 11,250 1.29% $14.69 i 02/25/2013  $104,000 $263,000

(1) These columns show the hypothetical gains of the options granted based on assumed annual compound
stock price appreciation rates of 5% and 10% over the full ten-year term of the options. The 5% and 10%
assumed rates are specified in the rules of the SEC and do not“ represent APP’s estimated or projected future
prices of APP’s common stock. The assumed-annual rates of stock price appreciation of 5% and 10% would
result in the price of APP’s common stock increasing to appr0x1mately $18 74 and $23.93, respectively over
the ten-year term of the options. |

(2) Dollar amounts are reported to the nearest $1,000.

Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Optwn Values

The followmg table sets forth certain information- with respect to stock options exercised by the Named
Executive Officers during fiscal year ending December 31, 2003J including the aggregate value of gains on the
date of exercise. In addition, the table sets forth the number of shares covered by stock options as of December
31, 2003, and the value of “in-the-money” stock options, Wthh{ represents the difference between the exercise
price of a stock option and the market price of the shares subject to such option on December 31, 2003.

Shares Value N umber of Securities Value of Unexercised

Acquired on  Realized Underlymg Unexercised Options In-the-Money Options at
Name Exercise (#) $) at December 31, 2003 (#) December 31, 2003 ($)(2)
) Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Patrick Soon-Shiong, M.D. . ... — — 241, 874 148,126 7,346,500 4,446,875
Derek J.Brown ............. — — 253, 124 121,876 7,679,500 3,669,875
Jeffrey M. Yordon ........... — — 253, 125 271,874 7,679,531 8,109,813
Nicole S. Williams ....... e — o= 11, 250 33,750 284,288 852,863
Jack C. Silhavy .............. — — 45,1000 18,750 1,361,850 414,713
74

|
|
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(1) The value realized upon the exercise of stock options represents the positive spread between the exercise
price of stock options and the fair market value of the shares subject to such options on the exercise date.
(2) The value of “in-the-money” stock options represents the positive spread between the exercise price of
- options and the fair market value of the underlying shares subject to those options on December 31, 2003.

Compensation of Directors

Directors ‘who are also employees of the Company receive no additional compensation for their services as
directors. Our non-employee directors receive $2,500.00 for attendance in person, and $500.00 for telephonic
meetings, of meetings of the board of directors and $2,000.00 for attendance at meetings of the audit committee
of the board of directors. Non-employee directors are reimbursed for travel expenses and other out-of-pocket
costs of attending board and committee meetings. In addition, non-employee directors of the Company are
eligible to receive options and shares of common stock directly under the Company’s 2001 non-employee
director stock option program. Non-employee directors are eligible to be granted an initial option to purchase
7,500 shares of common stock upon their initial appointment to the board of directors with subsequent annual
option grants to purchase 3,000 shares of common stock, both at an exercise price per share equal to the fair
market value of the common stock at the date of grant. Directors who are also employees of the Company are
eligible to receive options and shares of common stock directly under the Company’s 2001 stock incentive plan.

Employment Contracts, Termination of Empldyment and Change of Control Arrangements

In November 2001, the Company entered into a compensation protection agreement with each of Derek J.
Brown, Jeffrey M. Yordon and Jack C. Silhavy. These agreements were filed with the SEC on November 20,
2001 as exhibits to Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1. Under these agreements, if the Company terminates a
protected officer’s employment for any reason other than for cause, disability, retirement, death or good reason
within 12 months following a change of control of the Company, or if that officer’s employment is terminated
without cause prior to a change of control of the Company, then the Company must pay that officer (a) his
accrued compensation, including unpaid base salary, pro rata bonus, vacation pay and reimbursement for
reasonable and necessary expenses incurred on the Company’s behalf during the period up to the termination
‘date, and (b) twice the sum of his annual base salary and annual bonus. In addition, upon termination of a
protected officer’s employment within 12 months of a change of control of the Company, the Company must
provide that officer with benefits for a period of two years after the date of termination, and any unvested stock
options held by that officer will immediately vest. Each of these agreements have three year terms subject to
automatic annual extensions. ‘

In Auguét 2002, the Company entered into.a compensation protection agreement with Nicole S. Williams in
connection with her appointment as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
containing substantially the same terms as the compensation protection agreements with Mr. Brown, Mr. Yordon
and Mr. Silhavy.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

No interlocking relationship exists between any member of board of directors or compensation committee of
the Company and any member of the board of directors or compensation commitiee of any other company, nor
has such interlocking relationship existed in the past. '

75




Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of common stock

of the Company as of March 1, 2004, for (i) each person who is known by the Company to beneficially own
more than 5% of common stock of the Company, (ii) each of the ‘]directors, (iii) each of the Named Executive
Officers appearing in the Summary Compensation Table below, jand (iv) all of the directors and executive
officers as a group. I

M

@)

€))

C))

|
Common Stock Beneficially Owned(1)

Number of Option Percent of
Shares ~ Shares(2) Class (%)
Directors and Named Executive Officers
Patrick Soon-Shiong, MD.(3)..................... 49,081,035 339,375  70.00
Derek J.Brown ....... ..., 1,099,759 337,500 1.57
Jeffrey M. Yordon ... ... P 718,499 337,499 1.02
Nicole Williams . . . .. .. e 20,250 11,250 *
David S. Chen, PhD. ........ ... ... ... ... J 12,750 12,750 *
Jack C.Silhavy ...........coooiiiiiiiiii | 54386 47,812 *
Stephen D. Nimer, M.D. ... ... ... .. . f 33,450 27,750 *
Leonard Shapiro .. .........ovovirenenennanon... 12,750 8250 *
Kirk K. Calhoun . ...........c.ooiiiiiiiiinni .. 8,250 8,250 *
All named executive officers and directors as a group '
(NINE PEISONS) v v vttt e e e 51,041,129 1,130,436  72.80
5% Stockholders

American BioScience, Inc.(4) . ......... .. ... ...... { 47,984,160 — 68.44

Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1% of issued |and outstanding common stock on March L,

2004.

Beneficial ownership as reported in the above table has been% determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The percentage of shafes beneficially owned is based on 70,114,848
shares of common stock outstanding as of March 1, 2004, Except as indicated in the footnotes to this table,

such persons have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock of the
Company shown as beneficially owned by them.

Includes shares of common stock subject to options that are|currently exercisable or exercisable within 60
days after March 1, 2004, which are deemed to be outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding
such options for the purpose of computing the number of shares beneficially owned and the percentage
ownership of such person, but are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage
ownership of any other person.

Includes 47,984,160 shares held of record by American BioScience, Inc., of which Dr. Soon-Shiong'is the
president and chairman of the board of directors, and in such capacity may be deemed to have shared voting
and investment power over the shares. Dr. Soon-Shiong disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares
except to the extent of his pecuniary interest in this entity.

The business address of American BioScience, Inc. is 2730 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 110, Santa Monica,
California 90403. A majority of the outstanding capital stock of American BioScience, Inc. is held by a trust
of which Dr. Soon-Shiong and his spouse are beneficiaries.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

We maintain three compensation plans that provide for the issuance of our common stock to officers,

directors, other employees or consultants: the (i) 1997 Stock @ption Plan (the “1997 Plan™), (ii) 2001 Stock
Incentive Plan (the “2001 Stock Incentive Plan”) and (iii) 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2001 Stock
Purchase Plan”). Each of these plans have been approved by the sjtockholders of the Company.
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The following table provides information about the 1997 Plan, the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2001
Stock Purchase Plan as of December 31, 2003:

(@ (b) ©

Number of
Number of Securities
Securities to be Remaining
Issued Upon Available for Future
Exercise of Weighted-Average Issuance Under
Outstanding Exercise Price of Equity
Plan Category Options Outstanding Options Compensation Plans

Equity Compensation Plans ,
Approved by Security Holders ... 4,498,505 $8.05 15,832,359(1)
Equity Compensation Plans Not
Approved by Security Holders ... —

Total ........ I PPN 4,498,505

15,832,359

)

(1) Represents shares available for issuance under the Company’s 1997 Plan, 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and
2001 Stock Purchase Plan as of December 31, 2003. The 2001 Stock Incentive Plan contains an evergreen
formula pursuant to which on Janvary 1 of each year, the aggregate number of shares reserved for issuance
under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan will increase by a number of shares equal to 5% of the outstanding

* shares of common stock on such date or a lesser number determined by the administrator of the plan. The
2001 Stock Purchase Plan contains an evergreen formula pursuant to which on January 1 of each year, the
aggregate number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2001 Stock Purchase Plan is increased by an
amount equal to the lesser of (i) one million five hundred thousand (1,500,000) shares, (ii) two percent (2%)
of the outstanding shares of common stock on such date, or (iii) a lesser number of shares determined by the
administrator of the plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The following is a description of certain transactions and relationships entered into or existing during the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 between the Company and certain affiliated parties. The Company believes
that the terms of such transactions were no less favorable to the Company than could have been obtained from an
unaffiliated party.

On March 11, 2004, we entered into an agreement with American BioScience under which the parties
agreed to share certain costs of any unsaleable ramp-up inventory of ABRAXANE™ that is manufactured in
preparation for the projected launch of ABRAXANE™. :

On April 24, 2003, we granted options for the purchase of 3,000 shares of our common stock, with an
exercise price of $22.05 per share, to each of Messrs. Chen, Shapiro, Calhoun and Nimer under our 2001 Non-
Employee Director Stock Option Program in connection with their service as directors of the Company.

In July 2001, we entered into an agreement with American BioScience under which we acknowledged and
agreed that Dr. Soon-Shiong and Mr. Brown may devote time to the business of, receive remuneration from and
present business opportunities to American BioScience, and that American BioScience’s business and operations
may compete with us.

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with each executive officer and each nominee
for election to the board of directors. The indemnification agreements require the Company to indemnify these
individuals to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. i

The Company has entered into compensation protection agreements with Derek J. Brown, Jeffrey M.
Yordon, Jack C. Silhavy and Nicole S. Williams. See “Employment Contracts, Termination of Employment and
Change of Control Arrangements” above.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Fees for professional services provided by our independent auditors, Ernst & Young, LLP, in each of the
last two fiscal years, in each of the following categories are:

2003 2002
(in thousands)
AUGIE TEES ot e $298 $375
Audit—related fees .. .t n e e 31 25
X FOES « v ot v e e e e e e e e 68 66
Allotherfees.................‘..................; ................ 55 —

TOAL o e v e e e e e e e e $452  $466

Fees for audit services include fees associated with the annual jaudit and the review of documents filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission including quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and the annual report on

.Form 10-K. Audit-related fees principally include accounting consultation and employee benefit plan audits. Tax

fees include tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning work. All other fees prmc1pa11y include technology and
security risk services related to the ERP implementation.
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Item 15.
a. (D

PARTIV

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule and Reports on Form 8-k

Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements of American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc. are included in
Part II, Item 8 of this Report: :

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002

" Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

2

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements |

Financial Statement Schedule

The following consolidated financial statement schedule of American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc. is filed
as part of this Report:

Schedule II. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

All other schedules are omitted because the required information is not present or is not present in amounts
sufficient to require submission of the schedule or because the information required is given in the consolidated
financial statements or the notes thereto.

&)

Exhibit
Number

3.1(1)
3.2(1)
4.1

4.202)
43(3)

10.1(4)

10.2(3)
10.3(3)
10.4(3)
10.6(3)

10.7(3)
10.8(4)

Exhibits

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incérporation of the Registrant
Bylaws of the Registrant
Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2
Specimen Stock Certificate of the Registrant

First Amended Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 1, 1998, between the Registrant and
certain holders of the Registrant’s capital stock

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and each of its executive officers and
directors ‘

1997 Stock Option Plan’
2001 Stock Incentive Plan, including forms of agreements thereunder
2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, including forms of agreements thereunder

Office Lease Agreement dated January 29, 1999 between the Registrant and Woodfield Executive
Center, Inc.

Lease Agreement dated December 4, 2000, between the Registrant and AMB Property II, L.P.

Tax Sharing and Indemnification Agreement dated July 25, 2001, between the Registrant and
American BioScience
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Exhibit
Number

10.9(4)
10.10(4)
10.11(2)

10.12(2)

10.13(4)

10.14(4)

10.15(4)

10.16(1)

10.17(2)

10.19(5)

10.20(6)

10.21(7)

10.22(7)

10.23

10.24

10.25
14.1
21.1(1)
23.1
31.1

312

321

322

Description

Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2001, between the Registrant and American BioScience
Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2001, between the Registrant and American BioScience

License Agreement, dated as of November 20, 2001, between the Reglstrant and American
BioScience*

Manufacturing Agreement, dated as of November 20, 2001, between the Registrant and American
BioScience*
Compensation Protection Agreement, dated as of November 20, 2001, between the Registrant and
Derek J. Brown

Compensation Protection Agreement, dated as of November 20, 2001, between the Registrant and
Jeffrey M. Yordon

Compensation Protection Agreement, dated as of November 20, 2001, between the Registrant and
Jack C. Silhavy

Corporate Agreement, dated as of December 12, 1997, between the Registrant and Premier
Purchasing Partners, L.P., including an amendment thereunder

Group Purchasing Agreement, dated as of December 12J 1997, between the Registrant and Premier
Purchasing Partners, L.P., including an amendment thereunder*

|

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2001, between the Registrant, Canadian Imperial Bank
Commerce, Bank of America, N.A., UBS Warburg LLC, and the several lenders from time to time
parties thereto I

Stock Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and Premier Purchasmg Partners L.P. dated July
26,2002

Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 28, 2002 betw:een the Registrant and Biotechnology
Development Fund, LP, a Delaware limited partnership

Compensation Protection Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2002, between the Registrant and
Nicole S. Williams

Lease Agreement between Manufacturers Life Insurance Company (U.S.A.) and the Registrant for
1501 E. Woodfield Road, Suite 300 East in Schaumburg, Illinois, known as Schaumburg
Corporate Center

Amendment to Group Purchasing Agreement dated December 12, 2003 to extend term to March 31,
2004,

Agreement dated as of March 11, 2004, between the Registrant and American BioScience
Code of Business Conduct of the Registrant dated February 2004

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as required by Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as required by Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as added by Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as added by Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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I

03

3

)

()

(6)

)

(b)

Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Registration Statement filed on Form S-1/A, file number
333-70900, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 11, 2001.

- Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Registration Statement filed on Form S-1/A, file number

333-70900, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 13, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Registration Statement filed on Form S-1, file number 333-70900,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 3, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Registration Statement filed on Form S-1/A, file number
333-70900, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 20, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 1, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on July 29, 2002.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 14, 2002. :

Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Reports on Form 8-K

On October 23, 2003, we furnished information regarding our results for the third quarter ended September

30, 2003 to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 8-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requireménts of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Los Angeles, State of California on the 15th day of March 2004.

AMERICAN PHARMACEUTICAL PARTNERS, INC.

By: /s!  PATRICK SOON SHIONG, M.D.

Patrick Soon Shiong, M.D..
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date '
/s/  PATRICK SOON SHIONG, M.D. Chief Executive Officer and Chairman March 15, 2004
Patrick Soon Shiong, M.D. ~ of the Board of Directors (Principal

Executive Officer)

/s/ DEREK J. BROWN Co-Chief Operating Officer, Secretary March 15, 2004
Derek J. Brown and Director o
/s/  JEFFREY M. YORDON Co-Chief Operating.Officer and . March 15, 2004
Jeffrey M. Yordon Director
/s/  NICOLE S. WILLIAMS Executive Vice President and Chief March 15, 2004
Nicole S. Williams Financial Officer (Principal

Financial and Accounting Officer)

, /s/ Kirk K. CALHOUN Director March 15, 2004
Kirk K. Calhoun

/s/ DAvID S. CHEN, Pu.D Director March 15, 2004
David S. Chen, Ph.D

/s/  STEPHEN D. NIMER, M.D. Director March 15, 2004
Stephen D. Nimer, M.D.

/s/ LEONARD SHAPIRO Director March 15, 2004

Leonard Shapiro
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FINANCIAL SCHEDULE
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES

A . B C D E
Balance at : Balance at
. Beginning of m 2) End of
Year Ended December 31, Period Additions Deductions Period
' T ' (in thousands)
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
2003 ... SR SR P $801 © $(291) $— $510
2002 . .... S e HIRPI, T . $400 $ 401 $— $801
2001 ... e $436 $ 222 $258 $400

(1) Provision for bad debts charged to expense ,
(2) Accounts receivable written-off or collections = -
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION -
1, Patrick Soon-Shiong, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered. by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,

i including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(by Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a

significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2004 .

/s/  PATRICK SOON-SHIONG

Patrick Soon-Shiong
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

1, Nicole S. Williams, certify that:

1.

2.

1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of American Pharmaceutical Partners, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I-are responsiblé for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and
have: : ' ‘

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls ‘and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; ‘

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2004

/s/  NICOLE S. WILLIAMS

Nicole S. Williams
Chief Financial Officer
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